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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

X ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023

or

o0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 001-38617

le.  Alogo with orange letters

Description automatically generated

Frontdoor, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Delaware 82-3871179
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (IRS Employer Identification No.)
3400 Players Club Parkway, Memphis, Tennessee 38125
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
901-701-5000
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12 (b) of the Act:
Title of Each Class Trading Symbol Name of Each Exchange on which Registered

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share FTDR The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12 (g) of the Act:
None

(Title of class)
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes x No o
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yeso No x
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
days. Yesx Noo
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yesx Noo
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth

company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
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Act.

Large accelerated filer X Accelerated filer O Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O
Emerging growth company O

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised

financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. Yeso Noo

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial

reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. x

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the

correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. [J

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the

registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to § 240.10D-1(b). O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yeso No x

As of June 30, 2022June 30, 2023, the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second quarter,
the aggregate market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant, computed by reference to the closing price, was approximately $2.0 $2.6 billion.
As of February 23, 2023 February 23, 2024, there were 81,509,776 78,382,043 shares outstanding of the registrant’'s common stock, par value $0.01 per share.
Documents incorporated by reference:

Portions of the registrant’s proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the registrant's 2023 2024 annual meeting of

stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) are incorporated by reference into Part 11l hereof. Such Proxy Statement will be filed within 120 days of the registrant’s fiscal year

ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

Frontdoor, Inc.
Annual Report on Form 10-K
GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND SELECTED ABBREVIATIONS
In order to aid the reader, we have included certain defined terms and abbreviations used throughout this Annual Report on Form

10-K as set forth below:

Term/Abbreviation Definition

2026 Notes 6.750% senior notes in the aggregate principal amount of $350 million

AOCI Accumulated other comprehensive income or loss

ASC FASB Accounting Standards Codification

ASU FASB Accounting Standards Update

ASU 2020-04 ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on

Financial Reporting
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ASU 2022-06
Code

Credit Agreement
Credit Facilities
ESPP

Exchange Act
FASB

Home Warranty

HVAC

IRS

LIBOR

NASDAQ

Omnibus Plan

Parent Company

Prior Revolving Credit
Facility

Prior Term Loan Facility
Revolving Credit Facility
SEC

Securities Act

SOFR

Streem

Term Loan A
Term Loan B
Term Loan Facilities

Terminix

Topic 848
U.S. or United States
U.S. GAAP

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless the context indicates otherwise, references to “Frontdoor,

ASU 2022-06, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848); Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended

The agreements governing the Credit Facilities

The Term Loan Facilities together with the Revolving Credit Facility

Frontdoor, Inc. 2019 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

U.S. Financial Accounting Standards Board

A home service contract, sometimes called a residential service contract, home warranty or home
protection contract, provides for the repair and/or replacement of certain home systems and appliances for
breakdowns that occur as a result of normal wear and tear

Heating, ventilation and air conditioning

U.S. Internal Revenue Service

London Inter-bank Offered Rate

Nasdag Global Select Market

Frontdoor, Inc. 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan

Frontdoor, Inc.

$250 million revolving credit facility in place prior to the effectiveness of the Revolving Credit Facility

$650 million senior secured term loan facility in place prior to the effectiveness of the Term Loan Facilities
$250 million revolving credit facility effective June 17, 2021

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission

Securities Act of 1933, as amended

Secured Overnight Financing Rate

Streem, LLC, our technology business that uses augmented reality, computer vision and machine learning
to provide services

$260 million term loan A facility effective June 17, 2021

$380 million term loan B facility effective June 17, 2021

The Term Loan A together with the Term Loan B

Terminix Global Holdings, Inc. (formerly known as ServiceMaster Global Holdings, Inc.), a Delaware
corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries

ASC 848, Reference Rate Reform

United States of America

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

” ”u

'we,” “our,” “us,” and the

“company” refer to Frontdoor, Inc. and all of its subsidiaries. Frontdoor is a Delaware corporation with its principal executive offices in

Memphis, Tennessee.

We hold various service marks, trademarks and trade names, such as Frontdoor®, American Home Shield®, HSA™,

OneGuard®, Landmark Home Warranty®, ProConnect®, Streem® and the Frontdoor logo. Solely for convenience, the service marks,
trademarks and trade names referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are presented without the SM, ®, and TM symbols, but
such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights or
the rights of the applicable licensors to these service marks, trademarks and trade names. All service marks, trademarks and trade

names appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are the property of their respective owners.
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Certain amounts presented in the tables in this report are subject to rounding adjustments and, as a result, the totals in such

tables may not sum.
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This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the

Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act, regarding business strategies, market potential, future financial performance and

” o ” o« ” o » ow ” o » ou ”ou » o,

other matters. The words “believe,” “expect,” “estimate,” “could,” “should,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “seek,” “anticipate,” “project,” “will,”
“shall,” “would,” “aim,” and similar expressions, among others, generally identify “forward-looking statements,” which speak only as of
the date the statements were made. The matters discussed in these forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and
other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected, anticipated or implied in the forward-looking
statements. Where, in any forward-looking statement, an expectation or belief as to future results or events is expressed, such
expectation or belief is based on the current plans and expectations of our management and expressed in good faith and believed to
have a reasonable basis, but there can be no assurance that the expectation or belief will result or be achieved or accomplished.
Whether any such forward-looking statements are in fact achieved will depend on future events, some of which are beyond our control.

You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K completely and with the understanding that actual future results may be
materially different from expectations. All forward-looking statements made in this report are qualified by these cautionary statements.
These forward-looking statements are made only as of the date of this report, and we do not undertake any obligation, other than as
may be required by law, to update or revise any forward-looking or cautionary statements to reflect changes in assumptions, the
occurrence of events, unanticipated or otherwise, and changes in future operating results over time or otherwise. For a discussion of
other important factors that could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, the forward-looking
statements included in this report, you should refer to the risks and uncertainties detailed from time to time in our periodic reports filed
with the SEC, including the disclosure included in Item 1A. Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL RISKS

Factors, risks, trends and uncertainties that make an investment in us speculative or risky and that could cause actual results or
events to differ materially from those anticipated in our forward-looking statements include the matters described under “Risk Factors”
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in this report in addition to the

following other factors, risks, trends and uncertainties:

0 changes in macroeconomic conditions, including inflation and global supply chain challenges, and the persistence of the
COVID-19 pandemic, especially as they may affect existing home sales, interest rates, consumer confidence or labor

availability;
0 increases in parts, appliance and home system prices, and other operating costs;
0 changes in the source and intensity of competition in our market;
O our ability to successfully implement our business strategies;
0 the ability of our marketing efforts to be successful orand cost-effective;
O our dependence on our first-year real estate and direct-to-consumer acquisition channels and our renewal channel,
0 changes in the source and intensity of competition in our market;
O our ability to attract, retain and maintain positive relations with third-party contractors and vendors;

O our dependence on our first-year real estateincreases in parts, appliance and direct-to-consumer acquisition

channels home system prices, and our renewals channel; other operating costs;
O our ability to attract and retain qualified key employees and labor availability in our customer service operations;
O our dependence on third-party vendors, including business process outsourcers, and third-party component suppliers;

O cybersecurity breaches, disruptions or failures in our technology systems;
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O our ability to protect the security of personal information about our customers;

O evolving corporate governance and disclosure regulations and expectations related to environmental, social and

governance matters;

O risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic;

0 compliance with, or violation of, laws and regulations, including consumer protection laws, or lawsuits or other claims by

third parties, increasing our legal and regulatory expenses;

O increases in tariffs or changesevolving corporate governance and disclosure regulations and expectations related to

import/export regulations; environmental, social and governance matters;

0 physical effects of climate change, including adverse weather conditions and Acts of God, along with the increased focus on

sustainability;
O increases in tariffs or changes to import/export regulations;
0 our ability to protect our intellectual property and other material proprietary rights;
O negative reputational and financial impacts resulting from acquisitions or strategic transactions;

0 arequirement to recognize impairment charges;

O third-party use of our trademarks as search engine keywords to direct our potential customers to their own websites;

O inappropriate use of social media by us or other parties to harm our reputation;
5

O special risks applicable to operations outside the United States by us or our business process outsource providers;
0 areturn on investment in our common stock is dependent on appreciation in the price;

O inclusion in our certificate of incorporation includes a forum selection clause that could discourage an acquisition of our

company or litigation against us and our directors and officers;

0 the effects of our significant indebtedness, our ability to incur additional debt and the limitations contained in the

agreements governing such indebtedness;

O increases in interest rates increasing the cost of servicing our indebtedness and counterparty credit risk due to instruments

designed to minimize exposure to market risks;

O increased borrowing costs due to lowering or withdrawal of the credit ratings, outlook or watch assigned to us, our debt

securities or our Credit Facilities;
O our ability to generate the significant amount of cash needed to fund our operations and service our debt obligations; and

0 other factors described in this report and from time to time in documents that we file with the SEC.
6
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Frontdoor is the leading provider of home service plans warranties in the United States, as measured by revenue, and operates
primarily under the American Home Shield brand. Our customizable home service plans warranties help customers protect and maintain
their homes, typically their most valuable asset, from costly and unplanned breakdowns of essential home systems and appliances. We
maintain close and frequentregular contact with our customers as we handle over approximately four million service requests annually
utilizing our nationwide network of approximately 15,000 pre-qualified 16,000 qualified professional contractor firms in a wide range of
trades and with diverse skills and capabilities. We provide our customers with a compelling value proposition by offering financial
protection against unplanned and expensive home repairs, coupled with the convenience of having repairs guaranteed by us and
completed by experienced professionals whose quality levels are continuously monitored.

Our value proposition to our professional contractor network is equally compelling as we provide them access to our significant
work volume, thus increasing their business activity while enhancing their ability to manage their financial and human capital resources.
We realize significant economies of scale as a result of our volume of service requests, and we intend to leverage our enhanced
customer- and contractor-centric technology platform, robust independent contractor network, existing customer base, purchasing
volume for parts, appliances and home systems, and extensive history and deep understanding of the home services industry to
generate sustained revenue growth of our home service planwarranty brands.

We also plan to continue to leverage these unique attributes to expand on-demand home services. We offer on-demand home
services via our website and through our subscription-based Frontdoor app. The app is intended to continue provide a one-stop
experience for home repair and maintenance using video chat, augmented reality and video collaboration tools. Homeowners can get
help in real time, as our expert may be able to provide a virtual diagnosis of the issue and help them fix the problem, reducing the need
for an in-home visit from a professional. When repairs are needed, we offer the homeowner a list of local, vetted professionals to make
the repair. We also offer homeowners other benefits including do-it-yourself tips and discounts through our app. In 2022, we began to
shift the focus on integrating of our advanced customer- and contractor-centric Streem technology platform into our core business to
enhance the experience for our customers and contractors. Our Streem technology platform uses (which incorporates video chat
capability, augmented reality, computer vision and machine learninglearning) to help home service professionals more quickly and
accurately diagnose breakdowns and complete repairs. Although we primarily concentrate on integrating the technology into our core
product offerings, including the Frontdoor app. We continue to license this technology to third-party business-to-business customers as
a software-as-a-service platform we shifted our focus during 2022 but intend to primarily concentrate on integrating discontinue this third-
party business by the technology into our core product and service offerings. end of 2024.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had 2.1 million2.0 million active home service plans, which were offered
nationally. warranties across all brands in the United States, including our American Home Shield, HSA, OneGuard and Landmark
brands. Our home service planwarranty customers usually subscribe to an annual service plan agreement that covers the repair or
replacement of major components of more than 20 home systems and appliances, including electrical, plumbing, HVAC systems, water
heaters, refrigerators, dishwashers and ranges/ovens/cooktops, as well as optional coverages for electronics, pools, spas and pumps.
Given the potentially high cost of a major appliance or home system breakdown, the cumbersome process of vetting and hiring a
gualified repair professional and, typically, the lack of a formal guarantee for services performed by repair professionals in retail, our
customers place high value on the budget protection, peace of mind, convenience, repair expertise and service guarantee our home
service plans warranties deliver.

As homes home systems and appliances become increasingly more complex, and connected, and the needs of our customers

continue to evolve, we believe our ability to innovate through upgraded and customized product offerings, differentiated service offerings
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and channel diversification focused on key customer segments will continue to drive customer growth and retention. The expansion of
our home service planwarranty offerings, new branding initiatives, and the utilization of dynamic pricing algorithms, as well as our
investments in on-demand home services, our Frontdoor app and our Streem technology platform, well position us for growth.

Our multi-faceted value proposition resonates with a broad customer demographic, regardless of home price, income level,
geographic location or age.demographic. Additionally, our range of product offerings—from extensive home service planwarranty
coverage to on-demand services and maintenance to virtual diagnosis—can meet customer needs, whether they are seeking budget
protection, assistance in finding a contractor or want only guidance for a do-it-yourself solution. We acquire our customers through
awareness driven through the real estate channel and directly by advertising and marketing our brands through our direct-to-consumer
(“DTC”) channel. As a result of our strong customer value proposition, 7277 percent of our revenue in 20222023 was generated
through existing customer renewals, which was in line with historical averages, driving consistency and predictability in our revenues. In
addition, a significant majority of our home service planwarranty customers renew automatically renew on an annual basis.

7

We are highly selective with onboarding new contractor firms into our nationwide network and continuously monitor service
quality through a set of rigorous performance measures, relying heavily on direct customer feedback. We classify a subset of our
independent contractor network as “preferred,” representing firms that meet our highest quality standards and are often long-tenured
providers with us. our most cost-effective providers. Our preferred contractor network completed 82 83 percent of our service requests in
2022.2023. We believe that increased usage of our preferred contractors leads to faster and better-quality customer service and higher
customer retention rates as well as lower costs. We intend to leverage our preferred contractor base, and our ability to offer virtual
diagnosis of issues, to enhance our contractors’ and customers’ experience, and to expand furtherdeeper into home
improvement repair and maintenance services.

For the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we generated revenue, net income and Adjusted EBITDA of
$1,662 million $1,780 million, $71 million$171 million and $214 million $346 million, respectively. For a reconciliation of Adjusted
EBITDA to net income, see “ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Results
of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021— Operations—Adjusted EBITDA.”

7

Our Opportunity

Frontdoor operates within the estimated $500 billion revenue U.S. home services industry, and more specifically, in repair and
maintenance sectors of the industry that have an estimated aggregate $100 billion in revenue revenue. The home service plan warranty
category currently represents approximately $4 billion. We view increased penetration ofwithin the U.S. home service plan
category services industry as a long-term growth opportunity. This category is currently characterized by low household penetration with
an estimated six five million of 128 million 130 million U.S. households (owner-occupied homes and rentals), or approximately four
percent, covered by a home service plan. warranty. In addition, we believe that increasingly complex home systems and appliances, as
well as consumer preference for budget protection and convenience as home systems and appliances become more complex will
emphasize the value proposition of pre-qualified qualified professional repair and maintenance services and, accordingly, the coverage
benefits offered by a home service plan. warranty.

We also believe that we are well-positioned to capitalize on our leading position in the home service planwarranty category to
provide services to consumers in the broader repair and maintenance category sectors in the U.S. home services industry. As consumer

demand shifts toward more convenient, outsourced services, we believe we have an opportunity as a reliable, scaled service provider
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with a nationwide network of pre-qualified qualified professional service providers to expand further into on-demand home services. We
expect to continue to leverage the quality, trust and brand awareness of our brands, including the new ones, to grow our on-demand
offering offerings and to allow us to demonstrate the enhanced value that we can offer to both consumers and contractors.

Our marketplace-based approach to home service delivery requires us to focus on growing our supply side, and we remain
committed to attracting and retaining high-quality independent contractors for our network of professional service providers. As we
continue to scale and leverage our contractor network, we in turn expand our breadth of potential services and enhance our ability to
further execute our on-demand home services delivery model.

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe the following competitive strengths have been instrumental to our success and position us for future growth:

Leader in Large, Fragmented and Growing Category. We are the leader in the U.S. home service planwarranty category.
Over the past five decades, we have developed a marketplace reputation built on the strength of our brands, our customer and
contractor value proposition and our service quality. As a result, we enjoy industry-leading brand awareness and offer high-quality
customer service, both of which are key drivers of the success of our customer acquisition and retention efforts. Our size and scale help
facilitate contractor selection and purchasing volume for parts, appliances and home systems, as well as the ability to realize marketing
and operating efficiencies.

High-Value Service Offerings. We provide our customers with a compelling value proposition by offering financial protection
against unplanned and expensive home repairs, coupled with the convenience of having repairs guaranteed by us and completed by
experienced professionals whose quality levels are continuously monitored and guaranteed by us. monitored. In contrast with insurance
products that have low frequency of use, we pay claims on behalf of our home service planwarranty customers more than once per
year, on average. We believe this high level of engagement reinforces our customer value proposition and leads to improved retention
rates. We believe our customer retention rate is further evidence of the value our customers place on our service and the quality of

execution that we provide.

Unique and Compelling Independent Contractor Network. \We maintain and manage a nationwide network of approximately
16,000 independent professional contractor firms in a wide range of trades and with diverse skills and capabilities. We are selective with
onboarding new contractor firms into our nationwide network and continuously monitor service quality through a set of rigorous
performance measures, relying heavily on direct customer feedback. We classify a subset of our independent contractor network as
“preferred,” representing firms that meet our highest quality standards and are our most cost-effective providers. We believe that
increased usage of our preferred contractors leads to higher customer retention rates as well as lower costs. Our value proposition to
our professional contractor network is equally compelling as we provide them access to our significant work volume, thus increasing
their business activity while enhancing their ability to manage their financial and human capital resources. We realize significant
economies of scale as a result of our volume of service requests.

Technology-Enabled Platform Drives Efficiency and Quality of Service. We are focused on constantly improving the
customer and contractor experience. We continuously develop and refine our advanced customer- and contractor-centric technology
platform to enhance the experience for our customers, contractors and commercial partners. Our platform allows customers to purchase
a home service plan, warranty, request a maintenance or repair service, virtually communicate with a representative, learn about home
maintenance and repairs, pay bills manage their account and track the progress of their service requests, all from their smartphone or
other connected device. Our contractor technology platform makes it easier for contractors to work with us and improves
communications between contractors and our customers. Our realtor technology platform makes it easier for realtors to work with us

and, therefore, recommend our products product offerings to their clients.
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Our technological capabilities are also enhanced by our Streem technology platform, which uses video chat capability,
augmented reality, computer vision and machine learning to connect homeowners with one of our experts, who may be able to provide
a virtual diagnosis of the issue and help home service professionals more quickly and accurately diagnose breakdowns and complete
repairs. In addition, in certain instances, Streem enables homeowners to use their smartphone cameras to engage in a video chat with a
service professional who can remotely seethem fix the item that needs attention and capture a variety of important details about the
item, potentially helping to reduce the time required for completing repairs and even eliminating problem, reducing the need for an in-
home visit from a technician to visit the home. professional.

We believe our technology-enabled platform provides a foundation for operational and customer service excellence and
differentiation, ultimately driving customer and contractor retention and growth.

8

Multi-Channel Sales and Marketing Approach Supported by Sophisticated Consumer Analytics. Our multi-channel sales
and marketing approach is designed to understand our customers’ key decision points during the purchase of home services to
generate revenue, better serve their needs, and build brand value. We use this information to help us design product offerings and
differentiate our brands and product offerings to meet the diverse and changing needs of consumers.

In the real estate channel, we leverage marketing and information service arrangements, andas well as a team of inside and
field-based sales associates and leaders to train, educate and market our plans through real estate brokers and agents at both a local,
regional and national level. levels. We have relationships with each of the top ten real estate brokers in the United States, and we view
these strategic relationships as a valuable aspect of our sales model.

In the DTC channel, we increasingly utilize sophisticated consumer analytics and testing models that allow us to more
effectively segment our prospective customers and deliver tailored marketing campaigns and messaging. messaging, together with
sophisticated pricing and discounting models. In addition, we have deployed more sophisticated marketing and media tools to attract
customers, including content marketing, online reputation management and social media channels. The efficacy of our marketing efforts
is demonstrated by our ability to cost-effectively generate quality leads that we convert through phone and online sales.

Diverse, Recurring and Stable Revenue Channels. We acquire new home service planwarranty customers through two
channels, real estate and DTC, which are offered nationally. We believe our ability to acquire customers through the DTC channel helps
to mitigate the effect of potential cyclicality in the home real estate market and our nationwide presence limits the impact of poor
economic conditions or adverse weather conditions in any particular geography. conditions. We also benefit from predictable and
recurring revenue, as our American Home Shield home service planwarranty customers typically sign annual contracts, and 7277
percent of our revenue in 20222023 was generated through existing customer renewals, which was in line with historical averages.
Additionally, 8286 percent of our American Home Shield home service planwarranty customers are on a monthly auto-pay program.
Auto-pay customers historically have been more likely to renew than non-auto-pay customers. Our business model continues to prove
resilient through various business cycles as evidenced by our four percent compound annual revenue growth rate of seven percent from
20212018 to 2022, despite 2023.

Leveraging Dynamic Pricing. We utilize dynamic pricing into our renewal and DTC channels, which allows us to leverage our
proprietary data platform to adjust our plan prices based on factors such as the COVID-19 pandemic’s adverse impact on strength of our
contractor network or characteristics of homes in a market. We are using these capabilities to offer more attractive pricing overall,
enabling us to expand our potential customer base to those previously priced out of the economy throughout 2021 and 2022. market

due to the industry's historical practice of state-level pricing.
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Capital-Light Business Model. Our business model generates strong Adjusted EBITDA margins and requires limited capital
expenditures. As such, we have a capital-light business model that drives potential for strong cash flow generation. We may, from time
to time, make more significant investments in capability-expanding technology, including continued investments in our technology-
enabled platform to drive efficiency and quality of service. For the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, net cash
provided from operating activities was $142 million $202 million, and Free Cash Flow was $102 million $170 million. For a reconciliation
of Free Cash Flow to net cash provided from operating activities, see “ltem 7. Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Cash Flows.”

Experienced Management Team. We have a management team of highly experienced leaders who possess deep insight into
transforming large consumer discretionary businesses, leveraging technology to innovate and grow businesses, and who have strong
track records in marketing and operational excellence for a wide variety of industries and economic conditions. Our management team
is highly focused on execution and driving growth and profitability, and, as such, our compensation structure is tied to key performance
metrics that are designed to incentivize senior management to drive the long-term success of our business. We believe our
management team has the vision and experience to position us for continued success and to implement and execute our business
strategies over the long term.

Our Business Strategies

We intend to profitably grow our business by:

Increasing Our Home Service Plan Warranty Penetration. We intend to further increase our home service planwarranty
penetration by making strategic investments to educate consumers on our compelling value proposition, targeting homeowners more
effectively through a variety of product and service offerings, further improving the customer experience and attracting new real estate
brokers, contractor firms and business partners. Further, we believe on-demand home services provide us more opportunities to
introduce customers to our overall home service planwarranty value proposition. We intend to leverage our analysis of consumer
preferences to offer home service planswarranties that meet the needs of consumers who prefer traditional home service
plans, warranties, as well as those seeking a different approach. on-demand services.

Delivering Superior Customer Experience. We will continue to improve the customer experience by deepening our
investments in our integrated technology platform, self-service capabilities, business intelligence platforms, customer service operations
and contractor management systems, as well as continuing to improve our communications related to our home service
plans. warranties. These targeted investments are expected to result in an enhanced customer experience by providing a more
convenient service and improving contractor efficiencies and engagement. We believe these initiatives will lead to improved retention
rates over time, cost-savings and the opportunity to deliver additional services to a broader base of satisfied customers.
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Growing Our Supply Network of Independent Contractors. We are focused on growing our high-quality nationwide network
of pre-qualified qualified professional contractor firms, particularly our base of preferred contractors. These firms are in a wide range of
trades and possess diverse skills and capabilities. Our contractor relations team utilizes a highly selective process to choose new
contractor firms and continuously monitors their service quality. We are also improving the way in which we do business with our
contractors by enhancing contractor relations for improved efficiency, allowing our contractors to better focus on our customers’
experience. We believe growing our contractor base within existing service locations and in new geographies, while maintaining service
excellence, will drive further penetration of our home service planswarranties and on-demand home services and differentiate our
product offering offerings relative to competitors. We believe that increased usage of our preferred contractors leads to faster and better-

quality customer service and higher customer retention rates as well as lower costs.
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Continuing Digital Innovation. We are continuing to invest in digital innovation to further increase the ease-of-use of our
technology platform for our customers, contractors and commercial partners. In recent years, we have developed a robust customer
technology platform, which makes it easy for customers to purchase from us, including through the use of digital payments, request
service, receive personalized shopping experiences and home maintenance tips, and manage their account from the convenience of a
smartphone or other connected device, whether through our website or anour app. Our contractor technology platform makes it easier
for contractors to work with us and improves communication between contractors and our customers. Our realtor technology platform
makes it easier for realtors to work with us and, therefore, recommend our products product offerings to their clients. As we continue to
make investments in digital innovation, these enhanced digital platforms will be the foundation of both our home service planwarranty
brands and on-demand home services.

In addition, We are also leveraging our advanced customer- and contractor-centric Streem technology platform, enhances the
experience for our customers, contractors and commercial partners. Streem’s interactive digital features enable home service
professionals to more efficiently interact with customers through which uses video chat capability, augmented reality, computer vision
and potentially machining learning to offer real time help reduceto homeowners from our experts, who may be able to guide
homeowners to fix the time required for completing repairs or even eliminating repair, reducing the need for an in-home visit from a
technician home visit, and to help professional. We believe that leveraging our commercial partners work with and provide service to
their customers. We plan to leverage Streem’s capabilities to offer upfront diagnostics of home repairs which we believe will drive an
increase in the number of jobs completed in the first visit. We also believe the use of Streem will reduce the time required to complete
the repair or provide a replacement for our customers completion of repairs and reduce carbon emissions related to contractor and other
home or on-site in-home visits.

Leveraging Dynamic Pricing. 10

We have implemented dynamic pricing into our renewal and DTC channels, which allows us to leverage our proprietary data platform to
adjust our plan prices based on factors such as the strength of our contractor network or characteristics of homes in a market. We are
using these capabilities to offer more attractive pricing overall, enabling us to expand our potential customer base to those previously
priced out of the market due to the industry's historical practice of state-level pricing.

Providing Customers Access to Our High-Quality, Pre-Qualified Network of Contractors for On-Demand Home
Services. Our on-demand home services platform offers customers access to home systems repair and diagnostic services from highly-
rated service professionals with convenient scheduling, upfront pricing on select services and ongoing support. For contractors, this
product provides actual revenue opportunities, not just leads, as well as access to our scheduling services. We believe that on-demand
services will strengthen our home service plan brands by highlighting the value proposition of our services and the convenience of our
vast pre-qualified service provider network to new customers.

By offering on-demand home services, we can provide additional services to our existing customers and members and reach
new customers, including those not currently interested in home service plans. We intend to continue to leverage our existing sales
channels and service platform to deliver additional value-added services to our on-demand home services customers. Our product
development teams draw upon the experience of our home service plan brands to both create innovative customer solutions for the
existing product suite and identify service and category adjacencies. For example, we offer existing home service plan customers pre-
season HVAC tune-ups and a lock re-keying service. We also offer add-on warranties, covering items such as home electronics, which
we believe add value to our home service plans and result in improved retention rates. We believe these new service offerings will lead
to higher customer engagement, ultimately leading to stronger customer loyalty and retention.

Developing a World-Class Data Platform. \We believe we have the opportunity to become the authoritative source of home

service information. Since the founding of American Home Shield in 1971, we have amassed a significant amount of aggregate data on
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historic maintenance trends, recall and repair history, and parts and labor pricing for most home repairs. We are constantly analyzing
and using this aggregated data to make better business decisions and improve visibility on future costs. We believe these investments
could both improve the customer experience and reduce our operating expenses.

Providing Customers Access to High-Quality and Convenient On-Demand Home Services. Our on-demand home
services platform offers customers access to home systems repair and diagnostic services with convenient scheduling, upfront pricing
on select services and ongoing support. For contractors, this product offering provides actual revenue opportunities, not just leads, as
well as access to our scheduling services. We believe that on-demand services will strengthen our home warranty brands by
highlighting the value proposition and convenience of our services.

By offering on-demand home services, we can provide additional services to our existing customers and reach new customers,
including those not currently interested in home warranties. We intend to continue to leverage our existing sales channels and service
platform to deliver additional value-added services to our on-demand home services customers. Our product development teams draw
upon the experience of our home warranty brands to both create innovative customer solutions for the existing product suite and identify
service and category adjacencies. For example, we offer existing home warranty customers pre-season HVAC tune-ups and a lock re-
keying service. We also offer add-on warranties, covering items such as home electronics, which we believe add value to our home
warranties and result in improved retention rates. We believe these new service offerings will lead to higher customer engagement,
ultimately leading to stronger customer loyalty and retention.

Pursuing Selective Acquisitions. We anticipate that the highly fragmented nature of the home service planwarranty category
will continue to create strategic opportunities for acquisitions. Historically, we have used acquisitions to cost-effectively grow our
customer base in high-growth geographies, and we intend to opportunistically continue to do so. We may also explore opportunities to
make strategic acquisitions that will expand our service offering in the broader home services industry and industry. We have also used
acquisitions to enhance our technological capabilities. For example, in 2019, we acquired Streem to enable home service professionals
to more efficiently interact with customers and complete repairs, and, in 2020, we acquired a business to expand on-demand home
services via their intellectual capital and know-how, technology platform capabilities and geographic presence.
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Sales and Marketing

We market our brands and services to homeowners on a national and local level through various means, including broadcast,
digital, marketing partnerships and affiliate relationships and remarketing. We partner with various participants in the residential real
estate marketplace, such as real estate brokers and insurance carriers, to market our home service plans. warranties. In addition, we
sell through our customer service team, mobile-optimized e-commerce platform and national sales teams. We utilize the following
customer acquisition channels:

Real estate channel. Our plans have historically been used to provide peace of mind to home buyers by protecting them from
large, unanticipated out-of-pocket expenses related to the breakdown of major home systems and appliances during the first year after
an existing home purchase. We leverage marketing and information service arrangements and a team of field-based sales associates
and leaders who focus on defined geographic areas to train and educate real estate brokers and agents within their territory about the
benefits of a home service planwarranty by working directly with real estate offices and participating in broker meetings and national
sales events. Those brokers and agents then market our home service plans warranties to home buyers and sellers.

In 2022, 2023, we estimate approximately one million 800,000 homes were sold with a home service planwarranty out of the
approximately 5 million4.1 million homes sold, reflecting a continued decline in sales of home service plans. warranties. The historically
high demand for homes has led to reduced incentive for sellers to offer a home service plan warranty and less time for the attachment of

a home service planwarranty during the sale transaction. In 2022,2023, customers in our real estate channel renewed at a rate of 30
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percent after the first contract year. Revenue from this channel was $184 million $141 million, $252 million $184 million and $263
million $252 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, respectively.

Direct-to-consumer channel. We have invested significant resources to develop the DTC channel to broaden our reach
beyond home real estate transactions. Our value proposition resonates with a wide range of homeowners, from those who find security
in a plan protecting against expensive and unplanned breakdowns in the home to those seeking convenient services from pre-
qualified qualified contractors. This strong value proposition is promoted to our potential customers through marketing partnerships,
search engine marketing, content marketing, social media, direct mail, television, radio, print advertisements and telemarketing, and
sold through our customer service team and mobile-optimized e-commerce platform. We continue to strategically invest to expand the
DTC channel given its high customer retention rates and customer lifetime value. Our research indicates a relatively low home service
planwarranty penetration rate of four percent of U.S. households and significant opportunity in the broader home repair and
maintenance category. sectors. We believe that penetration rates will increase over time as consumers become more aware of, and
educated about, the value of home service plans warranties and the full suite of product and service offerings of our brands.

In 2022, 2023, we estimate over four million of the 123 million 127 million U.S. households (excluding homes sold) had a home
service plan.warranty. In 2022, 2023, customers in our DTC channel renewed at a rate of 7473 percent after the first contract year.
Revenue from this channel was $219 million $194 million, $201 million $219 million and $183 million $201 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, respectively.
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Customer renewals. For the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we generated 72 77 percent of our revenue
through existing customer renewals compared to 72 and 69 percent for each of the years ended December 31, 2021 December 31,
2022 and 2020.2021, respectively. We have made significant investments in our integrated technology platform, self-service
capabilities, business intelligence platforms, customer service operations and contractor management systems, which we believe
position us to further improve our customer retention rate.

In 2022,2023, customers in our renewal channel renewed at a rate of 7879 percent. Revenue from renewals was $1,203
million $1,367 million, $1,103 million $1,203 million and $1,013 million $1,103 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 December
31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, respectively.

Across all three channels, in 2022,2023, customers renewed at a rate of 70 73 percent, and our overall customer retention rate
was 76 percent. We calculate the rates at which our customers renew as the ratio of the number of home service planswarranties
renewed during the period to the number of home service plans warranties originally set to expire during the period. We calculate our
customer retention rate as the ratio of the number of ending home service plans warranties to the sum of the number of beginning home
service plans, warranties, new home service planwarranty sales and acquired accounts for the applicable period. The rate at which
customers renew and customer retention rate are presented on a rolling, 12-month basis in order to avoid seasonal anomalies.
Customers, Contractors, Suppliers and Geographies

Customers. As our customers are predominantly owners of single-family residences, we do our business is not have significant
customer concentration. reliant on any single customer. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had 2.1 million2.0 million
active home service plans, respectively. warranties. We believe there is opportunity to market our services to a broader customer base
seeking variations from traditional differentiated home service plans warranties, on-demand services and on-demand services. self-help
guidance.

11
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Contractors. We have a nationwide network of approximately 15,000 pre-qualified 16,000 qualified professional contractor
firms in a wide range of trades and with diverse skills and capabilities. The qualification process for a contractor includes assessing its
online presence and customer reviews, gathering public information about the company, reviewing references from customers and other
contractors, and confirming it meets our insurance and licensing standards. In addition, contractors must agree to our service
requirements, such as timely appointments and follow-ups with all customers, guaranteed workmanship, professionalism and
availability. Our contractors are supported by a designated contractor relations representative who guides them through the process of
working with us, from on-boarding onboarding to the first service call and to continuous monitoring and training.

No contractor accounted for more than five percent of our cost of services rendered in 2022.2023. We classify a subset of our
independent contractor network as “preferred,” representing firms that meet our highest quality standards and are often long-tenured
providers with us. our most cost-effective providers. Our preferred contractor network completed 82 83 percent of our service requests in
2022.2023. We believe that increased usage of our preferred contractors leads to faster and better-quality customer service and higher
customer retention rates as well as lower costs.

Suppliers. We are dependent on a limited number of suppliers for various key components used in the services and products
we offer to customers, our product offerings, and the cost, quality and availability of these components are essential to our services.
Direct supplier spend, which excludes purchases made by our contractors, made up approximately 20 25 percent of our cost of services
rendered in 2022,2023, and we have multiple national supplier agreements in place. We have sevensix national suppliers of parts,
appliances and home systems that each account for more than five percent of our supplier spend. We continue to seek to deepen and
expand our supplier relationships, improve access to appliances with the highest demand, increase speed of parts acquisition and
expand our service provider network.

Geographies. A significant percentage of our revenue is concentrated in the western and southern regions of the United
States, including California, Florida and Texas.

Technology

We are continuing to invest in digital innovation to further increase the ease-of-use of our technology platform for our customers,
contractors and commercial partners.

Customers. We operate a robust customer technology platform, which makes it easy for customers to purchase from us,
request service and manage their account from the convenience of a smartphone or other connected device. Approximately 50 percent
of our DTC sales in 20222023 were entered made online, and more than 50 percent of our total service request volume was entered
online or through our interactive voice response system. Our customer MyAccount platform had over one million active users at the end
of 2022, 2023, allowing customers to pay bills, manage their account, request service, receive home maintenance tips review account
information and electronically communicate with a representative online without having to call our customer service team. In certain
instances, our Streem technology platform enables homeowners to use their smartphone cameras to engage in a video chat with a
service professional one of our experts who can remotely see the item that needs attention and capture a variety of important details
about the item, potentially helping to reduce the time required for completing repairs and even eliminating the need for a technician to
visit the home by offering a simple do-it-yourself solution.
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Contractors. Our contractor technology platform makes it easier for contractors to work with us and improves communication
between contractors and our customers. Our contractor portal had over 15,000 18,000 active users at the end of 2022,2023, and our
platform sent approximately 1.7 million 1.3 million “On-My-Way" notifications to customers, letting them know their contractor was en

route to their home.
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Commercial partners. Our realtor technology platform makes it easier for realtors to work with us and, therefore, recommend
our products product offerings to their clients. Approximately 7069 percent of real estate channel orders were placed online in
2022.2023. Our realtor portal had approximately 73,00069,000 active users at the end of 2022,2023, allowing realtors to enter, edit,
view and print order confirmations and view and manage expiring orders.

Competition

We compete in the U.S. home service plan warranty category and the broader U.S. home services industry. The home service
plan warranty category is highly competitive. While we have a broad range of competitors in each locality and region, we are one of the
only few companies that provide home service plan company providing home service planswarranties nationwide. The broader U.S.
home services industry is also highly competitive. We compete against businesses providing on-demand home services directly and
those offering leads to contractors seeking to provide on-demand home services. The principal methods of competition, and by which
we differentiate ourselves from our competitors, are quality and speed of service, contract offerings, brand awareness and reputation,
customer satisfaction, pricing and promotions, contractor network and referrals. We believe our nationwide network of approximately
15,000 pre-qualified qualified professional contractor firms, in combination with our large base of contracted customers, differentiate us
from other platforms in the home services industry.
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Human Capital Management

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had 1,712 1,716 employees, none of whom is represented by a labor union.
1,660 1,666 employees were employed in the United States, and 5250 employees were employed in foreign countries, primarily in India
where they provided technology services for our business. We believe our overall relations with our workforce are good. In addition to
our employees, we utilize business process outsourcing firms who are independent contractors and handle a range of customer service,
administrative and similar tasks for our business. Our corporate website, www.frontdoorhome.com, includes additional information about
human capital management at Frontdoor.

Health and Safety. We have implemented a virtual-first work environment, resulting in the majority of our workforce employees
working remotely and with certain teams engaging in travel and in-person meetings occasionally. on a regular cadence. Our support for
employees’ health and safety has expanded to focus on key aspects related to working from home, including support for mental health.
We include in new employee onboarding training and tips on health and safety risks at home, such as physical risks from poor home
office ergonomics. Our regular internal corporate communications feature virtual working tips, employee highlights, health and safety
ideas and business discussions, all of which are designed to keep employees connected and engaged.

Inclusion and Diversity. We embrace the diversity of our employees, contractors, customers and other stakeholders.
Everyone is valued and appreciated for their distinct contributions to the growth and sustainability of our business. We strive to cultivate
a culture and vision that supports and enhances our ability to recruit, develop and retain diverse talent at every level. Our diversity and
inclusion efforts are led by our Diversity Council, which is supported by our Chief Executive Officer (‘CEQ”) and comprised of other
senior and cross-functional leaders and our director of diversity and inclusion. The Diversity Council sponsors employee resource
groups to support and celebrate the diversity of our employees. We also launched an additional four employee resource Currently, we
have six associate resources groups, which are a crucial aspect of our commitment to diversity, equity and inclusion within our
organization and play a pivotal role in 2022, bringing providing a platform for our total employees to six.connect, learn and grow both
personally and professionally. As of September 30, 2022 December 31, 2023, our employees have self-identified as 67 64 percent
female, 33 36 percent male and 4041 percent racially/ethnically diverse.

Employee Benefits and Talent Development. In 2022,2023, we again engaged in a review and update of our employee

benefits and vacation programs and updated several programs to improve our healthcare coverage and provide support for healthcare
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needs of our diverse employees. We have sponsored mentorship and development programs and a career development platform to
support development for our diverse employee population. We regularly monitor employee satisfaction through formal processes and
informal surveys and conversations, and we monitor employee turnover.

Employee Engagement. We strive to not only give each employee a job, but also a voice. To make sure we hear our
employees’ voices when they speak, we regularly seek employee engagement and satisfaction feedback. We actively track and monitor
the results of employee pulse surveys in search of trends and opportunities. The surveys inform our human resources strategy so that
we can adjust and adapt to our employees’ needs as they change and evolve. Leaders receive team-level dashboards; have the
opportunity for supplemental training and support to understand how to review, share and discuss their results with their teams; and
take meaningful actions together to continuously improve employee experiences. We also monitor employee turnover.
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Seasonality

The demand for our services, and our results of operations, are affected by weather conditions and seasonality. Such
seasonality causes our results of operations to vary considerably from quarter to quarter. Accordingly, results for any quarter are not
necessarily indicative of the results that may be achieved for the full fiscal year. Extreme temperatures, typically in the winter and
summer months, can lead to an increase in service requests related to home systems, particularly HVAC systems, resulting in higher
claim frequency and costs and lower profitability, while mild temperatures in the winter or summer months can lead to lower home
systems claim frequency. frequency, resulting in lower costs and higher profitability. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Factors and Trends Affecting Our Results of Operations—Seasonality” in Part Il
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.
Intellectual Property

We hold various service marks, trademarks and trade names, such as Frontdoor, American Home Shield HSA and Streem, the
Frontdoor logo, that we deem particularly important to our advertising and marketing activities. We develop the substantial majority of
our product and service offerings internally and have extended our product and service offerings and intellectual property through
acquisitions of businesses and technologies. We also license intellectual property rights in certain circumstances. We have a number of
U.S. patents and U.S. and foreign pending applications that relate to various aspects of our Streem technology. While we believe that
our patents have value, no single patent is essential to us or to any of our principal businesses. Rapid technological advances in cloud,
software and hardware development, evolving standards in computer hardware and software technology, changing customer needs and
frequent new product introductions, offerings and enhancements characterize the markets in which we compete. We plan to continue to
dedicate resources to research and development efforts to maintain and improve our current products and services offerings.
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Insurance

We maintain insurance coverage that we believe is appropriate for our business, including workers’ compensation, general
liability and property insurance. In addition, we provide insurance for our home service planwarranty claims in Texas via our wholly-
owned captive insurance company.
Regulatory Compliance

We are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations, compliance with which increases our operating costs,
limits or restricts the services we provide or the methods by which we may offer, sell and fulfill those services or conduct our business,

or subjects us to the possibility of regulatory actions or proceedings. Noncompliance with these laws and regulations can subject us to
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fines, cease and desist orders, loss of licenses or registrations or various forms of civil or criminal prosecution, any of which could have
a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

These federal, state and local laws and regulations include laws relating to consumer protection, unfair and/or deceptive trade
practices, service contracts, home warranties, home service plans, home warranties, real estate settlement, wage and hour
requirements, contractors, the employment of immigrants, labor relations, licensing, building code requirements, workers’ safety,
environmental, privacy and data protection, securities, insurance coverages, sales tax collection and remittance, healthcare, employee
benefits, marketing (including, without limitation, telemarketing) and advertising. In addition, we are regulated by the Consumer
Financial Protection Bureau and in certain states by the applicable state insurance regulatory authority or other state regulatory bodies,
such as the Virginia Department of Agriculture and the Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation.

We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations designed to protect consumers, including laws governing
deceptive trade practices, consumer privacy and fraud, the collection and use of consumer data, telemarketing and other forms of
solicitation. The telemarketing rules adopted by the Federal Communications Commission pursuant to the Federal Telephone Consumer
Protection Act and the Federal Telemarketing Sales Rule issued by the Federal Trade Commission govern our telephone sales
practices. In addition, some states and local governing bodies have adopted laws and regulations targeted at direct telephone sales,
i.e., “do-not-call” regulations. The implementation of these marketing regulations requires us to rely more extensively on other marketing
methods and channels. In addition, if we were to fail to comply with any applicable law or regulation, we could be subject to substantial
fines or damages, be involved in lawsuits, enforcement actions and other claims by third parties or governmental authorities, suffer
losses to our reputation and our business or suffer the loss of licenses or registrations or incur penalties that may affect how the
business is operated, any of which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.
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Available Information

Our corporate website address is www.frontdoorhome.com. We use our website as a channel of distribution for company
information. We will make available free of charge on the Investor section of our website our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such
material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. We also make
available through our corporate website other reports filed with or furnished to the SEC under the Exchange Act, including our proxy
statements and reports filed by officers and directors under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, as well as our Code of Conduct and
Financial Code of Ethics. Financial and other material information regarding Frontdoor is routinely posted on our website and is readily
accessible. We do not intend for information contained on our website to be part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the exhibits hereto, you should carefully
consider the following risk factors in evaluating our business. Our business, financial condition or results of operations could be
materially adversely affected by any of these risks. The selected risks described below, however, are not the only risks we face.
Additional risks and uncertainties, not currently known to us or those we currently view to be immaterial may also materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. The risk factors generally have been separated into three

groups: risks related to our business, risks related to our common stock and risks related to our significant indebtedness.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 19/156
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

The materialization of any risks and uncertainties set forth below or identified in “Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-
Looking Statements” contained in this report and our other filings with the SEC or those that are presently unforeseen could result in
significant adverse effects on our financial condition and results of operations. See “ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part Il of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and “Cautionary Statement Concerning
Forward-Looking Statements” above.

Risks Related to Our Business

Changing macro-economic conditions, including inflation, global supply chain challenges and the persistence of the COVID-
19 pandemic, rising interest rates, especially as they may affect existing home sales interest rates or consumer sentiment or
unemployment, may adversely impact our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Our results of operations are dependent upon consumer spending. Changes in general economic conditions and consumer
confidence, particularly in our largest markets—California, Florida and Texas—could adversely affect the demand for our services.
Consumer spending and confidence tend to decline during times of declining economic conditions. A worsening Unfavorable changes in
economic conditions, which are typically beyond our control, including without limitation, as a result of macroeconomic indicators,
including weak home sales, higher home foreclosures, inflation, and higher slowing growth, rising interest rates, recession, changes in
the political climate, war (including, but not limited to, the conflict between Russia and Ukraine and in the Middle East), supply chain or
labor market disruptions, banking or financial market disruptions, declining consumer confidence, or rising unemployment rates,
epidemic disease or other adverse changes, could adversely affect consumer spending levels, reduce demand for our services and
adversely impact our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

With respect to interest rates, in particular, the Federal Reserve took several steps during 2020 and 2021 to protect the
economy from the impact of COVID-19, including reducing interest rates to new historic lows. However, in 2022, in light of increasing
inflation, the Federal Reserve increased interest rates seven eleven times whichin 2022 and 2023 in response to increasing inflation.
The rise in interest rates has caused buyer apprehension and affordability concerns, resulting in a decrease in home sales in 2022 and
2023 and has negatively impactingimpacted our real estate channel. The Although the Federal Reserve has indicated that it expects
continued increases in may lower interest rates in 2023 and 2024, the trajectory of current rates remains uncertain. To the extent interest
rates remain elevated, such elevated interest rates in 2024. Any such additional increases could continue to negatively affect mortgage
rates and continue to negatively impact the real estate channel.

Increases in parts, appliance and home system prices and other operating costs could adversely impact our business,
financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Our financial performance may be adversely affected by increases in the level of our operating expenses, such as refrigerants,
appliances, equipment, parts, raw materials, wages and salaries, employee benefits, healthcare, contractor costs, self-insurance costs
and other insurance premiums, as well as various regulatory compliance costs, all of which may be subject to inflationary and other
pressures. For example, from 2021 through 2022, we experienced a rapid increase in the cost of parts, appliance and home system
costs due to inflation, which, in turn, increased our contract claims costs. Such increase in operating expenses, including contract claims
costs, could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Prices for raw materials, such as steel and fuel, are subject to market volatility. We cannot predict the extent to which we may
experience future increases in costs of refrigerants, appliances, equipment, parts, raw materials, wages and salaries, employee
benefits, healthcare, contractor costs, self-insurance costs and other insurance premiums, or of various regulatory compliance costs
and other operating costs. To the extent such costs increase, we may be prevented, in whole or in part, from passing these cost
increases through to our existing and prospective customers, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.

15
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Our industry is highly competitive. Competition could reduce demand for our services and adversely affect our reputation,
business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We operate in a highly competitive industry. Changes in the sources and intensity of competition in the industry in which we
operate may impact the demand for our services and may also result in additional pricing pressure. Heightened industry competition
could adversely affect our business operations by impacting our contractor selection and purchasing power for parts, appliances and
home systems. Regional and local competitors operating in a limited geographic area may have lower labor, employee benefits and
overhead costs than us. The principal measures of competition in our business include customer service, brand awareness and
reputation, fairness of contract terms, including contract price and coverage scope, contractor network and quality and speed of service.
We may be unable to compete successfully against current or future competitors, and the competitive pressures that we face may result
in reduced demand for our services, reduced pricing and other adverse impacts to our reputation, business, financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

We may not successfully implement our business strategies, including achieving our growth objectives.

We may not be able to fully implement our business strategies or realize, in whole or in part within the expected time frames,
the anticipated benefits of various new business, growth or other initiatives. Our business strategies and initiatives, including increasing
our home service planwarranty penetration, delivering superior customer experience, growing our supplier network of independent
contractors, continuing digital innovation, leveraging dynamic pricing, providing customers access to our high-quality, pre-
qualified qualified network of contractors for on-demand home services developing a world-class data platform and pursuing selective
acquisitions, are subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond
our control.

15

In addition, our financial performance is affected by changes in the services and products we offer to customers. We may incur
significant costs to implement our strategies, service and product offerings, which may not succeed in increasing revenue, growing our
customer base or growing profitability. For example, in 2023, our business underwent significant transformation as we undertook
rebranding initiatives in connection with the launch of our Frontdoor app. We cannot provide any assurance that these rebranding
initiatives will be effective. An unsuccessful execution of strategies, including the rollout of new, or the adjustment of any existing,
services or products or sales and marketing plans, could cause us to reevaluate or change our business strategies and could have a
material adverse impact on our reputation, business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We will incur certain costs or may offer certain discounts to achieve efficiency improvements and growth in our business, and
we may not meet anticipated implementation timetables or stay within budgeted costs or plans. As these efficiency improvement and
growth initiatives are implemented, we may not fully achieve expected cost savings and efficiency improvements or growth rates, or
these initiatives could adversely impact customer retention or our operations. Also, our business strategies may change in light of our
ability to implement new business initiatives, competitive pressures, economic uncertainties or developments or other factors.
Marketing efforts to increase sales through our real estate and direct-to-consumer channels may not be successful or cost-
effective.

Attracting consumers, professional contractor firms and real estate brokers to our brands and businesses involves considerable
expenditures for marketing. We have made, and expect to continue to make, significant expenditures on branding, app and website
design, marketing partnerships, search engine marketing, content marketing, social media, direct mail, broadcast, television, radio, print
advertisements and telemarketing. These efforts may not be successful or cost-effective. Historically, we have had to increase

marketing expenditures over time to attract and retain customers and professional contractors and sustain growth.
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With respect to our online marketing efforts, rapid and frequent changes in the pricing and operating dynamics of search
engines, as well as changing policies and guidelines applicable to keyword advertising (which may unilaterally be updated by search
engines without advance notice), could adversely affect our paid search engine marketing efforts and free search engine traffic. Such
changes could adversely affect paid listings (both their placement and pricing), as well as the ranking of our brands and businesses
within paid and organic search results, any or all of which could increase our marketing expenditures (particularly if free traffic is
replaced with paid traffic).

In addition, evolving consumer behavior can affect the availability of profitable marketing opportunities. For example, as
traditional television viewership declines and media is increasingly consumed through various digital means, the reach of traditional
advertising channels is contracting, and the number of digital advertising channels is expanding. To continue to reach and engage with
customers and professional contractors and grow in this environment, we will need to identify and devote more of our overall marketing
expenditures to newer digital advertising channels (such as social media, online video and other digital platforms), as well as target
customers, professional contractors and real estate brokers via these channels. Generally, the opportunities in (and the sophistication
of) newer advertising channels are undeveloped and unproven relative to traditional channels, which could make it difficult for us to
assess returns on our marketing investment in newer channels. Additionally, as we increasingly depend on newer digital channels for
traffic, these efforts will involve challenges and risks similar to those we face in connection with our search engine marketing efforts.

16

We also enter into various third-party affiliate agreements in an effort to drive traffic to our various brands and businesses.
These arrangements are generally more cost-effective than traditional marketing efforts. If we are unable to renew existing and enter
into new arrangements of this nature, our sales and marketing as a percentage of revenue could increase.

With respect to our marketing efforts, we may also include certain discounts or other promotional rates in order to attract and
retain customers. These efforts may require increasing amounts or be offered at increasing frequency over time. Certain factors
including the nature and type of our services offered, potential and existing customerscustomers’ perception of the value of our
services, and other macroeconomic factors like general economic conditions and consumer sentiment may impact our efforts. These
efforts may not be successful or cost-effective over time.

We cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to continue to appropriately manage our marketing efforts in response to
any or all of the events and trends discussed above, and the failure to do so could adversely affect our reputation, business, financial
position, results of operations and cash flow.

16

We depend on our first-year real estate and direct-to-consumer acquisition channels for a significant percentage of our sales.

A significant percentage of our sales are generated through our first-year real estate customer and direct-to-consumer
acquisition channels, which feed our renewal channel. In our real estate channel, our strategic relationships with top real estate brokers
and agents are important to our business because they provide marketing and information services that are useful to our real estate
customer acquisition channel. These brokers and agents are independent parties that we do not control, and we cannot guarantee that
our strategic partnership arrangements with them will continue at current levels or at all. An inability to maintain these relationships
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Demand for our services is affected by existing home sales, as our services are frequently purchased in connection with real
estate transactions. As a result, in periods when home sales are fast-moving, declining or of low inventory levels, demand for our

services may be adversely impacted. In addition, changes in the real estate market could also affect the demand for our services if a
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reduced amount of home buyers elect not to purchase our services, which could have a material adverse impact on our business,
financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Among others, the number of real estate transactions in which our services are

purchased could also decrease in the following situations:
-when mortgage interest rates are high or rise, as they did in 2022 and 2023;
-when the availability of credit, including commercial and residential mortgage funding, is limited;
-when real estate values are declining; or

-conversely, when demand for existing homes exceeds supply.

Consumer demand for services purchased through our first-year DTC channel can fluctuate and, as such, is subject to changes
in macro-economic conditions, including interest rates and inflation, as well as consumer sentiment about the value of home warranties
and our reputation as a home warranty provider. Consumer demand may also be significantly influenced by the success of marketing
and promotions by us or by our competitors. If we are unsuccessful in attracting consumers to our home warranties, we could
experience a material adverse impact to our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We depend on our renewal channel for a substantial percentage of our sales.

Our third and largest sales channel is our renewal channel. Sales in this channel are dependent upon the flow of sales from our
first-year real estate and DTC channels, as well as our customers’ perceptions of the value of our home warranties, and accordingly,
their willingness to renew their plans. Any decrease in sales from period to period in our real estate and DTC channels may have a
negative impact on future growth opportunities in our renewal channel. Whether existing customers choose to renew their home
warranties is driven by both external factors such as macroeconomic conditions our reputation and actions of our competitors, as well
as internal factors such as their experience with our home warranties, including whether they have used their home warranties and their
satisfaction with any services we provided, and how they perceive the value of our home warranties in light of the cost of a renewal.

Our industry is highly competitive. Competition could reduce demand for our services and adversely affect our reputation,
business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We operate in a highly competitive industry. Changes in the sources and intensity of competition in the industry in which we
operate may impact the demand for our services and may also result in additional pricing pressure. Heightened industry competition
could adversely affect our business operations by impacting our contractor selection and purchasing power for parts, appliances and
home systems. Regional and local competitors operating in a limited geographic area may have lower labor, employee benefits and
overhead costs than us. The principal measures of competition in our business include customer service, brand awareness and
reputation, fairness of contract terms, including contract price and coverage scope, contractor network and quality, and speed of
service. We may be unable to compete successfully against current or future competitors, and the competitive pressures that we face
may result in reduced demand for our services, reduced pricing and other adverse impacts to our reputation, business, financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.

17

Our future success depends on our ability to attract, retain and maintain our network of third-party contractors and vendors
and their performance.

Our ability to conduct our operations is in part impacted by reliance on a network of third-party contractors. Our future success
and financial performance depend substantially on our ability to attract and retain qualified third-party contractors, and their availability,
and ensure third-party contractor compliance with our policies, standards and performance expectations. However, these third-party
contractors are independent parties that we do not control, and who own, operate and oversee the daily operations of their individual

businesses. If third-party contractors do not successfully operate their businesses in a manner consistent with required laws, standards
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and regulations, we could be subject to claims from regulators or legal claims for the actions or omissions of such third-party
contractors. In addition, our relationship with our third-party contractors could become strained (including resulting in litigation) as we
impose new standards or assert more rigorous enforcement practices of our existing standards and performance expectations. When a
contractor relationship is terminated, there is a risk that we may not be able to enter into a similar agreement with an alternate
contractor in a timely manner or on favorable terms. We could incur costs to transition to other contractors, and these costs could
materially adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows. We could also fail to provide service to our customers if we lose
contractors that we cannot replace in a timely manner, which could lead to customer complaints and possible claims and litigation. In
addition, our third-party contractors interact directly with our customers, and if our third-party contractors do not provide satisfactory
services, our retention rate, reputation and business may be adversely affected. In addition, these potential impacts may be enhanced
upon termination of a relationship with a preferred contractor, as approximately 82 83 percent of our service requests were completed by
our preferred contractor network in 2022.2023.

We are also dependent on vendors for parts, appliances and home systems and the ability to rely on the pricing for such goods
in the contracts we negotiate with these vendors. In recent years, the COVID-19 pandemic’s impact on the global supply chain
has challenges, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, have led to industry-wide price increases for parts and equipment as
well as availability challenges across our trades as demand has outpaced production. If we cannot obtain the parts, appliances or home
systems from vendors within our existing stable of vendors to satisfy consumer claims in a timely manner, we may be forced to obtain
parts, appliances and home systems from other vendors or through our third-party contractors at higher costs, which could have a
material adverse impact on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, if we cannot obtain
appliance parts to satisfy consumer claims in a timely manner, we may be forced to obtain replacement appliances or systems at a
higher cost compared to the cost of appliance parts.

We depend onincreases in parts, appliance and home system prices and other operating costs could adversely impact our
first-year real estate business, financial position, results of operations and direct-to-consumer acquisition channels for a
significant percentage of our sales. cash flows.

A significant percentage Our financial performance may be adversely affected by increases in the level of our sales are
generated throughoperating expenses, such as refrigerants, appliances, equipment, parts, raw materials, wages and salaries,
employee benefits, healthcare, contractor costs, self-insurance costs and other insurance premiums, as well as various regulatory
compliance costs, all of which may be subject to inflationary and other pressures. For example, in recent years, we've experienced a
rapid increase in the cost of parts, appliance and home system costs due to inflation and global supply chain challenges, which, in turn,
increased our first-year real estate customer and direct-to-consumer acquisition channels, which also feed our renewals channel. In our
real estate channel, our strategic relationships with top real estate brokers and agents are important to our business because they
provide marketing and information services that are useful to our real estate customer acquisition channel. These brokers and agents
are independent parties that we do not control, and we cannot guarantee that our strategic partnership arrangements with them will
continue at current levels or at all. An inability to maintain these relationships contract claims costs. Such increase in operating
expenses, including contract claims costs, could have a material adverse effectimpact on our business, financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.
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Demand Prices for our services is affected by existing home sales,raw materials, such as our servicessteel and fuel, are
frequently purchased subject to market volatility. We cannot predict the extent to which we may experience future increases in
connection with real estate transactions. As a result, in periods when home sales are fast-moving, decliningcosts of refrigerants,

appliances, equipment, parts, raw materials, wages and salaries, employee benefits, healthcare, contractor costs, self-insurance costs
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and other insurance premiums, or of low inventory levels, various regulatory compliance costs and other operating costs. In recent
years, we have adjusted our pricing strategies in response to these rising costs. To the extent our pricing strategies are ineffective,
demand for our services may suffer. Moreover, to the extent such costs continue to increase, we may be adversely impacted. In
addition, changes prevented, in the real estate market could also affect the demand forwhole or in part, from passing these cost
increases through to our services if a reduced amount of home buyers elect not to purchase our services, existing and prospective
customers, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Among

others, the number of real estate transactions in which our services are purchased could also decrease in the following situations:
-when mortgage interest rates are high or rise, as they did in 2022;
-when the availability of credit, including commercial and residential mortgage funding, is limited;
-when real estate values are declining; or

-conversely, when demand for existing homes exceeds supply.

Consumer demand for services purchased through our first-year DTC channel can fluctuate and, as such, is subject to changes
in macro-economic conditions, including interest rates and inflation, as well as consumer sentiment about the value of home service
plans and our reputation as a home service plan provider. Consumer demand may also be significantly influenced by the success of
marketing and promotions by us or by our competitors. If we are unsuccessful in attracting consumers to our home service plans we
could experience a material adverse impact to our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We depend on our renewals channel for a significant percentage of our sales.

Our third and largest sales channel is our renewals channel. Sales in this channel are dependent upon the flow of sales from
our first-year real estate and DTC channels, as well as our customers’ perceptions of the value of our home service plans, and
accordingly, their willingness to renew their plans. Any decrease in sales from period to period in our real estate and DTC channels may
have a negative impact on future growth opportunities in our renewals channel. Whether existing customers choose to renew their home
service plans is driven by both external factors such as macroeconomic conditions our reputation and actions of our competitors, as well
as internal factors such as their experience with our home service plans, including whether they have used their home service plans and
their satisfaction with any services we provided, and how they perceive the value of our home service plans in light of the cost of a
renewal.

We may not be able to attract and retain qualified key employees, which could adversely impact us and our business and
inhibit our ability to operate and grow successfully.

The execution of our business strategy and our financial performance will depend in significant part on our executive
management team and other key technology personnel, home services experts and other key personnel. Our future success will
depend in large part on our success in attracting new talent; utilizing current, experienced senior leadership; and smoothly transitioning
responsibilities to and implementing the goals and objectives of our management team. Any inability to attract or retain qualified key
executives in a timely manner, or retain or recruit other key personnel, could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.

18

We are dependent on labor availability in our customer service operations.

Our ability to conduct our operations is in part affected by our ability to scale our labor force, including on a seasonal basis in
our customer service operations, which may be adversely affected by a number of factors. While we employ both domestic and
overseas third-party customer service resources to help fulfill our service and other obligations, the effectiveness of such resources may

be adversely affected by the availability of labor in such markets and the continuing viability of contract relations with such third parties.
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In the event of a labor shortage affecting our own customer service personnel or our third-party service providers, we could experience
difficulty in responding to customer inquiries in a timely fashion or delivering our services in a high-quality or timely manner and could be
forced to increase wages to attract and retain employees, which would result in higher operating costs and reduced profitability. Long
call and service wait times by customers during peak operating times could have a material adverse impact on our reputation, business,
financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

18

Our business process outsourcing initiatives increase our reliance on third-party vendors and may expose our business to
harm upon the termination or disruption of our third-party vendor relationships.

Our strategy to increase profitability, in part, by reducing our costs of operations includes the implementation of certain business
process outsourcing initiatives, including offshore outsourcing of certain aspects of our customer service operations, some of which are
located near regions that have previously been affected by Acts of God, such as earthquakes and typhoons, and outsourcing of certain
technology development initiatives. Any disruption, termination or substandard performance of these outsourced services, including
possible breaches by third-party vendors of their agreements with us, could delay or limit our ability to successfully implement our
business strategies and adversely affect our brands, reputation, customer relationships, financial position, results of operations and
cash flows. Also, to the extent a third-party vendor relationship is terminated, there is a risk of disputes or litigation and that we may not
be able to enter into a similar agreement with an alternate provider in a timely manner or on terms that are acceptable to us or at all.
Even if we find an alternate provider, or choose to insource such services, there are significant risks associated with any transitioning
activities. In addition, to the extent we decide to terminate outsourcing services and insource such services, there is a risk that we may
not have the capabilities to perform these services internally, resulting in a disruption to our business, which could adversely impact our
reputation, businesses, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. We could incur costs, including personnel and
equipment costs, to insource previously outsourced services like these, and these costs could adversely affect our results of operations
and cash flows.

Furthermore, offshore outsourcing of certain aspects of our customer service operations may induce negative public reaction.
Offshore outsourcing is a politically sensitive topic in the United States. For example, there are concerns in the United States about a
perceived association between outsourcing providers and the loss of jobs in the United States. In response to such concerns, federal
legislative measures have been proposed in the past, such as limiting income tax credits for companies that offshore American jobs. In
addition, there is ongoing publicity about some negative experiences that companies have had with outsourcing, such as theft and
misappropriation of sensitive client data. Such negative perceptions that may be associated with using an offshore provider could
adversely impact our reputation, businesses, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We depend on a limited number of third-party components suppliers. Our reputation, business, financial position, results of
operations and cash flows may be harmed if these parties do not perform their obligations, if they suffer interruptions to their
own operations, if alternative component sources are unavailable, or if there is an increase in the costs of these components.

We are dependent on a limited number of suppliers for various key components used in the services and products we offer to
customers, and the cost, quality and availability of these components are essential to our services. In particular, we have seven six
national suppliers of parts, appliances and home systems that each account for more than five percent of our supplier spend. We are
subject to the risk of shortages, increased costs and long lead times in the supply of these components and other materials, and the risk
that our suppliers discontinue or modify, or increase the price of, the components used. If the supply of these components were to be
delayed or constrained, or if one or more of our main suppliers were to go out of business, alternative sources or suppliers may not be
available on acceptable terms or at all. Further, if there were a shortage of supply, the cost of these components may increase and harm

our ability to provide our services on a cost-effective basis. In connection with any supply shortages in the future, reliable and cost-
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effective replacement sources may not be available on short notice or at all, and this may force us to increase prices and face a
corresponding decrease in demand for our services. In the event that any of our suppliers were to discontinue production of our key
product components, developing alternate sources of supply for these components would be time consuming, difficult and costly. This
would harm our ability to market our services in order to meet market demand and could materially and adversely affect our reputation,
business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

19

We have limited control over these parties on which our business depends. If any of these parties fails to perform its obligations
on schedule, or breaches or ends its relationship with us, we may be unable to satisfy demand for our services. Delays, product
shortages and other problems could impair our distribution and brand image and make it difficult for us to attract new customers. If we
experience significantly increased demand, or if we need to replace an existing supplier, we may be unable to supplement or replace
such supply capacity on terms that are acceptable to us or at all, which may undermine our ability to deliver our services to customers in
a timely and cost-efficient manner. Accordingly, a loss or interruption in the service of any key party could adversely impact our
reputation, business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Disruptions or failures in our technology systems could create liability for us or limit our ability to effectively monitor, operate
and control our operations and adversely impact our reputation, business, financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.

Our technology systems facilitate our ability to monitor, operate and control our operations and offer our products and services
to customers. Modifications to our technology systems could cause disruption to our operations or cause challenges with respect to
compliance with laws, regulations or other applicable standards. As the development and implementation of our technology systems
(including our operating systems) continues to evolve, we may elect to modify, replace or abandon certain technology initiatives, which
could result in write-downs.

19

Any disruption in our technology systems, including capacity limitations, instabilities, or failure to operate as expected, could,
depending on the magnitude of the problem, adversely impact our business, brands, reputation, customer relationships, financial
position, results of operations and cash flows, including by limiting our capacity to monitor, operate and control our operations
effectively. Failures of our technology systems could also lead to violations of privacy laws, regulations, trade guidelines or practices
related to our customers and associates. If our disaster recovery plans do not work as anticipated, or if the third-party vendors to which
we have outsourced certain technology, customer service or other services fail to fulfill their obligations, our operations may be
adversely affected, and any of these circumstances could adversely affect our reputation, business, financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

If we fail to protect the security of personal information about our customers, associates or third parties, we could be subject
to interruption of our business operations, private litigation, reputational damage and costly penalties.

We rely on, among other things, commercially available systems, software, tools and monitoring to provide security for
processing, transmission and storage of confidential information of customers, associates and third parties, such as payment cards and
personal information. The systems currently used for transmission and approval of payment card transactions, and the technology
utilized in payment cards themselves, all of which can put payment card data at risk, are central to meeting standards set by the
payment card industry (“PCI”). We continue to evaluate and modify these systems and protocols for PCI compliance purposes, and

such PCI standards may change from time to time. At our customers’ request, we also use our proprietary Streem technology to capture
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key information about our customers’ appliances, HVAC and other home systems and may, though through these video chat sessions,
capture additional information related to our customer or their home.

Activities by third parties, or our utilization of advances in computer and software capabilities and other technology, new tools
and discoveries, as well as other events or developments may facilitate or result in a compromise or breach of these systems. Any
compromises, breaches or errors in applications related to these systems or failures to comply with standards set by the PCI could
cause damage to our reputation and interruptions in our operations, including customers’ ability to pay for services and products by
credit card or their willingness to purchase our services and products and could result in a violation of applicable laws, regulations,
orders, industry standards or agreements and subject us to costs, penalties and liabilities. We are subject to risks caused by data
breaches and operational disruptions, particularly through third-party criminal activity including "ransomware" or other malware, cyber-
attack or cyber-intrusion, including by computer hackers, foreign governments and cyber terrorists.

These risks include potential damage and disruption from traditional cyber criminals, malicious code (such as viruses and
worms), employee theft, misuse, social engineering, denial-of-service attacks, as well as sophisticated nation-state and nation-state-
supported actors, including advanced persistent threat intrusions. Any cyber or similar attack or unauthorized access to our software or
systems that we experience could damage our technology systems and infrastructures, lead to the loss, compromise or corruption of
data, prevent us from providing our services, erode our reputation and those of our various brands, lead to the termination of
advantageous contracts, result in inaccurate reporting of financial information, result in the disclosure of confidential consumer and
professional contractor information, result in erroneous payments to malicious actors, expose us to significant liabilities for the violation
of data privacy laws, result in the disclosure of confidential and sensitive business information or intellectual property, result in claims or
litigation against us and/or otherwise be costly to mitigate or remedy. The frequency of data breaches of companies and governments
has increased in recent years as the number, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world
have increased. The occurrence of any of these events could have a material adverse impact on our reputation, business, financial
position, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, although we have insurance to mitigate some of these risks, such policies
may not cover the particular cyber or similar attack experienced and, even if the risk is covered, such insurance coverage may not be
adequate to compensate for related losses.

20

The impact of cybersecurity events experienced by third parties with whom we do business (or upon whom we otherwise rely in
connection with our day-to-day operations) could have similar effects on us. Moreover, even cyber or similar attacks that do not directly
affect us or third parties with whom we do business may result in a loss of consumer confidence in online and/or technology-reliant
businesses generally, which could make consumers and professional contractors less likely to use or continue to use our services. The
occurrence of any of these events could adversely affect our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Data protection legislation is also becoming increasingly common in the United States at both the federal and state level. For
example, the State of California enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the “CCPA"), which became effective on January
1, 2020. The CCPA requires companies that process information of California residents to make disclosures to consumers about their
data collection, use and sharing practices, allows consumers to opt out of certain data sharing with third parties and provides a new
cause of action for data breaches. Additionally, the California Privacy Rights Act (the “CPRA"), which became effective January 1, 2023,
revised and significantly expanded the scope of the CCPA. The CPRA also creates a new California data protection agency authorized
to implement and enforce the CCPA and the CPRA, which could result in increased privacy and information security enforcement.

Other

Additional U.S. states have considered and/or enacted similarpassed their own comprehensive consumer privacy laws,

including Colorado, Connecticut, Utah some of which went into effect in 2023 or will go into effect in 2024, and Virginia. other states are

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 28/156
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

considering doing so. Additionally, the Federal Trade Commission and many state attorneys general are interpreting federal and state
consumer protection laws to impose standards for the online collection, use, dissemination and security of data. The burdens imposed
by the CCPA,, CPRA and other similar laws that may be enacted at the federal and state level may require us to further modify our data
processing practices and policies and to incur substantial expenditures in order to comply.

20

Our business is subject to evolving corporate governance and public disclosure regulations and expectations, including with
respect to environmental, social and governance matters, that could expose us to numerous risks.

We are subject to changing rules and regulations promulgated by a number of governmental and self-regulatory organizations,
including the SEC, NASDAQ and FASB. These rules and regulations continue to evolve in scope and complexity and many new
requirements have been created in response to laws enacted by Congress, making compliance more difficult and uncertain. In addition,
increasingly regulators, customers, investors, employees and other stakeholders are focusing on environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) matters and related disclosures, including expanding mandatory and voluntary reporting, diligence and disclosure on topics
such as human capital, climate change, labor and risk oversight. If we are unable to adequately address such ESG matters or we or
contractors fail to comply with all related laws, regulations and policies, it could negatively impact our reputation and our business
results.

Evolving ESG rules, regulations and stakeholder expectations have resulted in, and are likely to continue to result in, increased
general and administrative expenses and increased management time and attention spent complying with or meeting such regulations
and expectations. For example, developing and acting on initiatives within the scope of ESG, and collecting, measuring and reporting
ESG related information and metrics can be costly, difficult and time consuming and is subject to evolving reporting standards, including
the SEC'’s recently proposed climate-related reporting requirements. We may also communicate certain initiatives and goals, regarding
environmental matters, diversity, responsible sourcing and social investments and other ESG related matters, in our SEC filings or in
other public disclosures. These initiatives and goals within the scope of ESG could be difficult and expensive to implement, the
technologies needed to implement them may not be cost effective and may not advance at a sufficient pace, and we could be criticized
for the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the disclosure. Further, statements about our ESG related initiatives and goals, and
progress against those goals, may be based on standards for measuring progress that are still developing, internal controls and
processes that continue to evolve, and assumptions that are subject to change in the future. If our ESG-related data, processes and
reporting are incomplete, inaccurate or criticized, or if we fail to achieve progress with respect to our goals within the scope of ESG on a
timely basis, or at all, our reputation, business, financial performance and growth could be adversely affected.

The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted, and may continue to adversely impact, our business.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has rapidly evolved around the globe, with many countries, at various times, taking
meaningful measures to limit the spread of the virus by instituting quarantines or lockdowns, imposing travel restrictions and vaccination
mandates for certain workers or activities and limiting operations of certain non-essential businesses. While restrictions have eased and
the global economy has largely re-opened, many medical and public health experts believe that COVID-19 could perpetually reoccur for
years, such as seasonally in winter, and even if generally ceasing to be fatal for most people, such reoccurrence could increase the
possibility of periods of increased restrictions on business operations. The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted global
commercial activity and has contributed to significant economic, financial and other disruptions.

In 2021 and 2022, the global economy, with certain setbacks, begun reopening, and wider distribution of vaccines has
encouraged greater economic activity. While vaccine availability and uptake has increased, the longer-term macro-economic effects of
the pandemic, such as increased interest rates, continue to impact home sales, which could affect our sales of home service plans, and

the financial turmoil and other changes associated with the pandemic may have lasting effects on our business and operations. In
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addition, the COVID-19 pandemic, along with other geo-political and economic factors, continues to disrupt global supply chains, which
can cause disruption to our ability to obtain parts and replacement appliances and home systems to our customers or lead to increases
in our costs to provide such parts and replacements, and it has caused labor shortages and has added broad inflationary pressures.

The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will affect our business, financial position, results of operations, liquidity and
prospects in the future remains uncertain and will depend on future developments, including the duration and intensity of the pandemic,
the emergence of new variants of the virus, the acceptance of vaccines, the duration of government measures to mitigate the pandemic
and how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume, all of which are uncertain and difficult to
predict.

21

Laws and government regulations applicable to our business and lawsuits, enforcement actions and other claims by third
parties or governmental authorities could increase our legal and regulatory expenses and impact our business, financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.

Our business is subject to significant federal, state and local laws and regulations. These laws and regulations include but are
not limited to laws relating to consumer protection, unfair and/or deceptive trading practices, service contracts, home warranties, home
service plans, home warranties, real estate settlement, wage and hour requirements, state contractor laws, the employment of
immigrants, labor relations, licensing, building code requirements, workers’ safety, environmental, privacy and data protection,
securities, insurance coverages, sales tax collection and remittance, healthcare reforms, employee benefits, marketing (including,
without limitation, telemarketing) and advertising. In addition, we are regulated by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and in
certain states by the applicable state insurance regulatory authority or other state regulatory bodies, such as the Virginia Department of
Agriculture and the Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation. Failure to comply with such laws and regulations may have a
material adverse impact on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Additionally, while we do not consider
ourselves to be an insurance company, the IRS or state agencies could deem us to be taxed as such, which could adversely impact the
timing of our tax payments.

We are also subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations designed to protect consumers, including laws
governing deceptive trade practices, consumer privacy and fraud, the collection and use of consumer data, telemarketing and other
forms of solicitation. From time to time, we have received and we expect that we may continue to receive inquiries or investigative
demands from regulatory bodies, including the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and state attorneys general and other state
agencies. The telemarketing rules adopted by the Federal Communications Commission pursuant to the Federal Telephone Consumer
Protection Act and the Federal Telemarketing Sales Rule issued by the Federal Trade Commission govern our telephone sales
practices. In addition, some states and local governing bodies have adopted laws and regulations targeted at direct telephone sales,
i.e., “do-not-call” regulations. The implementation of these marketing regulations requires us to rely more extensively on other marketing
methods and channels and may have a material adverse impact on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.

Various federal, state and local governing bodies may propose additional legislation and regulation that may be detrimental to
our business or may substantially increase our operating costs, including: increases in the minimum wage; environmental regulations
related to climate change, equipment efficiency standards, certain refrigerant production and use and other environmental matters;
healthcare coverage; “do-not-call” or other marketing regulations; or regulations implemented in response to business practices in our
industry. It is difficult to predict the future impact of the broad and expanding legislative and regulatory requirements affecting our
business, and changes to such requirements may adversely affect our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In addition, if we were to fail to comply with any applicable law or regulation, we could be subject to substantial fines or damages, be
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involved in lawsuits, enforcement actions and other claims by third parties or governmental authorities, suffer harm to our reputation,
suffer the loss of licenses or incur penalties that may affect how our business is operated, any of which, in turn, could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Changes to U.S. tariff and import/export regulations may increase the costs of parts, appliances and home systems and, in turn,
adversely impact our business.

Tariff policies are under continuous review and subject to change. For example, rising costs due to blanket tariffs on imported
steel and aluminum could increase the costs of parts associated with our repair and replacement of home systems and appliances,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Moreover, new
tariffs and changes to U.S. trade policy could prompt retaliation from affected countries, potentially triggering the imposition of tariffs on
U.S. goods. Such a “trade war” could lead to general economic downturn or could materially and adversely affect the demand for our
services, thus negatively impacting our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

2221

Our business is subject to evolving corporate governance and public disclosure regulations and expectations, including with
respect to environmental, social and governance matters, that could expose us to numerous risks.

We are subject to changing rules and regulations promulgated by a number of governmental and self-regulatory organizations,
including the SEC, NASDAQ and FASB. These rules and regulations continue to evolve in scope and complexity and many new
requirements have been created in response to laws enacted by Congress, making compliance more difficult and uncertain. In addition,
increasingly regulators, customers, investors, employees and other stakeholders are focusing on environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) matters and related disclosures, including expanding mandatory and voluntary reporting, diligence and disclosure on topics
such as human capital, climate change, labor and risk oversight. If we are unable to adequately address such ESG matters or we or
contractors fail to comply with all related laws, regulations and policies, it could negatively impact our reputation and our business
results.

Evolving ESG rules, regulations and stakeholder expectations have resulted in, and are likely to continue to result in, increased
general and administrative expenses and increased management time and attention spent complying with or meeting such regulations
and expectations. Developing and acting on initiatives within the scope of ESG, and collecting, measuring and reporting ESG related
information and metrics can be costly, difficult and time consuming and is subject to evolving reporting standards, including the SEC’s
proposed climate-related reporting requirements, the new California climate disclosure rules, and similar proposals by other U.S.
regulatory bodies. We may also communicate certain initiatives and goals, regarding environmental matters, diversity, responsible
sourcing and social investments and other ESG related matters, in our SEC filings or in other public disclosures. These initiatives and
goals within the scope of ESG could be difficult and expensive to implement, the technologies needed to implement them may not be
cost-effective and may not advance at a sufficient pace, and we could be criticized for the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the
disclosure. Further, statements about our ESG related initiatives and goals, and progress against those goals, may be based on
standards for measuring progress that are still developing, internal controls and processes that continue to evolve, and assumptions
that are subject to change in the future. If our ESG-related data, processes and reporting are incomplete, inaccurate or criticized, or if
we fail to achieve progress with respect to our goals within the scope of ESG on a timely basis, or at all, our reputation, business,
financial performance and growth could be adversely affected.

Physical impacts of climate change, which may increase the frequency and intensity of adverse weather conditions
conditions and natural disasters, seasonality and the increased focus by investors and other stakeholders on sustainability

issues, can affect the demand for our services, our ability to operate and our results of operations and cash flows.
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The demand for our services, and our results of operations, are affected by weather conditions and seasonality, which may be
exacerbated by the potential impacts of climate change, known and unknown. Seasonality causes our results of operations to vary
considerably from quarter to quarter. Accordingly, results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be
achieved for the full fiscal year. Extreme temperatures, typically in the winter and summer months, can lead to an increase in service
requests related to home systems, particularly HVAC systems, resulting in higher claim frequency and costs and lower profitability, while
mild temperatures in the winter or summer months can lead to lower home systems claim frequency. frequency, resulting in lower costs
and higher profitability. For example, unfavorable weather trends in the fourth quarter of 2022 as compared to the fourth quarter of 2021
negatively impacted contract claims costs, while favorable weather trends in the first quarter of 20222023 as compared to the first
quarter 2022 resulted in a lower number of 2021 service requests per customer, which favorably impacted contract claims costs.

While weather variations as described above may affect our business, major weather events and other similar Acts of God, or
natural disasters such as typhoons, hurricanes, tornadoes, wildfires or earthquakes, typically do not increase our obligations to provide
service. Generally, repairs associated with such isolated events are addressed by homeowners’ and other forms of insurance as
opposed to the home service plans warranties that we offer. Nevertheless, such weather events could affect our facilities, or those of our
major suppliers or business process outsource providers, which could affect our costs, our ability to meet supply requirements, our
ability to provide services and our ability to access our data and other records. Extreme or unpredictable weather conditions could
materially adversely impact our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

New climate change-related regulations or interpretations of existing laws may result in enhanced disclosure obligations, which
could negatively affect us and materially increase our regulatory burden. Increased regulations generally increase our costs, and we
could continue to experience higher costs if new laws require us to spend more time, hire additional personnel or buy new technology to
comply effectively. New regulations or guidance relating to climate change, as well as the perspectives of shareholders, employees and
other stakeholders regarding these standards, may affect our business activities and increase disclosure requirements, which may
increase costs.

22

Changes to U.S. tariff and import/export regulations may increase the costs of parts, appliances and home systems and, in
turn, adversely impact our business.

Tariff policies are under continuous review and subject to change. For example, rising costs due to blanket tariffs on imported
steel and aluminum could increase the costs of parts associated with our repair and replacement of home systems and appliances,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Moreover, new
tariffs and changes to U.S. trade policy could prompt retaliation from affected countries, potentially triggering the imposition of tariffs on
U.S. goods. Such a “trade war” could lead to general economic downturn or could materially and adversely affect the demand for our
services, thus negatively impacting our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights that are material to our
business.

Our ability to compete effectively depends in part on our rights to proprietary information, service marks, trademarks, trade
names, patents and other intellectual property rights we own or license, particularly our brand names, Frontdoor and American Home
Shield, HSA, OneGuard, Landmark, ProConnect and Streem, as well as the patents related to our Streem technology platform. We
have not sought to register or protect every one of our marks in the United States. If we are unable to protect our proprietary information
and intellectual property rights, including brand names and patents, it could cause a material adverse effect on our reputation, business,

financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights and
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protect our proprietary information, or to defend against claims by third parties that our products, services or activities infringe their
intellectual property rights.

Future acquisitions or other strategic transactions could negatively affect our reputation, business, financial position, results
of operations and cash flows.

Our business strategy includes the pursuit of opportunistic strategic transactions, which could involve acquisitions or
dispositions of businesses or assets. For example, in 2019, we acquired Streem to enable home service professionals to more
efficiently interact with customers and complete repairs, and, in 2020, we acquired a business to expand on-demand home services via
their intellectual capital and know-how, technology platform capabilities and geographic presence. Any future strategic transaction could
involve integration or implementation challenges, business disruption or other risks, or change our business profile significantly. Any
inability on our part to consolidate and manage growth from acquired businesses or successfully implement other strategic transactions
could have an adverse impact on our reputation, business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Any acquisition that
we make may not provide us with the benefits that were anticipated when entering into such acquisition. The process of integrating an
acquired business may create unforeseen difficulties and expenses, including: the diversion of resources needed to integrate new
businesses, technologies, products, personnel or systems; the inability to retain employees, customers and suppliers; the assumption of
actual or contingent liabilities; failure to effectively and timely adopt and adhere to internal control processes and other policies; write-
offs or impairment charges relating to goodwill and other intangible assets; unanticipated liabilities; distraction of senior management
from other strategic priorities; and potential expense associated with litigation with sellers of such businesses. Any future disposition
transactions could also impact our business and may subject us to various risks, including failure to obtain appropriate value for the
disposed businesses and post-closing claims.

23

We may be required to recognize impairment charges.

We have significant amounts of goodwill and intangible assets, such as trade names. In accordance with applicable accounting
standards, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized and are subject to assessment for impairment by applying a
fair-value-based test annually,on an annual basis, or more frequently if there are indicators of circumstances indicate a potential

impairment, including:
O significant adverse changes in the business climate, including economic or financial conditions;
O significant adverse changes in expected operating results;
0O adverse actions or assessments by regulators;
O unanticipated competition;
O loss of key personnel; and

0 acurrent expectation that it is more likely than not that a reporting unit or intangible asset will be sold or otherwise disposed

of.

Based upon future economic and financial market conditions, the operating performance of our reporting units and other factors,
including those listed above, we have incurred, and may in the future incur, impairment charges in the future. For example, in
connection with the preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements for the third quarter of 2022, we determined that
indicators of a potential goodwill and intangible assets impairment were present for our Streem reporting unit. In performing the
discounted cash flow analysis, we determined that the carrying amount of the Streem reporting unit exceeded its fair value. An

impairment charge of $14 million was recognized during the third quarter of 2022, which comprised the remaining net carrying amount
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of Streem’s goodwill of $9 million and intangibles of $5 million. charges. It is possible that such future impairments, if required, could be
material. Any future impairment charges that we are required to record could have a material adverse impact on our results of
operations. See “Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Ciritical Accounting
Policies and Estimates” in Part Il of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

23

Third-party use of our trademarks as keywords in Internet search engine advertising programs may direct potential customers
to competitors’ websites, which could harm our reputation and cause us to lose sales.

Competitors and other third parties purchase our trademarks and confusingly similar terms as keywords in Internet search
engine advertising programs in order to divert potential customers to their websites. Preventing such unauthorized use is inherently
difficult. If we are unable to protect our trademarks from such unauthorized use and curtail the use of confusingly similar terms,
competitors and other third parties may drive potential online customers away from our websites to competing and unauthorized
websites, which could harm our reputation and cause us to lose sales.

The use of social media by us and other parties could result in damage to our reputation or otherwise adversely affect us.

We increasingly utilize social media to communicate with current and potential customers, contractors, real estate brokers and
employees, as well as other individuals interested in us. Information delivered by us, or by third parties about us, via social media can
be easily accessed and rapidly disseminated, and any such information that is not deemed appropriate by the public could result in
reputational harm, decreased customer loyalty or other issues that could diminish the value of our brand or result in significant liability.
Our operations outside the United States are subject to special risks that could adversely affect us.

We derive substantially all of our revenue from customers in the United States; however, certain aspects of our customer
service operations and other services are conducted outside the United States by business process outsource providers in Colombia,
Ghana, Guyana, Mexico, the Philippines and Trinidad and Tobago, and we have established an engineering anda technology
campus collaboration center in India. Accordingly, developments in those parts of the world generally have a more significant effect on
our operations than developments in other places. Our operations outside the United States are also subject to special risks, including:
fluctuations in currency values and foreign-currency exchange rates, which may affect our net income and the carrying amount of our
assets outside the United States; exchange control regulations; changes in local political or economic conditions; other potentially
detrimental domestic and foreign governmental practice or policies affecting U.S. companies operating abroad; difficulties in staffing and
managing international political instability, operations; and operational and compliance challenges resulting from distance, language and
cultural differences. Acts of God, war, terror acts and epidemic disease, such as COVID-19, may impair our ability to operate or the
ability of our business process outsource providers to operate, in particular countries or regions.

24

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your
investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We currently intend to use our future earnings to develop our business and for working capital needs and general corporate
purposes, to fund our growth, to repay debt, and to repurchase shares of our common stock. As a result, we did not pay cash dividends
in 2022,2023, and we do not expect to pay any cash dividend for the foreseeable future. All decisions regarding the payment of
dividends will be made by our board of directors from time to time in accordance with applicable law. There can be no assurance that

we will have sufficient surplus under Delaware law to be able to pay any dividends at any time in the future. An insufficient surplus may
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result from extraordinary cash expenses, actual expenses exceeding contemplated costs, funding of capital expenditures or increases
in reserves. If we do not pay dividends, the price of the shares of our common stock must appreciate for you to receive a gain on your
investment. This appreciation may not occur. Further, you may have to sell some or all of your shares of our common stock to generate
cash flow from your investment.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and of applicable law may prevent or delay an acquisition of our
company, which could decrease the trading price of our common stock.

Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, and Delaware law, contain provisions that are
intended to deter coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids by encouraging prospective acquirors to negotiate with our
board of directors. These provisions include rules regarding how stockholders may present proposals or nominate directors for election
at stockholder meetings and the right of our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval. Delaware law also
imposes some restrictions on mergers and other business combinations between any holder of 15 percent or more of our outstanding
common stock and us.
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We believe these provisions protect our stockholders from coercive or otherwise unfair takeover tactics by requiring potential
acquirors to negotiate with our board of directors and by providing our board of directors with more time to assess any acquisition
proposal. These provisions are not intended to make us immune from takeovers. However, these provisions apply even if the offer may
be considered beneficial by some stockholders and could delay or prevent an acquisition that our board of directors determines is not in
the best interests of our company and our stockholders. These and other provisions of our restated certificate of incorporation, amended
and restated bylaws and the Delaware General Corporation Law, as amended (the “DGCL”), could have the effect of delaying, deferring
or preventing a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or other change in control.

In addition, because we are regulated by state regulators in certain states, we are subject to certain state statutes that generally

require any person or entity desiring to acquire direct or indirect control of certain of our subsidiaries obtain prior approval from the
applicable regulator. Control is generally presumed to exist under these state laws with the acquisition of 10 percent or more of our
outstanding voting securities of either the subsidiary or its controlling parent. Applicable state laws and regulations could delay or
impede a change of control.
Our certificate of incorporation designates the state courts of the State of Delaware, or, if no state court located in the State of
Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal court for the District of Delaware, as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of
actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could discourage lawsuits against us and our
directors and officers.

Our restated certificate of incorporation provides that, unless the board of directors otherwise determines, the state courts of the
State of Delaware, or, if no state court located in the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal court for the District of Delaware, will
be the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of our company, any action asserting a claim
of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director or officer to our company or our stockholders, creditors or other constituents, any
action asserting a claim against us or any director or officer arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation or restated bylaws, or any action asserting a claim against us or any director or officer governed by the
internal affairs doctrine. This exclusive forum provision may limit the ability of our stockholders to bring a claim in a judicial forum that
such stockholders find favorable for disputes with us or our directors or officers, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our
directors and officers. Alternatively, if a court outside of the State of Delaware were to find this exclusive forum provision inapplicable to,

or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings described above, we may incur additional
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costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business, financial position, results
of operations and cash flows.
25

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness
We have significant indebtedness and may incur additional substantial indebtedness, which could adversely affect our
financial health and our ability to obtain financing in the future, react to changes in our business and satisfy our obligations.
As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had approximately $609 million $593 million of total consolidated long-term
indebtedness, including the current portion of long-term debt, outstanding.
As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, there were $2 million of letters of credit outstanding under our $250 million
Revolving Credit Facility, and the available borrowing capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility was $248 million. In addition, we are
able to incur additional indebtedness in the future, subject to the limitations contained in the agreements governing our indebtedness.

Our significant indebtedness could have important consequences to you. Because of our significant indebtedness:
O our ability to engage in large acquisitions without raising additional equity or obtaining additional debt financing is limited;

O our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, debt service requirements or
general corporate purposes and our ability to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness may be impaired in

the future;

0 a large portion of our cash flow from operations must be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our

indebtedness, thereby reducing the funds available to us for other purposes;

O we are exposed to the risk of increased interest rates because a portion of our borrowings are or will be at variable rates of

interest;

0 it may be more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations to our creditors, resulting in possible defaults on, and acceleration of,

such indebtedness;
O we may be more vulnerable to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

O we may be at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors with proportionately less indebtedness or with
comparable indebtedness on more favorable terms and, as a result, they may be better positioned to withstand economic
downturns;

25

O our ability to refinance indebtedness may be limited, or the associated costs may increase;
O our flexibility to adjust to changing market conditions and ability to withstand competitive pressures could be limited; and

0O we may be prevented from carrying out capital spending and restructurings that are necessary or important to our growth
strategy and efforts to improve operating margins of our business.
Increases in interest rates would increase the cost of servicing our indebtedness and could reduce our profitability.
A significant portion of our outstanding indebtedness, including indebtedness incurred under the Credit Facilities, bears interest
at variable rates. As a result, increases in interest rates would increase the cost of servicing our indebtedness and could materially

reduce our profitability and cash flows. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, each one percentage point change in interest
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rates would result in an approximately $3 million $2 million change in the annual interest expense on the Term Loan Facilities after
considering the impact of the effective interest rate swap. Assuming all revolving loans were fully drawn as of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023, each one percentage point change in interest rates would result in an approximately $3 million change in
annual interest expense on the Revolving Credit Facility. The impact of increases in interest rates could be more significant for us than it
would be for some other companies because of our significant indebtedness. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, our
variable rate indebtedness used the LIBOR SOFR as a benchmark for establishing the interest rate.
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On March 5, 2021, LIBOR was previously the benchmark rate used for our variable rate indebtedness. LIBOR had been the
subject of national, international and regulatory guidance and proposals for reform, which culminated with the United Kingdom's
Financial Conduct Authority, (the “FCA”), which regulates regulated LIBOR, announced that all ceasing publication of U.S. dollar LIBOR
settings will either cease to be provided or no longer be representative (i) immediately after December 31, 2021, in the caserates as of
the one-week and two-month US dollar settings, and (ii) immediately after June 30, 2023, in the case of all remaining US dollar settings.
Additionally, the. The Federal Reserve, Board, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Officein conjunction with the Alternative
Reference Rates Committee, a steering committee comprised of the Comptroller of Currency, and other interagency regulatory bodies
have advisedlarge U.S. banks to stop entering into new USD LIBOR based contracts by December 31, 2021. Further, on March 15,
2022, the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2022, which includes the Adjustable Interest Rate (LIBOR) Act, was signed into law in the
U.S. This legislation establishes a uniform benchmark replacement process for financial contracts maturing after June 30, 2023 that do
not contain clearly defined or practicable fallback provisions. The legislation also creates a safe harbor that shields lenders from
litigation if they choose to utilize a replacement rate recommended by the Federal Reserve. Pursuant to final rules adopted by the
Federal Reserve Board in December 2022, the Federal Reserve hasinstitutions, identified benchmark rates based on the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”), a new SOFR, an index calculated by short-term repurchase agreements, backed by U.S. Treasury
securities, to replace LIBOR in certain financial contracts after June 30, 2023. There are significant differences between LIBOR and
SOFR, such as LIBOR being an unsecured lending its preferred alternative rate while SOFR is a secured lending rate, and SOFR is an
overnight rate while LIBOR reflects term rates at different maturities. We cannot predict the effect of the decision not to sustain LIBOR
or the planned transition to SOFR as LIBOR’s replacement.

for LIBOR. In connection with the planned phase-out of LIBOR, we expect to amendamended our Credit Facilities in March
2023 to replace LIBOR with SOFR as the benchmark rate under the Credit Agreement. At this time, it is not possible to predict the full
effect that the anticipated discontinuance of LIBOR, or the establishment of alternative reference rates such as SOFR, will have on us or
our borrowing costs. SOFR is a relatively new reference rate and its composition and characteristics are not the same as LIBOR. Given
the limited history of SOFR and potential volatility as compared to other benchmark or market rates, the future performance of SOFR
cannot be predicted based on historical performance. The consequences of the transition from LIBOR to SOFR could include an
increase in the cost of our variable rate indebtedness.

A lowering or withdrawal of the credit ratings, outlook or watch assigned to our debt securities by rating agencies may
increase our future borrowing costs and reduce our access to capital.

Our indebtedness currently has a non-investment grade rating, and any rating, outlook or watch assigned could be lowered or
withdrawn entirely by a rating agency if, in that rating agency’s judgment, current or future circumstances relating to the basis of the
rating, outlook or watch, such as adverse changes to our business, so warrant. Any future lowering of our credit ratings, outlook or
watch likely would make it more difficult or more expensive for us to obtain additional debt financing.

The agreements and instruments governing our indebtedness contain restrictions and limitations that could significantly

impact our ability to operate our business.
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The Credit Agreement contains covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to:
0 incur additional indebtedness (including guarantees of other indebtedness);

O create liens;

0 redeem stock or make other restricted payments, including investments and, in the case of the Revolving Credit Facility,

make acquisitions;
O prepay, repurchase or amend the terms of certain outstanding indebtedness;
0 enterinto certain types of transactions with affiliates;
O transfer or sell assets;
O merge, consolidate or sell all or substantially all of our assets; and

0 enter into agreements restricting dividends or other distributions by our subsidiaries.
26

The restrictions in the Credit Agreement and the instruments governing our other indebtedness may prevent us from taking
actions that we believe would be in the best interest of our business and may make it difficult for us to execute our business strategy
successfully or effectively compete with companies that are not similarly restricted. We may also incur future debt obligations that might
subject us to additional restrictive covenants that could affect our financial and operational flexibility. We may be unable to refinance our
indebtedness, at maturity or otherwise, on terms acceptable to us or at all.
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Our ability to comply with the covenants and restrictions contained in the Credit Agreement and the instruments governing our
other indebtedness may be affected by economic, financial and industry conditions beyond our control including credit or capital market
disruptions. The breach of any of these covenants or restrictions could result in a default that would permit the applicable lenders to
declare all amounts outstanding thereunder to be due and payable, together with accrued and unpaid interest. If we are unable to repay
indebtedness, lenders having secured obligations, such as the lenders under the Credit Facilities, could proceed against the collateral
securing the indebtedness. In any such case, we may be unable to borrow under the Credit Facilities and may not be able to repay the
amounts due under such facilities or our other outstanding indebtedness. This could have serious consequences for our financial
position, results of operations and cash flows and could cause us to become bankrupt or insolvent.

Our ability to generate the significant amount of cash needed to pay interest and principal on our indebtedness and our ability
to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness or obtain additional financing depends on many factors beyond our control.

We are a holding company, and substantially all of our assets are held by, and our operations are conducted through, our
subsidiaries. We depend on our subsidiaries to distribute funds to us so that we may pay obligations and expenses, including satisfying
obligations with respect to indebtedness. Our ability to make scheduled payments on, or refinance our obligations under, our
indebtedness depends on the financial and operating performance of our subsidiaries and their ability to make distributions and
dividends to us, which, in turn, depends on their operating results, cash requirements, financial position and general business conditions
and any legal and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends to which they may be subject, many of which may be beyond our
control.
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There are third-party regulatory restrictions on the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to transfer funds to us. These restrictions
are related to regulatory requirements. The payments of ordinary and extraordinary dividends by certain of our subsidiaries (through
which we conduct our business) are subject to significant regulatory restrictions under the laws and regulations of the states in which
they operate. Among other things, such laws and regulations require certain subsidiaries to maintain minimum capital and net worth
requirements and may limit the amount of ordinary and extraordinary dividends and other payments that these subsidiaries can pay to
us. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the total net assets subject to these third-party regulatory restrictions was $145
million $157 million. We expect that such limitations will be in effect for the foreseeable future. In Texas, we are relieved of the obligation
to post 75 percent of our otherwise required reserves because we operate a captive insurer approved by Texas regulators in order to
satisfy such obligations. None of our subsidiaries are obligated to make funds available to us through the payment of dividends. If we
cannot receive sufficient distributions from our subsidiaries, we may not be able to meet our obligations to fund general corporate
expenses or service our debt obligations.

We may be unable to maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal and
interest on our indebtedness. If our cash flow and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be
forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures, sell assets, seek to obtain additional equity capital or restructure our indebtedness. In the
future, our cash flow and capital resources may not be sufficient for payments of interest on and principal of our indebtedness, and such
alternative measures may not be successful and may not permit us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations.

If we cannot make scheduled payments on our indebtedness, we will be in default, the lenders under the Credit Facilities could
terminate their commitments to loan money, the secured lenders could foreclose against the assets securing their borrowings, and we
could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation.

Despite our indebtedness levels, we and our subsidiaries may be able to incur substantially more indebtedness. This could
further exacerbate the risks associated with our significant indebtedness.

We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future. The Credit Facilities permit
additional borrowings beyond the committed amounts under certain circumstances. If new indebtedness is added to our current
indebtedness levels, the related risks we face would increase, and we may not be able to meet all of our debt obligations.

We utilize derivative financial instruments to reduce our exposure to market risks from changes in interest rates on our
variable-rate indebtedness and are exposed to risks related to counterparty credit worthiness or non-performance of these
instruments.

We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes and manage this exposure through the use of variable-rate and fixed-
rate debt and by utilizing an interest rate swap. On October 24, 2018, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement contract effective
October 31, 2018 that expires on August 16, 2025. The notional amount of the agreement wasis $350 million. We entered into this
interest rate swap agreementcontract in the normal course of business to manage interest rate risks, with a policy of matching
positions. The effect of derivative financial instrument transactions under the agreements could have a material impact on our financial
statements. There can be no guarantee that our hedging strategy will be effective, and we may experience credit-related losses in some

circumstances.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Assessment, Identification and Management Processes

We have implemented a cybersecurity risk management strategy to assess, identify and manage material risks from
cybersecurity threats. This strategy is designed to protect our systems, data, and operations from potential cyber threats and to ensure

the continuity of our business operations.

We conduct regular risk assessments to identify potential cybersecurity threats. These assessments involve evaluating our
systems, networks and data for vulnerabilities that could be exploited by cyber threats, through, among other things, vulnerability
scanning and penetration testing. Once risks are identified, we implement measures to manage and mitigate these risks. This includes
updating and patching our systems, implementing security controls and monitoring our networks for suspicious activity. We have a
process in place to respond to any identified threats, which includes containment, eradication and recovery measures. We also monitor
and update our cybersecurity risk management strategy to respond to the evolving cyber threat landscape. This includes staying

abreast of the latest cybersecurity threats and trends and updating our systems and processes accordingly.

Integration with Overall Risk Management. Our cybersecurity processes are integrated into our overall enterprise risk
management program and business continuity processes. In this regard, we address cybersecurity risks through a comprehensive,
cross-functional approach across our technology, legal, compliance, finance, and other teams aimed at preserving the confidentiality,
security and availability of the information that we collect and store by identifying, preventing and mitigating cybersecurity threats and
effectively responding to cybersecurity incidents when they occur. This integration helps ensure that the breadth of potential impacts
from cybersecurity risks are considered and that our approach to managing these risks is consistent and coordinated across teams
within our business. Through our enterprise risk management program, our cybersecurity risk is regularly evaluated, and we regularly
report this assessment of our cybersecurity risk to management and to the audit committee of our board of directors. We also

periodically review our cybersecurity risk with our entire board of directors.

Engaging Third Parties in Risk Management.\We use a combination of internal resources and external assessors, consultants
and auditors to conduct our cybersecurity risk assessments and identification. We periodically examine our cybersecurity program with
these third parties, evaluating its effectiveness in part by considering industry standards and established frameworks, such as the
National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), as guidelines, along with compliance with our internal cybersecurity controls. We

also work with third parties to assess our incident response preparedness and to manage and track our risks.

Overseeing Risks Associated with Third-Party Service Providers. We have established a third-party risk management
program to evaluate new and existing third-party service providers for their security controls and processes; identify cyber risks
associated to the third-party service providers requiring remediation tracking; and continuously monitor the cyber risk posture of third-

party service providers.

Where appropriate, our contracts with third-party service providers require agreement and adherence to security and privacy
requirements, including: the proper access, use, retention and deletion of data; security awareness training; security incident response
and breach notification; our rights to security assessment, testing and audits; compliance with laws and industry standards; and system
and services requirements. For example, we require our business process outsourcers, which are providers that support certain
customer services operations and other services, to complete security awareness training and payment card industry data security

standards training.

Risks from Cybersecurity Threats

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 40/156
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

As of the date of this report, we are not aware of any cybersecurity threats that have materially affected or are reasonably likely
to materially affect our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition; however, see Item IA. Risk Factors in Part | of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of effects that a cybersecurity threat or incident could have on our business strategy,
results of operations or financial condition. We also maintain an incident response plan to respond to any cybersecurity incident. This
plan outlines the steps we will take to respond to an incident, including identifying and containing the incident, eradicating the threat,

recovering our systems and communicating with relevant stakeholders.
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Board of Directors Oversight of Cybersecurity Risk

Our board of directors is responsible for oversight of our enterprise risk management program, which incorporates cybersecurity
risk. The audit committee undertakes primary responsibility for assisting the board of directors in overseeing cybersecurity risk, including
policies and procedures for assessing, managing and responding to cybersecurity risk. The audit committee meets with appropriate
members of our management team at least quarterly—and third-party assessors, consultants and auditors as needed—to review and

discuss cybersecurity risk.

The full board of directors receives quarterly updates from the audit committee on its oversight of cybersecurity risk and

engages in further review for the full board of directors from time to time as appropriate.
Management’s Role in Assessing and Managing Material Risks

Our technology team, and particularly our information security team, are actively involved in the development and
implementation of policies and tools to assess risk and identify emergent risks, with cross-functional support from enterprise risk
management, legal, compliance and finance, among other teams. We have established governance structures to increase the maturity
of our cybersecurity program with a governance, risk and compliance approach. This includes the identification of internal weaknesses

and the mitigation of IT risks through training programs or new policies and internal controls.

Management is also responsible for the testing of the overall security posture and the documentation of risk management and
security for regulatory examinations and for regular review of security and privacy requirements. In addition to our internal cybersecurity
team, our company has retained a third-party security firm to aid in the identification, containment, eradication and recovery of systems,

data or both in the event of a material security incident.

Risk Management Personnel. Among management, our Chief Technology Officer (“CTQ”) and our Chief Information Security
Officer (“CISQ”) are responsible for leading efforts to assess and manage cybersecurity risks. Our CTO has over 20 years of experience
leading technology teams and developing applications and other digital solutions for commerce, incorporating the assessment and
management of cybersecurity risk, a Master’s degree in Engineering Management and a Bachelor’s degree in Computer Science. Our
CISO has over 20 years of experience assessing and managing cybersecurity risk, including leading information security teams at
complex web-based businesses, and has a Master’s degree in Computer Information Systems and multiple professional, cybersecurity
and certifications, including CISM, CDPSE, CIPM, CIPT, and PMP.

Monitoring Cybersecurity Incidents. On a daily basis, our information security team monitors, identifies and classifies

potential cybersecurity events and is responsible for notifying the CTO and CISO of such events as appropriate based on risk to our
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organization. Our CTO and CISO are responsible for notifying executive leadership, other functional teams and our audit committee, as

appropriate.

Reporting to the Board of Directors. Our CTO and CISO report to the audit committee at least quarterly about the detection,
prevention, mitigation and remediation of cybersecurity events, including information about the latest cybersecurity threats, the status of
our prevention and detection measures and the effectiveness of our mitigation and remediation efforts, as well as any other
cybersecurity risk management activities and the progress of related projects. These briefings include updates on the formalized
incident response plan, communications and escalation procedures. Management will apprise the board of directors of cybersecurity

incidents deemed to have a moderate or higher business impact, even if immaterial to us.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located in Memphis, Tennessee, in a leased facility. We operate two customer service centers
throughout the United States, which arealso lease a collaboration center located in Carroll, lowa Scottsdale, Arizona and Phoenix,
Arizona. The facility a technology collaboration center in Carroll is owned, and the facility in Phoenix is leased. We also lease office
space in Portland, Oregon for our Streem business; in Denver, Colorado and Pune, India for engineering and technology campuses;
and in Seattle, Washington for a digital marketing and technology campus. India. We believe these facilities are suitable and adequate
to support the needs of our business. We also continue to lease certain office space in Memphis, Tennessee, which previously served
as our corporate headquarters, and this office space is now subleased.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information required with respect to this Item 3 can be found under Note 8 to the audited consolidated financial statements
included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None.
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PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ under the symbol “FTDR.” As of February 23, 2023 February 23, 2024, there were
approximately 17 10 registered holders of our common stock.
Dividends

We did not pay any cash dividends in 2022.2023. We do not intend to declare or pay cash dividends on our common stock for
the foreseeable future. We currently intend to use our future earnings to develop our business and for working capital needs and

general corporate purposes, to fund our growth, to repay debt and to repurchase shares of our common stock.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
On September 7, 2021, we announced a three-year repurchase authorization of up to $400 million of outstanding shares of our

common stock over the three-year period from September 3, 2021 through September 3, 2024. We did not repurchase any shares
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during the three months ended December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we have purchasedrepurchased a
total of 4,478,1948,082,819 outstanding shares at an aggregate a cost of $162 million $281 million, and andwe had $238 million $119
million remaining available for future repurchases under thethis program. See “ltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Liquidity” in Part II, Item 7 of this report for more

information.
Total number of Maximum dollar value
shares purchased as of shares that may yet
part of publicly be purchased under
Total number of Average price announced plans or the plans or programs
Period shares purchased paid per share(1) programs (in millions)
Oct. 1, 2023 through Oct. 31, 2023 — — — 164
Nov. 1, 2023 through Nov. 30, 2023 771,261 34.57 771,261 137
Dec. 1, 2023 through Dec 31, 2023 518,292 35.37 518,292 119
Total 1,289,553 34.90 1,289,553 119

(1) The average price paid per share is calculated on a trade date basis and excludes associated commissions and taxes.
ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following information should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes
thereto included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following discussion may contain forward-looking statements that
reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. The cautionary statements discussed in “Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking
Statements” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K should be read as applying to all forward-looking statements wherever
they appear in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in these forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those factors discussed below and elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly in “Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors”
included in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

For a discussion of our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021, see “ltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations” in Part Il of our 20212022 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 24, 2022 March 1, 2023, which
specific discussion is incorporated herein by reference.

Overview

Frontdoor is the leading provider of home service plans warranties in the United States, as measured by revenue, and operates
primarily under the American Home Shield brand. Our customizable home service plans warranties help customers protect and maintain
their homes, typically their most valuable asset, from costly and unplanned breakdowns of essential home systems and appliances. Our
home service planwarranty customers usually subscribe to an annual service plan agreement that covers the repair or replacement of

major components of more than 20 home systems and appliances, including electrical, plumbing, HVAC systems, water heaters,
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refrigerators, dishwashers and ranges/ovens/cooktops, as well as optional coverages for electronics, pools, spas and pumps. Our
operations Frontdoor also include provides on-demand home services and a one-stop app experience for home repair and maintenance.
Enabled by our Streem a technology, platform that uses augmented reality, computer visionthe app empowers homeowners by
connecting them in real time through video chat with qualified experts to diagnose and machine learning to, among other things, help
home service professionals more quickly and accurately diagnose breakdowns and complete repairs. solve their problems. As of
December 31, 2022December 31, 2023, we had 2.1 million2.0 million active home service plans, which were offered
nationally. warranties across all brands in the United States.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we generated revenue, net income and Adjusted EBITDA of $1,780 million, $171
million and $346 million, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2022, we generated revenue, net income and Adjusted
EBITDA of $1,662 million, $71 million and $214 million, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2021, we generated revenue,
net income and Adjusted EBITDA of $1,602 million, $128 million and $300 million, respectively. For a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA
to net income, see “—Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021— Operations—Adjusted EBITDA.”

For the year ended December 31, 2023, our total operating revenue included 77 percent of revenue derived from existing
customer renewals, while eight percent and 11 percent were derived from new home warranty sales made in conjunction with existing
home real estate transactions and direct-to-consumer sales, respectively, and four percent was derived from other revenue channels.
For the year ended December 31, 2022, our total operating revenue included 72 percent of revenue derived from existing customer
renewals, while 11 percent and 13 percent were derived from new home service plan sales made in conjunction with existing home real
estate transactions and direct-to-consumer sales, respectively, and three percent was derived from other revenue channels. For the
year ended December 31, 2021, our total operating revenue included 69 percent of revenue derived from existing customer renewals,
while 16 percent and 13 percent were derived from new home service planwarranty sales made in conjunction with existing home real
estate transactions and direct-to-consumer sales, respectively, and three percent was derived from other revenue channels.

Key Factors and Trends Affecting Our Results of Operations
Macroeconomic Conditions

Changes in Current macroeconomic conditions, including inflation, higher interest rates, the challenging real estate market and
rising global supply chain challenges and the persistence of the COVID-19 pandemic, especially as they geopolitical issues, may affect
existing home sales, interest rates, consumer confidence sentiment or labor availability, availability. These conditions may reduce
demand for our services, increase our costs andor otherwise adversely impact our business. While these macroeconomic conditions
generally impact the United States as a whole, we believe our nationwide presence limits the impact on us of poorunfavorable
economic conditions in any particular region of the United States.
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During 2022, 2023, our financial condition and results of operations were continued to be adversely impacted by the following:

O The challenging Challenging real estate market conditions, driven by a decline in the number of home seller’s market,
driven, in part, by extremelyresale transactions, primarily resulting from higher interest rates, combined with low home
inventory levels, and rising interest rates, continued continue to constrain demand for home setrvice planswarranties in the

first-year real estate channel.

O Consumer sentiment declined in 2022 remains mixed as higher inflation eroded real personal income.a result of a broad

range of current macroeconomic conditions, including pressure on consumer prices and rising interest rates. We believe
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this environment combined with our higher pricesimpacted demand for a home service plan, impacted our ability to add

customers, especially warranties in the first-year direct-to-consumer channel. and renewal channels.

O Our contractors continued contractor network continues to be impacted by inflation, including higher labor, fuel and parts
and equipment costs.costs and labor availability challenges. We continue to take actions to mitigate these impacts,
including increasing the percent of service requests completed by lower-cost preferred contractors, increasing the share of
parts and equipment our contractors source through us at lower costs increasing the percent of service requests completed

by lower-cost preferred contractors and accelerating contractor recruitment other process improvement efforts.

O Industry-wide parts availability gradually improved in the later part of 2022; however, global supply chain challenges

continued to drive costs higher than pre-pandemic levels.

0 Due to labor availability challenges, we continued to experience workforce retention issues, including difficulties in hiring
and retaining employees in customer service operations and throughout our business. We believe our contractors are
experiencing similar workforce challenges.

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

The ultimate implications of the COVID-19 pandemic current macroeconomic conditions on our results of operations and overall
financial performance remain uncertain. Moreover, as a result of the increase in remote or hybrid working arrangements in response to
the pandemic, which trend may continue to persist even as the pandemic continues to subside, a significant number of people may
continue to spend greater time at home, which may result in a continued increase in usage of home systems and appliances and
demand for our services and a resulting increase in service-related costs. Industry-wide supply chain challenges may also continue to
contribute to increased costs and impact the customer experience, which may affect customer retention. Accordingly, the COVID-19
situation remains very fluid, and we continue to adjust our response in real time. It remains difficult to predict the overall continuing
impact the COVID-19 pandemicthese conditions will have on our business as they may reduce demand for our services, increase our
costs or otherwise adversely impact our business.

Seasonality

Our business is subject to seasonal fluctuations, which drives drive variations in our revenue, net income and Adjusted EBITDA
for interim periods. Seasonal fluctuations are primarily driven by a higher number of HVAC work orders in the summer months. In
2022,2023, approximately 21 percent, 29 percent, 29 percent and 21 percent of our revenue, approximately 213 percent, 4741
percent, 3942 percent and 12five percent of our net income, and approximately 1215 percent, 36 35 percent, 37 percent and 1513
percent of our Adjusted EBITDA was recognized in the first, second, third and fourth quarters, respectively.

Effect of Weather Conditions

The demand for our services, and our results of operations, are affected by weather conditions. Extreme temperatures, typically
in the winter and summer months, can lead to an increase in service requests related to home systems, particularly HVAC systems,
resulting in higher claim frequency and costs and lower profitability, while mild temperatures in the winter or summer months can lead to
lower home systems claim frequency. frequency, resulting in lower costs and higher profitability. For example, unfavorable weather
trends in the fourth quarter of 2022 as compared to the fourth quarter of 2021 negatively impacted contract claims costs, while favorable
weather trends in the first quarter of 20222023 as compared to the first quarter 2022 resulted in a lower number of 2021 service
requests per customer, which favorably impacted contract claims costs.

While weather variations as described above may affect our business, major weather events and other similar Acts of God, or
natural disaster disasters such as typhoons, hurricanes, tornadoes, wildfires or earthquakes, typically do not increase our obligations to
provide service. Generally, repairs associated with such isolated events are addressed by homeowners’ and other forms of insurance as
opposed to the home service plans warranties that we offer.

Tariff and Import/Export Regulations
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Changes in U.S. tariff and import/export regulations may impact the costs of parts, appliances and home systems. Import duties
or restrictions on components and raw materials that are imposed, or the perception that they could occur, may materially and adversely
affect our business by increasing our costs. For example, rising costs due to blanket tariffs on imported steel and aluminum could
increase the costs of our parts, appliances and home systems.
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Competition

We compete in the U.S. home service planwarranty category and the broader U.S. home services industry. The home service
plan warranty category is highly competitive. While we have a broad range of competitors in each locality and region, we are one of the
onlyfew companies that provide home service plan company providing home service planswarranties nationwide. The broader U.S.
home services industry is also highly competitive. We compete against businesses providing on-demand home services directly and
those offering leads to contractors seeking to provide on-demand home services. The principal methods of competition, and by which
we differentiate ourselves from our competitors, are quality and speed of service, contract offerings, brand awareness and reputation,
customer satisfaction, pricing and promotions, contractor network and referrals. We believe our nationwide network of approximately
15,000 pre-qualified qualified professional contractor firms, in combination with our large base of contracted customers, differentiate us
from other platforms in the home services industry.
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Acquisition Activity
We anticipate that the highly fragmented nature of the home service planwarranty category will continue to create strategic

opportunities for acquisitions. Historically, we have used acquisitions to cost-effectively grow our customer base in high-growth
geographies, and we intend to continue to do so. We may also explore opportunities to make strategic acquisitions that will expand our
service offering in the broader home services industry. We have also used acquisitions to enhance our technological capabilities and
geographic presence. For example, in 2019, we acquired Streem to enable home service professionals to more efficiently interact with
customers and complete repairs, and, in 2020, we acquired a business to expand on-demand home services via their intellectual capital
and know-how, technology platform capabilities and geographic presence.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement our results presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, we have disclosed non-GAAP financial measures that
exclude or adjust certain items. We present within this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” section the non-GAAP financial measures of Adjusted EBITDA and Free Cash Flow. See “—Results of Operations for the
Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021— Operations—Adjusted EBITDA” for a reconciliation of net income to Adjusted EBITDA and
“—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Free Cash Flow” for a reconciliation of net cash provided from operating activities to Free Cash
Flow, as well as “Key Business Metrics” for further discussion of Adjusted EBITDA and Free Cash Flow. Management uses Adjusted
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin to facilitate operating performance comparisons from period to period. period, and Adjusted
EBITDA is also a component of our incentive compensation program. We believe these non-GAAP financial measures provide
investors, analysts and other interested parties useful information to evaluate our business performance as they facilitate company-to-
company operating performance comparisons. Management believes Free Cash Flow is useful as a supplemental measure of our
liquidity. Management uses Free Cash Flow to facilitate company-to-company cash flow comparisons, which may vary from company to
company for reasons unrelated to operating performance. While we believe these non-GAAP financial measures are useful in

evaluating our business, they should be considered as supplemental in nature and are not meant to be considered in isolation or as a
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substitute for the related financial information prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In addition, these non-GAAP financial measures
may not be the same as similarly entitled measures reported by other companies, limiting their usefulness as comparative measures.
Key Business Metrics

We focus on a variety of indicators and key operating and financial metrics to monitor the financial condition and performance of

the continuing operations of our business. These metrics include:
O revenue,
O operating expenses,
O netincome,
O earnings per share,
0 Adjusted EBITDA,
O Adjusted EBITDA margin,
O net cash provided from operating activities,
0 Free Cash Flow,
0 growth in number of home service plans, warranties, and

O customer retention rate.
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Revenue. The majority of our revenue is generated from annual home service planwarranty contracts entered into with our
customers. Home service planwarranty contracts are typically one year in duration. We recognize revenue at the agreed upon
contractual amount over time using the input method in proportion to the costs expected to be incurred in performing services under the
contracts. Our revenue is primarily a function of the volume and pricing of the services provided to our customers, as well as the mix of
services provided. Our revenue volume is impacted by new home service planwarranty sales, customer retention and acquisitions. We
derive substantially all of our revenue from customers in the United States.

Operating Expenses. In addition to changes in our revenue, our operating results are affected by, among other things, the level
of our operating expenses. Our operating expenses primarily include contract claims costs and expenses associated with sales and
marketing, customer service and general corporate overhead. A number of our operating expenses are subject to inflationary pressures,
such as: salaries and wages, employee benefits and healthcare; contractor costs; parts, appliances and home systems costs; tariffs;
insurance premiums; and various regulatory compliance costs.

33

Net Income and Earnings Per Share. The presentation of net income and basic and diluted earnings per share provides
measures of performance which are useful for investors, analysts and other interested parties in company-to-company operating
performance comparisons. Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average
number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period, increased to include the number of shares of common stock that

would have been outstanding had potentially dilutive shares of common stock been issued. The dilutive effect, if any, of stock options,
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performance options (which are stock options that become exercisable upon the achievement, in whole or in part, of the applicable
performance goals, pursuant to the terms of the Omnibus Plan and the award agreement), restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance
shares (which are contractual rights to receive a share of our common stock (or the cash equivalent thereof) upon the achievement, in
whole or in part, of the applicable performance goals, pursuant to the terms of the Omnibus Plan and the award agreement) and
restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) are reflected in diluted earnings per share by applying the treasury stock method.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin. \We evaluate our operating and financial performance primarily based on
Adjusted EBITDA, which is a financial measure not calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net
income before: depreciation and amortization expense; goodwill and intangibles impairment; restructuring charges; provision for income
taxes; non-cash stock-based compensation expense; interest expense; loss on extinguishment of debt; and other non-operating
expenses. We define “Adjusted EBITDA margin” as Adjusted EBITDA divided by revenue. We believe Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA margin are useful for investors, analysts and other interested parties as they facilitate company-to-company operating
performance comparisons by excluding potential differences caused by variations in capital structures, taxation, the age and book
depreciation of facilities and equipment, restructuring initiatives and equity-based, long-term incentive plans.

Net Cash Provided from Operating Activities and Free Cash Flow. We focus on measures designed to monitor cash flow,
including net cash provided from operating activities and Free Cash Flow. Free Cash Flow which is a financial measure that is not
calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP and represents net cash provided from operating activities less property additions.

Growth in Number of Home Service Plans Warranties and Customer Retention Rate. \We report on our growth in number
of home service planswarranties and customer retention rate as measurements of our operating performance. These measurements
are presented on a rolling 12-month basis in order to track the performance avoid seasonal anomalies. The number of home warranties
is representative of our business. Home service plans represent our recurring home warranty customer base which includesand is
measured as the number of customers with active contracts for recurring services. as of the respective period end date. Our customer
retention rate is calculated as the ratio of the number of ending end-of-period home service plans warranty contracts to the sum of the
number of beginning beginning-of-period home service plans, warranty contracts and the number of new home service planwarranty
sales and acquired accounts for during the applicable respective period. These measures are presented on a rolling, 12-month basis in
order to avoid seasonal anomalies.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

This “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” is based upon ourthe audited
consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which have been prepared in accordance with
U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis,
we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to: revenue recognition; home service planwarranty claims accruals;
the valuation of property and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets; useful lives for recognizing depreciation and amortization
expense; accruals for current and deferred tax accounts; stock-based compensation expense; and litigation matters. We base our
estimates on historical experience and on various other factors and assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

We believe the following accounting policies are most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of
operations and require our most significant estimates and judgments.

34
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Home Service Plan Warranty Claims Accruals

Home service planwarranty claims costs are expensed as incurred. Accruals for home service planwarranty claims are made
using internal actuarial projections, which are based on current claims and historical claims experience. Accruals are established based
on estimates of the ultimate cost to settle claims. Home service planwarranty claims take approximately three months to settle, on
average, and substantially all claims are settled within six months of incurrence. The amount of time required to settle a claim can vary
based on a number of factors, including whether a replacement is ultimately required. In addition to our estimates, we engage a third-
party actuary to perform an accrual analysis utilizing generally accepted actuarial methods that incorporate cumulative historical claims
experience and information provided by us. We regularly review our estimates of claims costs along with the third-party analysis and
adjust our estimates when appropriate. We believe the use of actuarial methods to account for these liabilities provides a consistent and
effective way to measure these judgmental accruals. However, the use of any estimation technique in this area is inherently sensitive
given the magnitude of claims involved. Given the current operating environment, which includes For example, industry-wide parts and
equipment availability challenges and inflation can impact our ability to estimate the cost to settle claims is further challenged. claims.
We believe our recorded obligations for these expenses are consistently measured. Nevertheless, changes in claims costs can
materially affect the estimates for these liabilities.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized and are subject to assessment for impairment on an annual
basis, or more frequently if circumstances indicate their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. a potential impairment. We perform
our annual assessment for impairment on October 1 of every year. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for
impairment at the reporting unit level by level. The Company can elect to first performing perform a qualitative assessment to determine
whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the reporting unit does not
pass the qualitative assessment, or if the Company does not elect to perform the initial qualitative assessment, then the reporting unit's
carrying amount is compared to its fair value. The fair values of the reporting units are estimated using market and discounted cash flow
approaches. The discounted cash flow approach uses expected future operating results. The market approach uses comparable
company information to determine revenue and earnings multiples to value our reporting units. Failure to achieve these expected results
or market multiples may cause a future impairment of goodwill at the reporting unit. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are
considered impaired if the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value.

In connection with the preparation of our condensed audited consolidated financial statements for the third quarter of 2022, we
determined that indicators of a potential goodwill and intangible assets impairment were present for our Streem reporting unit. In
particular, we will now be more focusedbegan to shift the focus of our Streem technology platform to primarily concentrate on
integrating Streem’sthe technology into the our core business and will be less focused on selling product offerings. We continue to
license this technology platform to third-party business-to-business customers as a software-as-a-service platform. platform but intend to
discontinue this third-party business by the end of 2024. This shift in focus resulted in significantly lower projected revenue for Streem.
We performed an interim impairment analysis of the Streem reporting unit as of September 30, 2022. In performing the discounted cash
flow analysis, we determined that the carrying amount of the Streem reporting unit exceeded its fair value. An impairment charge of $14
million was recognized during the third quarter of 2022, which comprised the remaining net carrying amount of Streem’s goodwill of $9
million and intangibles intangible assets of $5 million.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we do not believe there are any additional circumstances that would indicate
aany other potential impairment of our goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets. We will continue to monitor the macroeconomic
impacts on our business in our ongoing evaluation of potential impairments. Other than the impairment to our Streem reporting unit
discussed above, there were no goodwill or trade name impairment charges recorded during the years ended December 31, 2022 or
2021. See Note 4 to the audited consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information

related to our goodwill and intangible assets.
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Newly Issued Accounting Standards

New accounting rules and disclosure requirements can significantly impact our reported results and the comparability of our

financial statements. See Note 2 to the audited consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

for further information on newly issued accounting standards.
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Increase

Increase

Year Ended
Year Ended December 31, (Decrease) % of Revenue December 31, (Decrease) % of Revenue
2023 vs.

(In millions) 2022 2021 2022 vs. 2021 2022 2021 2023 2022 2022 2023 2022
Revenue $ 1,662 $ 1,602 4 % 100 % 100 %$1,780 $1,662 7 %100 %100 %
Cost of services rendered 952 818 16 57 51 895 952 (6) 50 57
Gross Profit 710 784 (20) 43 49 885 710 25 50 43
Selling and administrative
expenses 521 511 2 31 32 581 521 11 33 31
Depreciation and amortization
expense 34 35 3) 2 2 37 34 9 2 2
Goodwill and intangibles
impairment 14 — * — — 14 * o — 1
Restructuring charges 20 3 * — 16 20 (22)
Interest expense 31 39 (29) 2 2 40 31 26 2 2
Interest and net investment
income (4 (1) * — — (16 4 329 (1) —
Loss on extinguishment of debt = 31 * — 2
Income before Income Taxes 93 168 (44) 6 10 229 93 145 13 6
Provision for income taxes 22 39 (43) 1 2 57 22 157 3 1
Net Income $ 71 128 (45)% 4% 8%$ 171$ 71 141% 10% 4%

* not meaningful

Revenue

We reported revenue of $1,662$1,780 million and $1,602 million$1,662 million for the years ended December 31,

2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021,2022, respectively. Revenue The following table provides a summary of our revenue by major

customer acquisition channel is as follows: channel:

(In millions)

Year Ended December 31,

Increase (Decrease)

Year Ended Increase

December 31, (Decrease)

2022

2021

2022 vs. 2021 2023

2022 2023 vs. 2022
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Renewals $ 1,203 $ 1,103 $ 100 9 % $1,367 $1,203 $164 14 %

Real estate(!) 184 252 (68) (27) 141 184 (43)(23)
Direct-to-consumer(l) 219 201 19 9 194 219 (25)(12)
Other 56 46 9 19 77 56 22 40
Total $ 1,662 $ 1,602 $ 59 4% $1,780 $1,662 $118 7 %

(1) First-year revenue only.

Revenue increased four seven percent for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022. The increase in renewal revenue primarily reflects improved price realization and growth in the
number of renewed home service plans. resulting from our prior pricing actions. The decrease in real estate revenue primarily reflects a
decline in the number of first-year real estate home service planswarranties driven by a continuation of the challenging home seller’s
market. real estate market, offset, in part, by improved price realization from our prior pricing actions. The increase decrease in direct-to-
consumer revenue primarily reflects improved price realization and a mix shift to higher priced products, offset, in part, by a decline in
the number of first-year direct-to-consumer home service plans. warranties, which we believe was driven by a decline in overall category
demand for home warranties. The increase in other revenue was primarily driven by growth in on-demand home services.

Number The following table provides a summary of the number of home service plans, warranties, reduction in number of home
service plans warranties and customer retention rate are presented below. rate:

As of December

As of December 31, 31,
(In millions) 2022 2021 2023 2022
Number of home service plans 2.13 2.21
Reduction in number of home service plans @)% 2)%
Number of home warranties 2.00 2.13
Reduction in number of home warranties 6)% (4%
Customer retention rate 75.7 % 74.2 % 76.2 %75.7 %

The reduction in the number of home service planswarranties as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 was primarily
impacted by a decline in the number of first-year real estate home service plans, which was warranties driven by a continuation of the
challenging real estate market, as well as a decline in the number of direct-to-consumer home seller’s market. warranties, which we
believe was driven by a decline in overall category demand for home warranties.
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Cost of Services Rendered
We reported cost of services rendered of $952$895 million and $818$952 million for the years ended December 31,

2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. The following table provides a summary of the changes in cost of services

rendered:
(In millions)
Year Ended December 31, 2021 $ 818
Year Ended December 31, 2022 $952
Impact of change in revenue 3 @
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Contract claims costs 137 (52)

Year Ended December 31, 2022 $ 952
Other 3
Year Ended December 31, 2023 $895

The increase impact of change in revenue is driven by the reduction in number of home warranties, offset, in part, by growth in
on-demand home services.

The decrease in contract claims costs primarily reflects inflationary cost pressures,a lower number of service requests per
customer, including rising contractor-related expenses and higher parts and equipment costs. In addition,a $30 million favorable
weather impact. The favorable impact on contract claims costs for of continued process improvement initiatives specifically relating to
better cost management efforts across our contractor network and a transition to higher service fees, were offset, in part, by ongoing
inflationary cost pressures. Additionally, contract claims costs reflects an $11 million favorable adjustment related to the year ended
December 31, 2022 include development of prior period claims, compared to a $12 million unfavorable adjustment related to the
adverse development of prior period claims. in 2022.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

We reported selling and administrative expenses of $521 million $581 million and $511$521 million for the years ended

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. The following table provides a summary of the components of

selling and administrative expenses:

Year Ended
Year Ended December 31, December 31,
(In millions) 2022 2021 2023 2022
Sales and marketing costs $ 253 $ 245 $299 $253
Customer service costs 112 116 106 112
General and administrative costs 157 150 176 157
Total $ 521 511 $581 521
The following table provides a summary of the changes in selling and administrative expenses:
(In millions)
Year Ended December 31, 2021 $ 511
Year Ended December 31, 2022 $521
Sales and marketing costs 8 46
Customer service costs 4) (6)
Stock-based compensation expense 3) 4
General and administrative costs 10
Year Ended December 31, 2022 $ 521
Other general and administrative costs i
Year Ended December 31, 2023 $581

The increase in sales Sales and marketing costs wasincreased primarily driven by increased investmentsdue to drive sales
growth our investment in marketing associated with the home service plan Frontdoor brand and our direct-to-consumer channel. The
decrease in customer service costs was primarily driven by lower labor costs due to a lower number of service requests. The increase in
general General and administrative costs was increased primarily driven by higher due to increased personnel and insurance costs and
increased professional fees. costs.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
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Depreciation expense was $27 $32 million and $24 $27 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and
2021, 2022, respectively, with the increase primarily driven by depreciation associated withincremental capital expenditures in the
period. Amortization expense was $7 million $4 million and $11 million $7 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31,
2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively, with the decrease primarily driven by certain intangible assets becoming fully amortized during
2021. the impairment to the Streem reporting unit in the third quarter of 2022.
Goodwill and Intangibles Impairment

Goodwill and intangibles impairment was $14 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. There was no such impairment for
the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023. See “—Ciritical Accounting Policies and Estimates—Goodwill and Intangible
Assets” for further information.
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Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges were $20 million $16 million and $3 million $20 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 December
31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively.

In 2023, restructuring charges primarily comprised $10 million in non-cash impairment charges related to the operating lease
right-of-use assets and related property and equipment of certain of our leased and company-owned facilities as discussed further in
Note 5 to the audited consolidated financial statements included in Iltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, $2 million of professional
fees and $3 million of severance costs. The impairment charges were the result of our decision to exit the leased and company-owned
properties. The severance costs related to our continued review and optimization of selling, general and administrative expenses.

In 2022, restructuring charges primarily comprised an $11 million impairment charge related to our prior corporate headquarters
facility operating lease right-of-use asset and leasehold improvements, a $2 million impairment of certain internally developed software,
$1 million of accelerated depreciation related to the early termination of a lease, and $6 million of severance and other costs. Severance
costs of $2 million related to a reduction in workforce of seven percent as part of our completed strategic review of our selling, general
and administrative expenses.

In 2021, restructuring charges comprised $1 million of accelerated depreciation of certain technology systems driven by efforts
to enhance our technological capabilities and $1 million of severance and other costs.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $31 million $40 million and $39 million $31 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31,
2023 and 2021,2022, respectively. The decreaseincrease was primarily driven by higher interest rates on our debt reduction and
refinancing activities in 2021. variable rate debt.

Interest and Net Investment Income

Interest and net investment income reflects income ofwas $16 million and $4 million and $1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. The increase driven was primarily driven by higher interest rates
on our cash and cash equivalent balances.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

Loss on extinguishment of debt was $31 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. Amounts relate to our debt reduction

and refinancing activities in 2021. There were no such charges for the year ended December 31, 2022.
Provision for Income Taxes
The effective tax rate on income was 23.825.0 percent and 23.423.8 percent for the years ended December 31,

2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. The increase in the effective tax rate was primarily due to a reduction in income
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tax credits in 2023, offset, in part, by the impact of the goodwill and intangibles impairment recorded in 2022 and the impact of a lower
pre-tax income in 2022.
Net Income

Net income was $71$171 million and $128$71 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and
2021,2022, respectively, with the decreaseincrease primarily driven by the operating results discussed throughout “—Results of
Operations” above.
Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA was $214 million$346 million and $300 million$214 million for the years ended December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021,2022, respectively. The following table provides a summary of the changes in our Adjusted
EBITDA. EBITDA:

(In millions)

Year Ended December 31, 2021 $ 300

Year Ended December 31, 2022 $214
Impact of change in revenue 62 126
Contract claims costs (237) 52
Sales and marketing costs (8) (46)
Customer service costs 4 6
General and administrative costs (20) (15)
Interest and net investment income 3 13

Year Ended December 31, 2022 $ 214
Other &

Year Ended December 31, 2023 $346

The increase impact of change in contract claims costs primarily revenue reflects inflationary cost pressures, including rising
contractor-related expenses and higher parts and equipment costs. In addition, contract claims costs forimproved price realization,
offset, in part, by the year ended December 31, 2022 include a $12 million unfavorable adjustment related to the adverse development
of prior period claims.

The increase reduction in sales and marketing costs was primarily driven by increased investments to drive sales growth in the
home service plan direct-to-consumer channel. The decrease in customer service costs was primarily driven by lower labor costs due to
a lower number of service requests. The increase in general and administrative costs was primarily driven by higher personnel and
insurance costs and increased professional fees. home warranties.
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The following table reconciles decrease in contract claims costs primarily reflects a lower number of service requests per
customer, including a $30 million favorable weather impact. The favorable impact on contract claims costs of continued process
improvement initiatives specifically relating to better cost management efforts across our contractor network and a transition to higher
service fees, were offset, in part, by ongoing inflationary cost pressures. Additionally, contract claims costs reflects an $11 million
favorable adjustment related to the development of prior period claims, compared to a $12 million unfavorable adjustment in 2022.

Sales and marketing costs increased primarily due to our investment in marketing associated with the Frontdoor brand and our

direct-to-consumer channel. The decrease in customer service costs was primarily driven by a lower number of service requests.
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General and administrative costs increased primarily due to increased personnel costs.

The increase in interest and net investment income which we consider to be the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial
measure, was driven by higher interest rates on our cash and cash equivalent balances.

A reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA. EBITDA is as follows:

Year Ended
Year Ended December 31, December 31,
(In millions) 2022 2021 2023 2022
Net Income $ 71 $ 128 $171$ 71
Depreciation and amortization expense 34 35 37 34
Goodwill and intangibles impairment® 14 —  — 14
Restructuring charges(l) 20 3 16 20
Provision for income taxes 22 39 57 22
Non-cash stock-based compensation expense(z) 22 25 26 22
Interest expense 31 39 40 31
Loss on extinguishment of debtd) — 31
Adjusted EBITDA $ 214 $ 300 $346 $214

(1) We exclude goodwill and intangibles impairment and restructuring charges and loss on extinguishment of debt from Adjusted
EBITDA because we believe they do not reflect our ongoing operations and because we believe doing so is useful to investors in

aiding period-to-period comparability.

(2) We exclude non-cash stock-based compensation expense from Adjusted EBITDA primarily because it is a non-cash expense and
because it is not used by management to assess ongoing operational performance. We believe excluding this expense from

Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors in aiding period-to-period comparability.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity

A substantial portion of our liquidity needs are due to debt service requirements on our indebtedness. The Credit Agreement
contains covenants that limit or restrict our ability, including the ability of certain of our subsidiaries, to incur additional indebtedness,
repurchase debt, incur liens, sell assets, make certain payments (including dividends) and enter into transactions with affiliates. As of
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with the covenants under the Credit Agreement that were in effect as of
this date. Based on current conditions, we Agreement. We do not believe the acceleration of inflationary cost pressures, global supply
chain challenges and the persistence of the COVID-19 pandemic current macroeconomic conditions will affect our ongoing ability to
meet our debt covenants.

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $292 million $325 million and $262 million $292 million as of December 31, 2022 December

31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. Our cash and cash equivalents include balances associated with regulatory requirements in our
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business. See “—Limitations on Distributions and Dividends by Subsidiaries.” As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and
2021, 2022, the total net assets subject to these third-party regulatory restrictions were $145 million $157 million and $175 million $145
million, respectively. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, there were $2 million of letters of credit outstanding under our $250
million Revolving Credit Facility, and the available borrowing capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility was $248 million. The letters of
credit are posted in lieu of cash to satisfy regulatory requirements in certain states in which we operate. We currently believe that cash
generated from operations, our cash on hand and available borrowing capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 will provide us with sufficient liquidity to meet our obligations in the short- and long-term.

In March 2023, in connection with the planned phase-out of LIBOR, we amended our Credit Facilities to replace LIBOR with
SOFR as the benchmark rate under the Credit Agreement. This change was effective in March 2023 for Term Loan A and the Revolving
Credit Facility and in June 2023 for Term Loan B.

We closely monitor the performance of our investment portfolio. portfolio, primarily cash deposits. From time to time, we review
the statutory reserve requirements to which our regulated entities are subject and any changes to such requirements. These reviews
may result in identifying current reserve levels above or below minimum statutory reserve requirements, in which case we may adjust
our reserves. The reviews may also identify opportunities to satisfy certain regulatory reserve requirements through alternate financial
vehicles.

We have a diversified investment strategy for our cash investments and give priority to the major financial institutions that serve
as lenders under the Credit Agreement. Generally, our cash deposits may be redeemed on demand and are maintained with major
financial institutions with solid credit ratings, although our holdings exceed insured limits in substantially all of our accounts.

We may, from time to time, issue new debt, repurchase or otherwise retire or extend our debt and/or take other steps to reduce
our debt or otherwise improve our financial position, gross leverage, results of operations or cash flows. These actions may include new
debt issuance, open market debt repurchases, negotiated repurchases, other retirements of outstanding debt and/or opportunistic
refinancing of debt. The amount of debt that may be issued, repurchased or otherwise retired or refinanced, if any, and the price of such
issuances, repurchases, retirements or refinancings will depend on market conditions, trading levels of our debt, our cash position,
compliance with debt covenants and other considerations.

On September 7, 2021, we announced a three-year repurchase authorization of up to $400 million of outstanding shares of our
common stock. We expect to fund the share repurchases from net cash provided from operating activities.As of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023, we have purchased repurchased a total of 4,478,194 8,082,819 outstanding shares at an aggregate a cost of
$162 million under this program, $281 million, which is included in treasury stock on the consolidated statements of financial position,,
and wehad $238 million$119 million remaining available for future repurchases under thethis program. Purchases under the
repurchase program may be made from time to time by the company in the open market at prevailing market prices (including through a
Rule 10b5-1 Plan), in privately negotiated transactions, or through any combination of these methods, through September 3, 2024. The
actual timing, number, manner and value of any shares repurchased will depend on several factors, including the market price of the
company'’s stock, general market and economic conditions, the company’s liquidity requirements, applicable legal requirements and
other business considerations. The repurchase program does not obligate us to acquire any number of shares in any specific period or
at all and may be suspended or discontinued at any time at our discretion.

Limitations on Distributions and Dividends by Subsidiaries

We depend on our subsidiaries to distribute funds to us so that we may pay obligations and expenses, including satisfying
obligations with respect to indebtedness. The ability of our subsidiaries to make distributions and dividends to us depends on their
operating results, cash requirements, financial condition and general business conditions, as well as restrictions under the laws of our
subsidiaries’ jurisdictions.

Our subsidiaries are permitted under the terms of the Credit Agreement and other indebtedness to incur additional

indebtedness that may restrict or prohibit the making of distributions, the payment of dividends or the making of loans by such
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subsidiaries to us.
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Furthermore, there are third-party regulatory restrictions on the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to transfer funds to us. These
restrictions are related to regulatory requirements. The payments of ordinary and extraordinary dividends by certain of our subsidiaries
(through which we conduct our business) are subject to significant regulatory restrictions under the laws and regulations of the states in
which they operate. Among other things, such laws and regulations require certain subsidiaries to maintain minimum capital and net
worth requirements and may limit the amount of ordinary and extraordinary dividends and other payments that these subsidiaries can
pay to us. We expect that such limitations will be in effect for the foreseeable future. In Texas, we are relieved of the obligation to post
75 percent of our otherwise required reserves because we operate a captive insurer approved by Texas regulators in order to satisfy
such obligations. None of our subsidiaries are obligated to make funds available to us through the payment of dividends.

Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities, for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, as reflected in

the audited consolidated statements of cash flows included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, are summarized in the

following table. table:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
(In millions) 2022 2021 2023 2022
Net cash provided from (used for):
Operating activities $ 142 % 185 $ 202 $142
Investing activities (35) (31) (32) (35)
Financing activities (77) (489) (137) (77)
Cash increase (decrease) during the period $ 29 % (335)
Cash increase during the period $ 34% 29

Operating Activities

Net cash provided from operating activities was $202 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $142 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to $185 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Net cash provided from operating activities in 2023 comprised $242 million in earnings adjusted for non-cash charges, offset, in
part, by $7 million in payments for restructuring charges and $33 million in cash used for working capital. Cash used for working capital
was primarily driven by a decline in the number of first-year real estate home warranties, which are typically paid for upfront at the time
of closing on the home sale, and favorable development of prior period claims.

Net cash provided from operating activities in 2022 comprised $151 million in earnings adjusted for non-cash charges, offset, in
part, by $5 million in payments for restructuring charges and $5 million in cash used for working capital. Cash used for working capital
was primarily driven by the unfavorable impact on deferred revenue of a decline in the number of first-year real estate home service
plans, warranties, which are typically paid for upfront at the time of closing on the home sale. Cash used for working capital was also
impacted by increased accounts payable and accrued liabilities balances due to the impact of inflation on contractor and supplier costs
and trade payables.

Net cash provided from operating activities in 2021 comprised $223 million in earnings adjusted for non-cash charges, offset, in part, by

$38 million in cash used for working capital. Cash used for working capital was primarily driven by the impacts on deferred revenue of a
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decline in the number of first-year real-estate home service plans and a shift in the mix of annual-pay customers to monthly-pay
customers.
Investing Activities

Net cash used for investing activities was $35 million $32 million and $31 million $35 million for the years ended December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively.

Capital expenditures were $32 million and $40 million in 2023 and $31 million in 2022, and 2021, respectively, and included
recurring capital needs and technology projects. We expect capital expenditures for the full year 20232024 relating to committed,
recurring capital needs and the continuation of investments in information systems and productivity enhancing technology to be
approximately $35 million to $45 million. We have no additional material capital commitments at this time.

Cash flows provided from other investing activities in 2022 were $4 million and consisted of proceeds received from the sale of
a prior customer care center in LaGrange, Georgia. There were no cash flows provided from other investing activities in 2023.

Financing Activities

Net cash used for financing activities was $77 $137 million and $489 million $77 million for the years ended December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we made scheduled principal payments of debt and finance
lease obligations of $17 million and purchased outstanding shares of our common stock at an aggregate cost of $59 million $121 million.

Repurchases of common stock included associated commissions and taxes of $1 million.
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During the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, we borrowed $638 million, net of discount, under the Term
Loan Facilities, made scheduled principal payments of debt of $17 million and finance lease obligations purchased outstanding shares
of $10 million and redeemed the remaining outstanding principal amounts our common stock at an aggregate cost of $634 million of the
Prior Term Loan Facility and $350 million of the 2026 Notes. In connection with the repayments, we paid a “make-whole” redemption
premium of $21 million on the 2026 Notes and debt issuance costs of $8 million$59 million. In addition, we repurchased $103
million Repurchases of common stock. stock included associated commissions and taxes of less than $1 million.
Free Cash Flow

The following table reconciles net cash provided from operating activities, which we consider to be the most directly comparable
U.S. GAAP measure, to Free Cash Flow using data derived from ourthe audited consolidated financial statements of cash flows

included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Year Ended
Year Ended December 31, December 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021 2023 2022
Net cash provided from operating activities $ 142 % 185 $202 $142
Property additions (40) (31) (32) (40)
Free Cash Flow $ 102 $ 154 $170 $102

Contractual Obligations
The following table presents our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2022. December 31, 2023:

Less More
Less than More than than than
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1-3 3-5 5

(In millions) Total 1 Year 1- 3 Years 3 -5 Years 5 Years Total 1 Year Years Years Years
Principal repayments* $ 615 $ 17 $ 34 3 209 $ 355 $598 $ 17 $222 $359 $ —
Estimated interest

payments(®) 167 35 68 53 11 148 36 72 40 —
Non-cancelable operating

leases*(? 28 5 6 5 12 24 3 5 5 10
Purchase obligations 51 25 25 — — 31 22 9 — —
Home service plan claims* 103 103 — — —

Home warranty claims* 7% 76 @ — — —
Total $ %4 $ 185 $ 133 $ 268 $ 378 $877 $154 $308 $404 $ 10

*

@

@

These items are included in the audited consolidated statements of financial position included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

These amounts represent future interest payments related to existing debt obligations based on interest rates and principal
maturities specified in the Credit Agreement. Payments related to the Term Loan Facilities are based on applicable variable and
fixed interest rates as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 plus the specified margin in the Credit Agreement for each period
presented. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the estimated debt balance as of each fiscal year ending from 2023 2024
through 2027 is $598 million, $581 million, $564 million, $359 million and $355 million, respectively, and the weighted-average
interest rate on the estimated debt balances as of each year ending from 2024 through 2027 is 6.0 percent, 7.5 percent, 7.7 percent
and 7.7 percent, respectively. There is no estimated debt balance as of the fiscal year ending from 2023 through 2027 is 5.7
percent, 5.7 percent, 6.5 percent, 6.6 percent and 6.6 percent, respectively. 2028. See Note 11 to the audited consolidated financial

statements included in Iltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the terms and maturities of existing debt obligations.

These amounts represent future payments relating to real estate operating leases. In August 2023, we entered into a non-
cancelable operating lease agreement for a collaboration center located in Scottsdale, Arizona, which commenced in February 2024
and has an initial term of 10 years, unless terminated earlier. We are obligated to make lease payments totaling approximately $8
million over the lease term, with $1 million in 2024 and $7 million in the years thereafter (2025-2033), which are not included in the
table above.
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Financial Position

The following discussion describes A summary of the significant changes in our financial position from December 31,

2021 December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2022. December 31, 2023 is as follows:

O Intangible assets,Property and equipment, net decreased during 2022,2023, primarily reflecting scheduled
amortization $5 million in non-cash impairment charges relating to us exiting certain leased and a $5 million impairment
of intangibles related to our Streem reporting unit. See “—Ciritical Accounting Policies and Estimates—Goodwill and

Intangible Assets” for further information. company-owned facilities.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 59/156
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

O Accounts payable Operating lease right-of-use assets decreased during 2023, primarily reflecting $5 million in non-cash

impairment charges relating to us exiting certain leased facilities.

O Payroll and related expenses increased during 2022, 2023, primarily reflecting an increase in incentive compensation to
be paid in 2024.

O Home warranty claims decreased during 2023, primarily reflecting the impact of inflation on our contractor, supplier an

$11 million favorable adjustment recorded in 2023 related to the development of prior period claims and trade payables.

0 Homea lower number of service plan claims increased during 2022, primarily reflecting the impact of inflation on our

contractor and supplier costs. requests.

O Deferred revenue decreased during 2022, 2023, reflecting a decline in the number of first-year real estate home service

plans, warranties, which are typically paid for upfront at the time of closing on the home sale.
0 Long-term debt decreased during 2022, 2023, reflecting scheduled debt payments.

O Other long-term Deferred tax liabilities, net decreased during 2022, 2023, reflecting the change in the valuationtiming
differences associated with depreciation of our interest rate swap. fixed assets, certain incentive compensation expense

and right-of-use assets.

O Total shareholders’ equity was $136 million as of December 31, 2023 compared to $61 million as of December 31, 2022
compared to $2 million as of December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023. The increase was primarily driven by net income,
and the change in valuation of our interest rate swap, offset, in part, by repurchases of our common stock. See the
audited consolidated statements of changes in equity (deficit) included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for

further information.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Changes in macroeconomic conditions, including inflation, higher interest rates, the challenging real estate market and rising
global supply chain challenges and the continuing impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on geopolitical issues, may affect existing home
sales, interest rates, consumer confidence, sentiment or labor availability, insurance availability. These conditions may reduce demand
for our services, increase our costs and medical costs or otherwise adversely impact our business, which could have a material adverse
impact on our future results of operations.

We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes and manage this exposure through the use of variable-rate and fixed-
rate debt and by utilizing an interest rate swap. We entered into an interest rate swap agreementcontract in the normal course of
business to manage interest rate risks, with a policy of matching positions. The effect of derivative financial instrument transactions
under the agreement could have a material impact on our financial statements. We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading or speculative purposes.

On October 24, 2018, we entered into an interest rate swap agreementcontract effective October 31, 2018 that expires on
August 16, 2025. The notional amount of the agreement wasis $350 million. Under the terms of the agreement, we will pay a fixed rate
of interest of 3.0865 3.028 percent on the $350 million notional amount, and we will receive a floating rate of interest (based on one-

month LIBOR, SOFR, subject to a floor of zero percent) on the notional amount. Therefore, during the term of the agreement, the
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effective interest rate on $350 million of the Term Loan Facilities is fixed at a rate of 3.08653.028 percent, plus the incremental
borrowing margin of 2.25 percent.

We believe our exposure to interest rate fluctuations could be material to our overall results of operations. A significant portion
of our outstanding debt, including indebtedness under the Credit Facilities, bears interest at variable rates. As a result, increases in
interest rates would increase the cost of servicing our indebtedness and could materially reduce our profitability and cash flows. As of
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, each one percentage point change in interest rates would result in an approximate $3
million $2 million change in the annual interest expense on our Term Loan Facilities after considering the impact of the interest rate
swap. Assuming all revolving loans were fully drawn as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, each one percentage point change
in interest rates would result in an approximate $3 million change in annual interest expense on our Revolving Credit Facility. The
impact of increases in interest rates could be more significant for us than it would be for some other companies because of our
significant indebtedness.

The following table summarizes information about our debt as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 (after considering the
impact of the effective interest rate swap), including the principal cash payments and related weighted-average interest rates by
expected maturity dates based on applicable rates as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

Fair Fair

(In millions) 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter Total Value 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter Total Value
Debt:

Variable

rate $ 17% 17%$ 17 $% 205 $ 4% 5% 265 $264% 17 17 205 4 5 — 248 248
Average

interestrate 6.3% 6.3% 6.3% 6.2% 6.6% 6.6% 6.2% 7.2% 7.2% 7.0% 7.7% 7.7% — 7.0%
Fixed rate $ 350 $ 350 $ 349 - —- — — 350 — 350 350
Average

interest rate 53% 5.3% — — — —53% — 5.3%

During the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the average rates paid and received on the interest rate swap,
before the application of the applicable borrowing margin, were 3.1 3.0 percent and 1.7 5.0 percent, respectively.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Frontdoor, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of Frontdoor, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income, statements of changes in total equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2022 December 31, 2023, and the related notes and the schedules listed in the Index at Iltem 15 (collectively referred to as the

“financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
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Company as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control
over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required
to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error
or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of
critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures
to which it relates.

Accrual for Home Service Plan Warranty Claims — Refer to Notes 2 and 8 of the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company maintains an accrual for the cost to complete home service plan warranty claims when the total amount ultimate
cost of the claims is not yet known. The estimate is determined using an internal analysis based on current claims and historical claims
experience, and an analysis performed byexperience. In addition, the Company engages a third-party actuary to develop an
independent estimate of the ultimate costs using generally accepted actuarial methods that incorporate cumulative claims experience
and information provided by the Company. The Company regularly reviews its estimates of claims costs and adjusts the estimates, as
needed.

We identified the accrual for home service planwarranty claims as a critical audit matter because estimating the cost to
complete home service warranty claims involves significant estimation by management due to the subjectivity involved in determining
loss development factors for outstanding claims, including the impact of underlying business changes and market trends on the ultimate
costs. This required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort, including the need to involve our actuarial
specialists, when performing audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of the accrual for home service planwarranty claims as
of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.
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How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the home service planwarranty claims accrual included the following, among others:

0O We tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the home service planwarranty claims accrual, including those
over the Company’s internal analysis to project the ultimate costs associated with settling each claim as well as
oversight of the actuary and related assumptions. Additionally, we tested the operating effectiveness over the controls

covering the completeness and accuracy of the claims data underlying the accrual process.

O We compared management’s prior periods assumptions of expected development to actual development during the
current year and subsequent period to identify potential bias in the determination of the home service planwarranty

claims accrual.
0  With the assistance of our actuarial specialists:

O We evaluated the methods and assumptions used by management to estimate the home service planwarranty
claims accrual.

O We developed independent estimates of the home service planwarranty claims accrual and compared our

estimate to management’s estimate.

O We tested the underlying data that served as the basis for the Company’s internal analysis and their actuary’s analysis,

including historical claims, to ensure that the inputs to the estimates were complete and accurate.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP
Memphis, Tennessee
March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2017.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income

(In millions, except per share data)

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,

2022 2021 2020 2023 2022 2021
Revenue $ 1662 $ 1,602 $ 1,474 $1,780 $1,662 $1,602
Cost of services rendered 952 818 758 895 952 818
Gross Profit 710 784 716 885 710 784
Selling and administrative expenses 521 511 467 581 521 511
Depreciation and amortization expense 34 35 34 37 34 35
Goodwill and intangibles impairment 14 — — — 14 —
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Restructuring charges 20 3 8 16 20 3
Interest expense 31 39 57 40 31 39
Interest and net investment (income) loss (4) (1) 1
Interest and net investment income (16) 4) Q)
Loss on extinguishment of debt == 31 — — — 31
Income before Income Taxes 93 168 149 229 93 168
Provision for income taxes 22 39 37 57 22 39
REcanE $ 71 $ 128 $ 112$ 171$ 71$ 128
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Income Taxes: -
Net unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instruments 27 15 (12)
Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Income
Taxes: 27 15 12)
Total Comprehensive Income $ 98 3 143 3 100
Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income, Net of Income Taxes:
Unrealized (loss) gain on derivative instruments, net of income
taxes 3) 27 15
Total Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income, Net of Income
Taxes ® 27 15
Comprehensive Income $ 169% 98% 143
Earnings per Share: N
Basic $ 0.87 $ 151 $ 1.32 $ 2.13$ 087 $ 1.51
Diluted $ 087 $ 150 $ 131§ 2.12$ 087 $ 1.50
Weighted-average Common Shares Outstanding: - N -
Basic 81.8 85.1 85.2 805 818 851
Diluted 82.0 85.5 855 809 820 855
See the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
47
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(In millions, except share data)
As of As of
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Assets:
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 292 % 262 $ 325% 292
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Receivables, less allowance of $4 and $4, respectively
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Receivables, less allowance of $5 and $4, respectively

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total Current Assets

Other Assets:

Property and equipment, net
Goodwill

Intangible assets, net

Operating lease right-of-use assets
Deferred customer acquisition costs

Other assets

Total Assets
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity:
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities:
Payroll and related expenses
Home service plan claims
Home warranty claims
Other
Deferred revenue
Current portion of long-term debt
Total Current Liabilities
Long-Term Debt
Other Long-Term Liabilities:
Deferred taxes
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Operating lease liabilities
Other long-term obligations
Other long-term liabilities

Total Other Long-Term Liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 8)

Shareholders' Equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 2,000,000,000 shares authorized; 86,079,773
shares issued and 81,517,243 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and
85,798,765 shares issued and 83,232,481 shares outstanding as of December 31,
2021
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5 7
33 25
6 5
32 33
330 295 363 330
66 66 60 66
503 512 503 503
148 159 143 148
11 17 3 11
16 16 12 16
8 5 5 8
$ 1,082 1,069 $1,089 $1,082
$ 80 66 76% 80
22 24 38 22
103 88
76 103
21 28 22 21
121 155 102 121
17 17 17 17
364 378 331 364
592 608 577 592
39 41
25 39
18 19 16 18
8 21
5 8
65 81 46 65
1 1
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Common stock, $0.01 par value; 2,000,000,000 shares authorized; 86,553,387
shares issued and 78,378,511 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and
86,079,773 shares issued and 81,517,243 shares outstanding as of December 31,

2022 1 1
Additional paid-in capital 90 70 117 90
Retained earnings 124 53 296 124
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 8 (18)

Less common stock held in treasury, at cost; 4,562,530 shares as of December 31,

2022 and 2,566,284 shares as of December 31, 2021 (162) (203)

Accumulated other comprehensive income 6 8
Less treasury stock, at cost; 8,174,876 shares as of December 31, 2023 and

4,562,530 shares as of December 31, 2022 (283) (162)
Total Shareholders' Equity 61 2 136 61
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity $ 1,082 % 1,069 $1,089 $1,082

See the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

48

Consolidated Statements of Changes in (Deficit) Equity

(In millions)

(Accumulated Accumulated (Accumulated Accumulated
Additional  Deficit) Other Additional  Deficit) Other
Common Paid-in Retained ComprehensiveTreasury(Deficit) Common Paid-in Retained ComprehensiveTreasury(Deficit)

Shares Stock Capital Earnings (Loss) Income Stock Equity Shares Stock Capital Earnings (Loss) Income Stock Equity

Balances as
of December
31, 2019 85 % 1% 29% (188)$ (21)$ —$ (179)

Net income — — — 112 — — 112
Stock-based

compensation — — 17 — — — 17
Taxes paid

related to net

share

settlement of

equity awards = = 2) — — — )
Issuance of

common stock

related to
ESPP — — 1 — — — 1
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Other
comprehensive
loss, net of tax
Balances as
of December
31, 2020

Net income
Stock-based
compensation
Stock-based
compensation
expense
Exercise of
stock options
Taxes paid
related to net
share
settlement of
equity awards
Issuance of
common stock
related to
ESPP
Repurchase of
common stock
Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax

Balances as
of December
31, 2021

Net income
Stock-based
compensation
Stock-based
compensation

expense

— — — — (12) — (12
85% 1% 46 $ (75)$ (33)$ —$ (61) 85% 1% 46$ (75)$ (33)$ —$ (61)
— — — 128 — — 128 — — — 128 — — 128
— — 25 — — — 25

— — 25 — — — 25
— — 2 — — — 2 — — 2 — — — 2
— — (®) — — — ®) — — ®) — — — ®)
— — 2 — — — 2 — — 2 — = = 2
©) — — = —  (103) (203) (3) — — — — (103) (103)
— — — — 15 — 15 — — — — 15 — i
83 % 1% 70% 53$ (18)3 (103)3 2  83% 13 70% 53% (18)$ (103)3 2
— — — 71 — — 7 — — — 71 — — N
— — 22 — — - 22

— — 22 — — - 22
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Taxes paid
related to net
share
settlement of
equity awards
Issuance of
common stock
related to
ESPP
Repurchase of
common stock
Other
comprehensive
income, net of
tax

Balances as
of December
31, 2022

Net income
Stock-based
compensation
expense
Exercise of
stock options
Taxes paid
related to net
share
settlement of
equity awards
Issuance of
common stock
related to
ESPP
Repurchase of
common stock
Other
comprehensive
loss, net of tax
Balances as
of December

31, 2023

— (©)] — — — (©) — — (©)] — — — (©)]
_ 1 — — — 1 — — 1 — — — 1
@ — — — (59 (9 (@ — — — — (59 (59
— — — 27 — 27 — — — — 27 — 27
82% 90 $ 124 $ 8% (162)$ 61 82% 1% 920 $ 124 $ 8% (162)$ 61
_ — — 171 — — 1
— — 26 — — — 26
— — 4 — — — 4
— = 4 — = - @4
_ — 1 — = — 1
4 = = — — (121 (121)
— — — — 3 — (©)]
78$ 1% 117 $ 296 $ 6$ (283)$ 136
See the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net Income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Deferred income tax benefit
Stock-based compensation expense
Goodwill and intangibles impairment
Restructuring charges
Payments for restructuring charges
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other
Change in working capital:
Changes in working capital:
Receivables
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Deferred revenue
Accrued liabilities
Accrued interest payable
Current income taxes
Net Cash Provided from Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Business acquisitions, net of cash received
Purchases of available-for-sale securities
Sales and maturities of available-for-sale securities
Other investing activities

(In millions)

Year Ended

December 31,

Year Ended

December 31,

2022 2021 2020 2023 2022 2021
$ 262 $ 597 $ 428 $ 292 $262 $ 597
71 128 112 171 71 128
34 35 34 37 34 35
(10) (2 = (13) (100 (3
22 25 17 26 22 25
14 — — — 14 —
20 3 8 16 20 3
(5) (2 (6) " 6 @
— 31 — — — 31
1 5 4 6 1 5
2 @) 6 — 2 (@
3) = 2 1 6 —
15 10 7 @ 15 10
(35) (32) — (19) (35) (32)
10 (6) 27 (7 10 (6
= 9) = - — 0
6 1 — nm 6 1
142 185 207 202 142 185
(40) (31) (32)  (32) (40) (31)

= = (5)

= = (2)

— — 9
4 — — S —
69/156
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Net Cash Used for Investing Activities (35) (31) (31) (32) (35) (31)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Borrowings of debt, net of discount — 638 — — — 638
Payments of debt and finance lease obligations a7) (994) @)
Repayments of debt A7) (17) (994)
Debt issuance cost paid — (8) — —_ — (8)
Call premium paid on retired debt — (21) — — — (21
Repurchase of common stock (59) (103) — (121) (59) (103)
Other financing activities ) (1) = 1 2 @
Net Cash Used for Financing Activities (77) (489) (7)  (137) (77) (489)
Cash Increase (Decrease) During the Period 29 (335) 170 34 29 (335)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 292 % 262 % 597  $3253%$292 $ 262

See the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Frontdoor, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Description of Business

Frontdoor is the leading provider of home service plans warranties in the United States, as measured by revenue, and operates
primarily under the American Home Shield brand. Our customizable home service plans warranties help customers protect and maintain
their homes, typically their most valuable asset, from costly and unplanned breakdowns of essential home systems and appliances. Our
home service planwarranty customers usually subscribe to an annual service plan agreement that covers the repair or replacement of
major components of more than 20 home systems and appliances, including electrical, plumbing, HVAC systems, water heaters,
refrigerators, dishwashers and ranges/ovens/cooktops, as well as optional coverages for electronics, pools, spas and pumps. Our
operations Frontdoor also include provides on-demand home services and a one-stop app experience for home repair and maintenance.
Enabled by our Streem a technology, platform that uses augmented reality, computer visionthe app empowers homeowners by
connecting them in real time through video chat with qualified experts to diagnose and machine learning to help home service
professionals more quickly and accurately diagnose breakdowns and complete repairs. solve their problems. As of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023, we had 2.1 million 2.0 million active home service plans, which were offered nationally.
Macroeconomic Conditions

Changes warranties across all brands in macroeconomic conditions, including inflation, global supply chain challenges and the
persistence of the COVID-19 pandemic, especially as they may affect existing home sales, interest rates, consumer confidence or labor
availability, may reduce demand for our services, increase our costs and adversely impact our business. While these macroeconomic
conditions generally impact the United States as a whole, we believe our nationwide presence limits the impact on us of poor economic
conditions in any particular region of the United States.

During 2022, our financial condition and results of operations were adversely impacted by the following:
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O The challenging home seller’s market, driven, in part, by extremely low home inventory levels and rising interest rates,

continued to constrain demand for home service plans in the first-year real estate channel.

O Consumer sentiment declined in 2022 as higher inflation eroded real personal income. We believe this environment,
combined with our higher prices for a home service plan, impacted our ability to add customers, especially in the direct-to-
consumer channel.

O Our contractors continued to be impacted by inflation, including higher labor, fuel and parts and equipment costs. We
continue to take actions to mitigate these impacts, including increasing the share of parts and equipment our contractors
source through us at lower costs, increasing the percent of service requests completed by lower-cost preferred contractors

and accelerating contractor recruitment efforts.

0 Industry-wide parts availability gradually improved in the later part of 2022; however, global supply chain challenges

continued to drive costs higher than pre-pandemic levels.

O Due to labor availability challenges, we continued to experience workforce retention issues, including difficulties in hiring
and retaining employees in customer service operations and throughout our business. We believe our contractors are
experiencing similar workforce challenges.

The COVID-19 Pandemic

The ultimate implications of the COVID-19 pandemic on our results of operations and overall financial performance remain
uncertain. Moreover, as a result of the increase in remote or hybrid working arrangements in response to the pandemic, which trend
may continue to persist even as the pandemic continues to subside, a significant number of people may continue to spend greater time
at home, which may result in a continued increase in usage of home systems and appliances and demand for our services and a
resulting increase in service-related costs. Industry-wide supply chain challenges may also continue to contribute to increased costs and
impact the customer experience, which may affect customer retention. Accordingly, the COVID-19 situation remains very fluid, and we
continue to adjust our response in real time. It remains difficult to predict the overall continuing impact the COVID-19 pandemic will have
on our business.

51

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies
Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include all of our wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and balances
have been eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions
required under U.S. GAAP that may differ from actual results. The more significant areas requiring the use of management estimates
relate to: revenue recognition; home service planwarranty claims accruals; the valuation of property and equipment, goodwill and
intangible assets; useful lives for recognizing depreciation and amortization expense; accruals for current and deferred tax accounts;
stock-based compensation expense; and litigation matters.
Revenue

The majority of our revenue is generated from annual home warranty contracts entered into with our customers. Home service
planwarranty contracts are typically one year in duration. Home service planwarranty claims costs are expensed as incurred. We

recognize revenue over the life of these contracts in proportion to the expected direct costs. Those costs bear a direct relationship to the
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fulfillment of our obligations under the contracts and are representative of the relative value provided to our customers. We regularly
review our estimates of claims costs and adjust our estimates when appropriate.

Revenues are presented net of sales taxes collected and remitted to government taxing authorities in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

We record a receivable related to revenue recognized on services due from customers once we have an unconditional right to
invoice and receive payment in the future related to the services provided. provided and anticipate the collection of amounts due to us.
We invoice our monthly-pay customers on a straight-line basis over the contract term. As a result, contract assets arise when we
recognize revenue for our home warranty contracts prior to a contract asset is created when revenue is recognized on monthly-pay
customers before customer being billed.invoiced. Deferred revenue represents a contract liability and is recognized when cash
payments are received in advance of the performance of services, including when the amounts are refundable. Amounts are recognized

as revenue in proportion to the costs expected to be incurred in performing services under our contracts.

Property and Equipment, Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Property and equipment consist of the following:

As of Estimated As of Estimated
Useful
December 31, Useful Lives December 31, Lives
(In millions) 2022 2021 (Years) 2023 2022 (Years)
Buildings and improvements $ 14 $ 25 10-40 $ 4% 14 10-40
Technology and communications 130 95 3-7 159 130 3-7
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures, and vehicles 11 16 5-7 3 11 5-7
155 136 _E_E
Less accumulated depreciation (89) (71) (105) (89)
Property and equipment, net $ 66 $ 66 $ 603 66
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Depreciation of property and equipment was $27 million $32 million, $24 $27 million and $22 $24 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, respectively.

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Property and equipment and intangible assets with finite lives are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. These lives are based on our previous experience for similar assets, potential
market obsolescence and other industry and business data. Property and equipment and finite-lived intangible assets are tested for
recoverability if circumstances indicate their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. a potential impairment. If the carrying amount is
no longer recoverable based upon the undiscounted future cash flows of the asset, an impairment loss would be recognized equal to
the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of the asset. Changes in the estimated useful lives could cause us to
adjust the carrying values or future expense accordingly.

52

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized and are subject to assessment for impairment on an annual

basis, or more frequently if circumstances indicate their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. a potential impairment. We perform
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our annual assessment for impairment on October 1 of every year. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for
impairment at the reporting unit level by level. The Company can elect to first performing perform a qualitative assessment to determine
whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the reporting unit does not
pass the qualitative assessment, or if the Company does not elect to perform the initial qualitative assessment, then the reporting unit's
carrying amount is compared to its fair value. The fair values of the reporting units are estimated using market and discounted cash flow
approaches. The discounted cash flow approach uses expected future operating results. The market approach uses comparable
company information to determine revenue and earnings multiples to value our reporting units. Failure to achieve these expected results
or market multiples may cause a future impairment of goodwill at the reporting unit. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are
considered impaired if the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. See Note 4 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for information related to our goodwill and intangible assets.
Advertising

We expense advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was
$156 million, $115 million and $106 million, respectively.
Leases

We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. We recognize a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and lease liability for all
leases with terms of 12 months or more. ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, and lease
liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at
commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. Our lease terms may include options to extend
or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. As most of our leases do not provide an implicit
rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value
of lease payments. We use the implicit rate when readily determinable. Our incremental borrowing rate is determined based on our
secured borrowing rating and the lease term. Our operating lease ROU assets are recorded net of lease incentives. Lease expense for
operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. We have lease agreements with lease and non-
lease components, which are accounted for separately for our real estate leases. See Note 5 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for information related to our leases.
Restricted Net Assets

There are third-party regulatory restrictions on the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to transfer funds to us. These restrictions
are related to regulatory requirements. The payments of ordinary and extraordinary dividends by our subsidiaries are subject to
significant regulatory restrictions under the laws and regulations of the states in which they operate. Among other things, such laws and
regulations require certain subsidiaries to maintain minimum capital and net worth requirements and may limit the amount of ordinary
and extraordinary dividends and other payments that these subsidiaries can make to us. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023,
the total net assets subject to these third-party regulatory restrictions was $145 million $157 million.
Financial Instruments and Credit Risk

We hedge the interest payments on a portion of our variable rate debt through the use of an interest rate swap
agreement. contract. We have classified our interest rate swap agreementcontract as a cash flow hedge and recorded the hedging
instrument in the consolidated statements of financial position as either an asset or liability at fair value. The effect of derivative financial
instrument transactions could have a material impact on our financial statements. We do not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
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Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to financial and credit risk, consist principally of receivables. The majority of
our receivables have little concentration of credit risk due to the large number of customers with relatively small balances and their
dispersion across geographical areas. We maintain an allowance for losses based upon the expected collectability of receivables. See
Note 16 15 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information relating to the fair value of financial instruments.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense for stock options is estimated at the grant date based on an award’'s fair value as
calculated by the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period. The Black-
Scholes model requires various highly judgmental assumptions including expected volatility and option life. If any of the assumptions
used in the Black-Scholes model change significantly, stock-based compensation expense for future grants may differ materially from
that recorded in the current period related to options granted to date. In addition, we estimate the expected forfeiture rate and only
recognize expense for those shares expected to vest. We estimate the forfeiture rate based on historical experience. To the extent the
actual forfeiture rate is different from the estimate, stock-based compensation expense is adjusted accordingly in the period the
forfeiture occurs. occurs or the awards vest. See Note 9 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for more details,
including the calculation of stock-based compensation expense for stock options, performance options, RSUs, performance shares and
RSAs.
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Income Taxes

Frontdoor files a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return. State and local returns are filed both on a separate company
basis and on a combined unitary basis with Frontdoor. Current and deferred income taxes are provided for on a separate company
basis. We account for income taxes using an asset and liability approach for the expected future tax consequences of events that have
been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income during the years in which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax
rates is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established when
management determines that it is more likely than not that some portion, or all, of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. The
financial effect of changes in tax laws or rates is accounted for in the period of enactment.

We record a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in tax
returns. We recognize potential interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense.

Segment Reporting

We are required to report annual and interim financial and descriptive information about our reportable operating segments. We
operate our business under six brand names that primarily engage in the activity of providing home service planswarranties to our
customers. Our chief operating decision maker, who is our Chief Executive Officer, regularly evaluates financial information on a
consolidated basis in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. As such, we operate as one operating
segment, which is comprised of our six brands, and we have one reportable segment.

Newly Issued Accounting Standards

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848), which provides optional expedients and

exceptions guidance to ease the potential burden in accounting for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships and other

transactions affected by (or recognizing the effects of) reference rate reform if certain criteria are met.on financial reporting. The
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amendments apply only to contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions that reference LIBOR or another reference rate
expected to be discontinued because of reference rate reform. This standard is currently effective and upon adoption may be applied
prospectively to contract modifications. sunset provision was set for December 31, 2022. In March 2021, 2022, the FASB issued ASU
2022-06, which extended defers the sunset date forto December 31, 2024, after which entities will no longer be permitted to apply the
required transition under ASU 2020-04 to December 31, 2024. We intend to amend relief in in Topic 848. In March 2023, in connection
with the planned phase-out of LIBOR, we amended our Credit Facilities to complyreplace LIBOR with SOFR as the provisions
ofbenchmark rate under the Credit Agreement. We adopted ASU 2020-04 and ASU 2022-06 prior to December 31, 2024. We do not
expectin connection with this transition will of the benchmark rate under our Credit Agreement. This transition did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements. statements and related disclosures.

In 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280), which improves reportable segment disclosure
requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. This guidance is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is
permitted, and the guidance should be applied retrospectively to all periods presented in the financial statements, unless it is
impracticable. We intend to adopt the provisions of this guidance in conjunction with our 2024 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2024.

53

In 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740), which improves income tax disclosure requirements,
primarily through enhanced disclosures related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. This guidance is effective
for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted, and the guidance should be applied on a
prospective basis. Retrospective application is permitted. We intend to adopt the provisions of this guidance in conjunction with our
2024 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Note 3. Revenue

The majority of our revenue is generated from annual home service planwarranty contracts entered into with our customers.
Home warranty contracts are typically one year in duration. We derive substantially all of our revenue from customers in the United
States.

We disaggregate revenue from contracts with customers into major customer acquisition channels. We determined that
disaggregating revenue into these categories depicts how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are

affected by economic factors. Revenue by major customer acquisition channel is as follows:

Year Ended

December 31,

(In millions) 2023 2022 2021

Renewals $ 1367 $ 1,203 $ 1,103
Real estate(®) 141 184 252
Direct-to-consumer(®) 194 219 201
Other 77 56 46
Total $ 1,780 $ 1,662 $ 1,602

(1) First-year revenue only.
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Our home service planwarranty contracts have one performance obligation, which is to provide for the repair or replacement of
essential home systems and appliances, as applicable per the contract. We recognize revenue at the agreed upon contractual amount
over time using the input method in proportion to the costs expected to be incurred in performing services under the contracts. Those
costs bear a direct relationship to the fulfillment of our obligations under the contracts and are representative of the relative fair value of
the services provided to our customers.the customer. As the costs to fulfill the obligations of the home service planswarranties are
incurred on an other-than-straight-line basis, we utilize historical evidence to estimate the expected claims expense and related timing
of such costs. costs and make a corresponding adjustment each period to the timing of our related revenue recognition. This adjustment
to the straight-line revenue creates a contract asset or contract liability, as described under the heading “Contract balances” Assets and
Liabilities” below. We regularly review our estimates of claims costs and adjust ourthese estimates when appropriate. We derive
substantially all of our revenue from customers in the United States.
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We disaggregate revenue from contracts with customers into major customer acquisition channels. We determined that
disaggregating revenue into these categories depicts how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are

affected by economic factors. Revenue by major customer acquisition channel is as follows:

Year Ended

December 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021 2020
Renewals $ 1203 $ 1,103 $ 1,013
Real estate(®) 184 252 263
Direct-to-consumer(®) 219 201 183
Other 56 46 16
Total $ 1662 $ 1602 $ 1,474

(1) First-year revenue only.
Renewals

Revenue from all customer renewals whether of home warranty contracts, which were previously initiated viain the real estate
channel or direct-to-consumer channel are classified as renewalsrenewal revenue above. Renewals relate to consecutive contract
periods and take place at the end of the first year of a real estate or direct-to-consumer home warranty contract. Customer payments for
renewals are primarily received either at the commencement of the renewal period or in installments over the new contract period.
Real estate

Real estate home service plans warranties are sold through annual contracts which occur in connection with a real estate sale,
and payments sale. These plans are typically paid in full at closing. closing on the real estate transaction. First-year revenue from the
real estate channel is classified as real estate above. At the option of the customer, upon renewal of the contract, the future revenue
derived from home warranties sold in this channel is classified as renewal revenue as described above.
Direct- to-consumer Direct-to-consumer

Direct-to-consumer home service planswarranties are sold through annual contracts when customers request a service
plan which occur in response to our marketing efforts or when third-party resellers make a sale. efforts. Customer payments for direct-to-

consumer sales are primarily received either at the commencement of the contract or in installments over the contract period. First-year
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revenue from the direct-to-consumer channel is classified as direct-to-consumer above. At the option of the customer, upon renewal of
the contract, the future revenue derived from home warranties sold in this channel is classified as renewal revenue as described above.
Other
Other revenue primarily includes revenue generated by on-demand home services, and Streem, as well as administrative fees
and ancillary services attributable to our home service plan warranty contracts.
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Deferred Customer Acquisition Costs to obtain a contract with a customer

We capitalize the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer primarily sales commissions, and recognize the
related expense using the input method in proportion to the costs expected to be incurred in performing services under the contract,
over the expected customer relationship period. Deferred customer acquisition costs were $12 million and $16 million as of December
31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021.2022, respectively. Amortization of deferred customer acquisition costs was $16 million, $19
million and $19 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, and 2020. respectively.
There were no impairment losses in relation related to these capitalized costs. costs during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021.

Contract balances Receivables, Less Allowance

Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. Contracts with customers, including
contracts resulting from customer renewals, are generally for a period of one year. We record a receivable related to revenue
recognized on services due from customers once we have an unconditional right to invoice and receive payment in the future related to
the services provided. All accounts receivable provided and anticipate the collection of amounts due to us. Contracts for home
warranties may be invoiced upfront or monthly in straight-line installment payments over the contract period. The payment terms are
recorded within Receivables, less allowances, determined prior to the execution of the contract.

Contract Assets and Liabilities

Contract assets arise when we recognize revenue for our home warranty contracts prior to a customer being invoiced. These
timing differences are created when the recognition of revenue in proportion to the accompanying consolidated statements costs
expected to be incurred in performing the services under the contract are accelerated as compared to the recognition of financial
position. We invoice our monthly-pay customersrevenue on a straight-line basis over the contract term. As a result, aperiod. There
were no contract asset is created when revenue is recognized on monthly-pay customers before being billed. assets as of December
31, 2023.

Deferred Our contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue represents a contract liability and which is recognized when cash
payments are received in advance of the performance of services, including when the amounts are refundable. Amounts are recognized
as revenue in proportion to the costs expected to be incurred in performing services under our contracts. Deferred revenue was
$121 million and $155 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

55

Changes A summary of the changes in deferred revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 were December 31, 2023 is as

follows:

(In millions)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 155

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 121
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Deferral of revenue 265 229

Recognition of deferred revenue (300) (248)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 121
Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 102

There was approximately $152 million $117 million of revenue recognized during the year ended December 31, 2022 December
31, 2023 that was included in the deferred revenue balance as of December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022.

Note 4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized and are subject to assessment for impairment on an annual
basis, or more frequently if circumstances indicate a potential impairment. We perform our annual assessment for impairment on
October 1 of every year.

In connection with the preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements for the third quarter of 2022, we
determined that indicators of a potential goodwill and intangible assets impairment were present for our Streem reporting unit. In
particular, we will now be more focusedbegan to shift the focus of our Streem technology platform to primarily concentrate on
integrating Streem’sthe technology into the our core business and will be less focused on selling product offerings. We continue to
license this technology platform to third-party business-to-business customers as a software-as-a-service platform. platform but intend to
discontinue this third-party business by the end of 2024. This shift in focus resulted in significantly lower projected revenue for Streem.
We performed an interim impairment analysis of the Streem reporting unit as of September 30, 2022. In performing the discounted cash
flow analysis, we determined that the carrying amount of the Streem reporting unit exceeded its fair value. An impairment charge of $14
million was recognized during the third quarter of 2022, which comprised the remaining net carrying amount of Streem’s goodwill of $9
million and intangibles intangible assets of $5 million.
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The balance of goodwill was $503 million and $512 million as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021,
respectively, which, for the year ended December 31, 2022, includes a $9 million impairment to the Streem reporting unit. 2022. There
were no goodwill or trade hame impairment charges recorded duringin the years ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023 and
2020. There were no accumulated impairment losses recorded as of December 31, 2021. 2021.

The following table below summarizes provides a summary of the components of our intangible asset balances: assets:

As of December 31, As of December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated

(In millions) Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization Net  Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization Net
Trade names() $ 141 % —$ 141 8% 141 $ — $ 141$141$ —$141 $141 $ —$141
Customer

relationships 173 (172) — 173 (172) — 173 a73) — 173 72y —
Developed

technology(® 19 (13) 5 25 (12) 13 19 @ 2 19 (13) 5
Other® 32 (31) 1 37 (32) 5 32 (32 — 32 (31 1
Total $ 365 $ (217)$ 148 $ 375 $ (216) $ 159 $365 $ (221)$143 $365 $ (217)$148
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(1) Not subject to amortization.
(2)For the year ended December 31, 2022, includes a $3 million impairment to the Streem reporting unit, consisting of $6 million

of gross cost and $4 million of accumulated amortization.

(3) For the year ended December 31, 2022, includes a $2 million impairment to the Streem reporting unit, consisting of $4 million of
gross cost and $2 million of accumulated amortization.
Amortization expense was $4 million, $7 million $11 million and $12$11 million for the years ended December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As indicated above, an impairment charge of $5 million was recognized during
the year ended December 31, 2022 related to Streem’s intangible assets. There were no intangible asset impairment charges recorded
in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2020, respectively. 2021.
The following table outlines expected amortization expense for existing intangible assets for the next five years:

(In millions)

2023 $ 4

2024 2% 2
2025 S —
2026 = —
2027 o —
2028 —

Total $ 7% 3

Note 5. Leases

We have operating leases primarily for our corporate offices, customer service centersheadquarters located in Memphis,
Tennessee, a collaboration center located in Scottsdale, Arizona and engineering anda technology campuses. collaboration center in
Pune, India. We also continue to lease certain office space in other geographies, which we have, as indicated below, either exited or
subleased. Our leases have remaining lease terms of ranging from less than one year to 1211 years, some of which include options to
extend the leases for up to five years.

The weighted-average remaining lease term and weighted-average discount rate related to our operating leases are as follows:

As of As of
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Weighted-average remaining lease term (years) 9 9 9 9
Weighted-average discount rate 6.3 % 5.6 % 6.5 %6.3 %

We recognized operating lease expense of $4 million$3 million, $4 million and $3 million $4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, respectively. These expenses are included in Selling selling and
administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to our operating lease liabilities is as follows:

As of

December 31,

(In millions) 2023 2022

Other accrued liabilities $ 2 3 3
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Operating lease liabilities 16 18

Total operating lease liabilities $ 18 $ 21
56

Supplemental cash flow information related to our operating leases is as follows:
Year Ended

December 31,

Year Ended

December 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021 2020

2023 2022 2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities

@ $ 5 $ 5 $

Cash paid on operating lease liabilities(!)

Leased assets obtained in exchange for new lease liabilities 3 6

(1) Amount is presented net of cash provided from sublease income.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases is as follows:

As of

December 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021

Other accrued liabilities $ 3 $ 4
Operating lease liabilities 18 19
Total operating lease liabilities $ 21 % 23

$4$5%5
3 — 3 6

The following table presents the maturities of our operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2022. December 31, 2023:

(In millions)

2023 $
2024

2025

2026

2027

Thereafter 12

w N NN DS

Total lease payments 24

Less imputed interest )

Total(® $ 17

(In millions)

20241
20251

2026
2027

w N NN
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2028 2

Thereafter 10
Total future lease payments®) 21
Less imputed interest (6)
Total operating lease liabilities(!) $ 15

(1) Amount is presented net of future sublease income totaling $4 million $3 million, which relates to the years ending December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024 through December 31, 2026.
Sublease of Prior Corporate Headquarters
On August 10, 2022, we subleased our prior corporate headquarters facility in Memphis, Tennessee. As a result of us exiting

the facility on June 27, 2022, we incurred a non-cash impairment charge of $11 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Closure of Leased Facilities

In August 2023, we entered into a new lease in Scottsdale, Arizona and subsequently decided to exit our leased facility in
Phoenix, Arizona. Additionally, in November 2023, we decided to exit our leased facilities in Seattle, Washington, Portland, Oregon and
Denver, Colorado. As a result of exiting these leased facilities during 2023, we incurred non-cash impairment charges of $5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023 relating to the corresponding operating lease right-of-use assets.

57 The non-cancelable operating lease agreement for the collaboration center located in Scottsdale, Arizona, commenced in
February 2024 and has an initial term of 10 years, unless terminated earlier. We are obligated to make lease payments totaling
approximately $8 million over the lease term, with $1 million in 2024 and $7 million in the years thereafter (2025-2033), which are not

included in the table above.

Note 6. Income Taxes

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, we had $8 million $5 million, $7 million $8 million and
$4 million $7 million of unrecognized tax benefits, respectively, all of which would impact the effective tax rate if recognized.

The table below summarizes the changes in gross unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021:2022:

(In millions)

Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 4
Increases in tax positions for current year 2

Balance as of December 31, 2021 7%$7
Increases in tax positions for current year 1 1

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 8 g
Decreases in tax positions for current year ﬁ

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $_5

Interest and penalties accrued on the liability for unrecognized tax benefits and recognized as income tax expense are less than
$1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.
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We are subject to taxation in the United States, various states and foreign jurisdictions. Due to expired statutes, the majority of

our U.S. federal, state and local income tax returns for the years prior to 20192020 are no longer subject to examination by tax

authorities. We are not currently engaged in any tax examinations with any U.S., state or foreign tax authorities. Substantially all of our

income before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 20202021 was generated in

the United States.

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to our effective income tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended

December 31,

Year Ended

December 31,

2022 2021 2020 2023 2022 2021
Tax at U.S. federal statutory rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %21.0 %21.0 %
State and local income taxes, net of U.S. federal benefit 0.7 3.1 25 24 07 31
Other permanent items (0.2) (0.3) (0.3) 09 (0.2) (0.3)
Stock-based compensation 2.2 0.5 0.6 1.2 2.2 0.5
Goodwill impairment 2.0 — — — 20 —
Credits (3.2) (1.9) (0.5)
Tax Credits 0.7y (3.2 (1.9
Uncertain tax positions 1.3 1.1 11 0.2 1.3 1.1
Effective rate 23.8 % 23.4 % 24.5 % 25.0 %23.8 %23.4 %
Income tax expense is as follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
(In millions) 2022 2021 2020
Current:
U.S. federal $ 28 $ 33 % 29
State and local 4 7 7
32 41 36
Deferred:
U.S. federal @) Q) —
State and local @) — —
(10) () —
Provision for income taxes $ 22 % 39 % 37
Year Ended
December 31,
(In millions) 2023 2022 2021
Current:
U.S. federal $ 60 $ 28 % 33
State and local 10 4 7
70 32 41
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Deferred:
U.S. federal

State and local

Provision for income taxes

(11) () )
®) 2 —
(13) (10) ()
57 $ 22 $ 39
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Significant components of our deferred tax balances are as follows:

As of

December 31,

December 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021

Long-term deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Intangible assets $ 45) $ (44)
Property and equipment 3) (20)
Deferred customer acquisition costs 4) 4)
Prepaid expenses and other assets ) 2)
Operating lease right-of-use assets 2) 4)
Receivables allowances 1
Accrued liabilities 5
Other long-term liabilities 6
Operating lease liabilities 5 5
Deferred interest expense 2) 6
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards 2 1
Less valuation allowance — Q)

Net long-term deferred tax liabilities $ (39 $ (41)

As of

(In millions) 2023 2022
Long-term deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Intangible assets $ 45) $ (45)
Property and equipment 4 )
Deferred customer acquisition costs ) 4)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2) 2)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (1) 2)
Receivables allowances
Accrued liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Deferred interest expense 2) 2)
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards 2 2
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Valuation allowance 1) —

Net long-term deferred tax liabilities $ (25) $ (39)

Note 7. Restructuring Charges
We incurred restructuring charges of $16 million ($12 million, net of tax), $20 million ($15 million, net of tax), and $3 million ($2
million, net of tax) and $8 million ($6 million, net of tax) for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.
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In 2023, restructuring charges primarily comprised $10 million in non-cash impairment charges related to the operating lease
right-of-use assets and 2020, respectively. related property and equipment of certain of our leased and company-owned facilities as
discussed further in Note 5 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements, $2 million of professional fees and $3 million of
severance costs. The impairment charges were the result of our decision to exit the leased and company-owned properties. The
severance costs related to our continued review and optimization of selling, general and administrative expenses.

In 2022, restructuring charges primarily comprised an $11 million impairment charge related to our prior corporate headquarters
facility operating lease right-of-use asset and leasehold improvements, a $2 million impairment of certain internally developed software,
$1 million of accelerated depreciation related to the early termination of a lease, and $6 million of severance and other costs. Severance
costs of $2 million related to a reduction in workforce of seven percent as part of our completed strategic review of our selling and
administrative expenses.

In 2021, restructuring charges primarily comprised $1 million of accelerated depreciation of certain technology systems driven
by efforts to enhance our technological capabilities and $1 million of severance and other costs.

In 2020, restructuring charges comprised $3 million of lease termination costs and severance and other costs related to the
decision to consolidate certain operations of Landmark with those of OneGuard, $3 million of severance costs related to the
reorganization of certain sales and customer service operations and $2 million of accelerated depreciation related to the disposal of
certain technology systems.

The pre-tax charges discussed above are included in Restructuring restructuring charges in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income.

As of December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, there were less than $1 million in accrued $2 million of restructuring charges
accrued, of which all were paid or otherwise settled during the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. As of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023, there were $2 millionwas less than $1 million in accrued restructuring charges in the accompanying
consolidated statements of financial position.

Note 8. Commitments and Contingencies

Accruals for home service planwarranty claims are made using internal actuarial projections, which are based on current claims
and historical claims experience. Accruals are established based on estimates of the ultimate cost to settle claims. Home service
planwarranty claims take approximately three months to settle, on average, and substantially all claims are settled within six months of
incurrence. The amount of time required to settle a claim can vary based on a number of factors, including whether a replacement is
ultimately required. In addition to our estimates, we engage a third-party actuary to perform an accrual analysis utilizing generally
accepted actuarial methods that incorporate cumulative historical claims experience and information provided by us. We regularly
review our estimates of claims costs along with the third-party analysis and adjust our estimates when appropriate. We believe the use
ofthat utilizing actuarial methods in our estimation process to account for these liabilities provides a consistent and effective way to
measure these judgmental accruals.
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We have certain liabilities with respect to existing or potential claims, lawsuits and other proceedings. We accrue for these
liabilities when it is probable that future costs will be incurred and such costs can be reasonably estimated. Any resulting adjustments,
which could be material, are recorded in the period the adjustments are identified.

Due to the nature of our business activities, we are also at times subject to pending and threatened legal and regulatory actions
that arise out of the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, based in part upon advice of legal counsel, the
disposition of any such matters is not expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. However, the results of legal actions cannot be predicted with certainty. Therefore,
it is possible that our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows could be materially adversely affected in any

particular period by the unfavorable resolution of one or more legal actions.

Note 9. Stock-Based Compensation
The Omnibus Plan permits the grant to certain employees, consultants and non-employee directors of Frontdoor different forms
of awards, including stock options, performance options, RSUs, performance shares, RSAs and deferred share equivalents. Upon
adoption, 14,500,000 shares were reserved for grants under the Omnibus Plan. Our Compensation Committee compensation
committee determines the long-term incentive mix of awards to our employees and may authorize new grants annually. As of December
31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 10,941,586 9,679,691 shares remain available for future grants.
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Stock Options

Stock options are exercisable based on the terms outlined in the applicable award agreement. Stock options agreement and
generally vest over a period of four years. The grant date fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the assumptions noted in the following table. A historical daily measurement of volatility is determined based on our
and our peer companies’ average volatility. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference to the outstanding U.S. Treasury note
with a term equal to the expected life of the option granted. The expected life represents the period of time that options are expected to
be outstanding and was calculated using the simplified approach due to our lack of historical experience upon which to estimate the

expected lives of the options.

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, December 31,
Assumption 2022 2021 2020 2023 2022 2020
Expected volatility 50.7 % 54.1 % 50.6 % 54.9 %50.7 %54.1 %
Expected dividend yield 0.0 % 0.0 % 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected life (in years) 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1
Risk-free interest rate 2.38 % 1.09 % 0.51 % 3.71 %2.38 %1.09 %

During the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, we granted options to purchase
661,231 shares, 568,623 shares 271,735 shares and 579,507 271,735 shares of our common stock, respectively, at weighted-average
exercise prices of $26.67 per share, $28.64 per share $54.36 per share and $35.56 $54.36 per share, respectively. The weighted-
average grant-date fair values of the options granted during the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
and 2020 were $12.49 per share, $14.54 per share $27.78 per share and $16.94 $27.78 per share, respectively. During the year ended

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we applied a forfeiture assumption of five 10 percent per annum in the recognition of the
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expense related to these options, with the exception of the options held by our CEO for which we applied a forfeiture rate of zero
percent. The total intrinsic value of options exercised was $1 million, less than $1 million, and $2 million and less than $1 million for the
years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, respectively.

A summary of option activity under the Omnibus Plan during the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 is

presented below:

Weighted-
average
Weighted- Aggregate Remaining
average Intrinsic  Contractual
Stock Exercise Value Term
Options Price (in millions)  (in years)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 1,315,460 $ 3782 $ 3 7.54
Granted to employees 568,623 28.64
Exercised (1,741) 34.91
Forfeited (319,310) 34.31
Expired (374,864) 37.01
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 1,188,168 $ 3463 $ = 7.45
Exercisable as of December 31, 2022 575,051 $ 3522 $ = 6.06
Weighted-
average
Weighted- Aggregate Remaining
average Intrinsic  Contractual
Stock Exercise Value Term
Options Price (in millions)  (in years)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 1,188,168 $ 3463 $ — 7.45
Granted to employees 661,231 26.67
Exercised (159,498) 26.75
Forfeited (244,390) 30.78
Expired (118,173) 38.51
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 1,327,338 $ 3197 $ 7 7.79
Exercisable as of December 31, 2023 565,373 36.26 $ 1 6.34
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Performance Options

We granted Performance options to purchase 272,503 shares of our common stock during are exercisable based on the year
ended December 31, 2022 with a weighted-average exercise price of $24.74 per share and a weighted-average grant date fair value of
$11.50 per share.terms outlined in the applicable award agreement. The grant date fair value of performance options is determined
using a Monte Carlo simulation model. We did not issue any performance options under the Omnibus Plan during the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020. In addition to service conditions, the ultimate number of performance options to be earned depends on

the achievement of a market condition prior to the fourth anniversary of the grant date, which is based on a share price target.
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Performance options granted during the yearyears ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2022 have a weighted-
average service period of approximately 0.8 years and 1.6 years, respectively, from the initial grant date. As

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we granted options to purchase 652,004 and 272,503 shares of
December 31, 2022, there were 272,503 our common stock, respectively, with a weighted-average exercise price of $26.42 per share
and $24.74 per share, respectively. The weighted-average grant date fair values of the performance options outstanding. granted during
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were $10.40 per share and $11.50 per share, respectively. We did not issue any
performance options under the Omnibus Plan during the year ended December 31, 2021. During the year ended December 31, 2023,
we applied a forfeiture assumption of 10 percent per annum in the recognition of the expense related to these performance options, with
the exception of the options held by our CEO for which we applied a forfeiture rate of zero percent. No performance options exercised
during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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A summary of performance options activity under the Omnibus Plan during the year ended December 31, 2023 is presented

below:
Weighted-
average
Performance Grant Date
Options Fair Value
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 272,503 $ 11.50
Granted to employees 652,004 10.40
Exercised — —
Forfeited (157,363) 11.07
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 767,144 $ 10.65
RSUs

RSUs are exercisable vest based on the terms outlined in the applicable award agreement. The RSUs agreement, which is
generally vest over a period of three years. The grant date fair value of RSUs is determined using the closing market price of our
common stock on the trading day that immediately precedes the grant date.

During the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 20212022 and 2020,2021, we granted 920,369 RSUs,
1,146,733 RSUs 443,040 RSUs and 507,426 443,040 RSUs, respectively, with weighted-average grant date fair values of $26.60 per
unit, $28.00 per unit $53.36 per unit and $36.58 $53.36 per unit, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31,
2023, we applied a forfeiture assumption of five 10 percent per annum in the recognition of the expense related to these RSUs, with the
exception of the awards held by our CEO for which we applied a forfeiture rate of zero percent. The total fair value of RSUs vested
during the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 20202021 was $13 million, $10 million $13 million and
$5 million $10 million, respectively.

A summary of RSU activity under the Omnibus Plan during the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 is

presented below:

Weighted- Weighted-
average average
Grant
Grant Date Date
RSUs Fair Value RSUs  Fair Value
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Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 719,525 $ 45.38

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 1,022,970 $ 31.95
Granted to employees 1,146,733 28.00 920,369 26.60
Vested (311,737) 4286 (400,186) 33.50
Forfeited (531,551) 35.20 (256,980) 29.84

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 1,022,970 $ 31.95

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 1,286,173 $ 28.06

Performance Shares

Performance shares vest based on the terms outlined in the applicable award agreement, which is generally over a period of
three years. The grant date fair value of performance shares is determined using the closing market price of our common stock on the
trading day that immediately precedes the grant date. In addition to service conditions, the ultimate number of performance shares to be
earned depends on the achievement of a performance condition, which is based on a revenue target.

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we granted 285,801 performance shares and 98,017 performance
shares, respectively, with a weighted-average grant date fair value of $28.03 per share and $54.81 per share, respectively. The grant
date fair value of performance shares is determined using the closing market price of our common stock on the trading day that
immediately precedes the grant date. We did not issue any performance shares under the Omnibus Plan during the year ended
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2023. For the performance shares granted during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, in
addition to service conditions, the ultimate number of performance shares to be earned depends on the achievement of a performance
condition, which is based on a revenue target.

Performance shares granted during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 vest approximately three years from the
initial grant date. During the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we applied a forfeiture assumption of five 10 percent
per annum in the recognition of the expense related to these performance shares, with the exception of the awards held by our CEO for
which we applied a forfeiture rate of zero percent. No performance shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021.
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A summary of performance share activity under the Omnibus Plan during the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31,

2023 is presented below:

Weighted- Weighted-
average average
Grant
Performance Grant Date  Performance Date
Shares Fair Value Shares  Fair Value
Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 247,671 $ 39.82
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 230,178 $ 31.84
Granted to employees 285,801 28.03 — —
Vested — — — —
Forfeited (303,294) 34.77 (96,686) 30.22
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 230,178 ' $ 31.84
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Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 133,492 $ 33.01
RSAs

In 2019, in connection with the acquisition of Streem, we issued 575,370 RSAs to certain employees of Streem that were not
part of the Omnibus Plan. These awards are were subject to time-vesting, certain performance milestone-vesting restrictions, continued
employment and transfer restrictions. The grant date fair value of these RSAs iswas determined using the closing market price of our
common stock on the trading day that immediately precedes the grant date. As of December 31, 2021, 134,318 RSAs were unvested.
During the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 42,1225,579 RSAs vested and 78,896 7,721 RSAs were forfeited, and
as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 13,300 RSAs there were no remaining shares unvested.

ESPP

On March 21, 2019, our board of directors approved and recommended for approval by our stockholders the ESPP, which was
approved by our stockholders on April 29, 2019 and became effective for offering periods commencing July 1, 2019. The ESPP is
intended to qualify for favorable tax treatment under Section 423 of the Code. Under the plan, eligible employees may purchase
common stock, subject to IRS limits, during pre-specified offering periods at a discount established by Frontdoor not to exceed 15
percent of the then current fair market value. A maximum of 1,250,000 shares of our common stock are authorized for sale under the
plan. During the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 20212022 and 2020, 2021, we issued 31,288 shares, 53,353
shares 44,211 shares and 35,58944,211 shares, respectively, under the ESPP. There were 1,105,770 1,074,482 shares available for
issuance under the ESPP as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

Stock-based compensation expense

We recognized stock-based compensation expense of $22 million $26 million ($19 22 million, net of tax), $25 million $22 million
($19 million, net of tax) and $17 million $25 million ($14 19 million, net of tax) for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31,
2023, 20212022 and 2020,2021, respectively. These charges are included in Sellingselling and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Stock-based compensation expense for stock options, RSUs and RSAs is recognized over the vesting period of the award
using a straight-line vesting method, net of estimated forfeitures. In addition, for performance shares with a performance condition, we
evaluate the probability of achieving the performance condition at the end of each reporting period and record the related stock-based
compensation expense over the service period. For performance shares and performance options with a market condition, the related
stock-based compensation expense is recognized regardless of whether the market condition is satisfied, provided that the requisite
service has been provided.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, there was $36 million $32 million of total unrecognized compensation cost, net of
estimated forfeitures, related to unvested stock options, performance options, RSUs, performance shares and RSAs. These costs are

expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.7 2.06 years.

Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans
We currently maintain a defined contribution plan for the benefit of our employees, the Frontdoor, Inc. 401k Plan. Discretionary
contributions made on behalf of our employees were $4 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023,
20212022 and 2020.2021. These charges are recorded within Sellingselling and administrative expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.
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Note 11. Long-Term Debt
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Long-term debt is summarized in the following table:

As of As of

December 31, December 31,
(In millions) 2022 2021 2023 2022
Term Loan A maturing in 2026(1) $ 239 $ 252 $226 $239
Term Loan B maturing in 2028(2) 370 373 367 370
Revolving Credit Facility maturing in 2026 — & —
Total debt 593 609
Less current portion (17) (17) (7)) @)
Total long-term debt $ 592 $ 608 $577 $592

(1) As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, Term Loan A is presented net of $2 million in unamortized debt issuance costs.

(2) As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, presented net of $3 million in unamortized debt issuance costs and of $1 million and $2 $2

million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

(2) Term Loan B is presented net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $2 million and $3 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,

respectively, inand unamortized original issue discount. discount of $1 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Credit Facilities

On February 17, 2021, we repaid $100 million of the outstanding principal amount of the Prior Term Loan Facility. In connection
with the repayment, we recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of $1 million, which included the write-off of debt issuance costs and
original issue discount.

On June 17, 2021, we entered into the Credit Agreement, providing for the Term Loan A maturing June 17, 2026, the Term Loan
B maturing June 17, 2028 and the Revolving Credit Facility, which terminates June 17, 2026. The net proceeds of the transaction,
together with cash on hand, were used to redeem the remaining outstanding principal amounts of $534 million of the Prior Term Loan
Facility and $350 million of the 2026 Notes at a price of 106.1%. In addition, the Revolving Credit Facility replaced the Prior Revolving
Credit Facility. In connection with the repayments, we recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of $30 million in the second quarter of
2021, which included a “make-whole” redemption premium of $21 million on the 2026 Notes and the write-off of $9 million of debt
issuance costs and original issue discount.

The interest rates applicable to the Term Loan A and the Revolving Credit Facility are based on a fluctuating rate of interest
based on the Consolidated First Lien Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) and measured by reference to either, at our
option, (i) an adjusted LIBOR SOFR plus a margin range of 1.50% to 2.00% per annum or (ii) an alternate base rate plus a margin range
of 0.50% to 1.00% per annum. The interest rates applicable to the Term Loan B are based on a fluctuating rate of interest measured by
reference to either, at our option, (i) an adjusted LIBOR SOFR plus a margin of 2.25% per annum or (ii) an alternate base rate plus a
margin of 1.25% per annum.

The obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries (collectively, the “Guarantors”) and are
secured by substantially all of the material tangible and intangible assets of Frontdoor and the Guarantors, subject to certain customary
exceptions.

The Revolving Credit Facility provides for senior secured revolving loans and stand-by and other letters of credit. As of
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, there were we had $2 million of letters of credit outstanding under our $250 million Revolving
Credit Facility. The letters of credit are posted in lieu of cash to satisfy regulatory requirements in certain states in which we operate.

The Credit Agreement contains covenants that limit or restrict our ability, including the ability of certain of our subsidiaries, to incur

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 90/156
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

additional indebtedness, repurchase debt, incur liens, sell assets, make certain payments (including dividends) and enter into
transactions with affiliates; therefore, from time to time, our ability to draw on the Revolving Credit Facility may be limited. As of
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the available borrowing capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility was $248 million.

On October 24, 2018, we entered into an interest rate swap agreementcontract effective October 31, 2018 that expires on
August 16, 2025. The notional amount of the agreement is $350 million. Under the terms of the agreement, we will pay a fixed rate of
interest of 3.0865 3.028 percent on the $350 million notional amount, and we will receive a floating rate of interest (based on one-month
LIBOR, SOFR, subject to a floor of zero percent) on the notional amount. Therefore, during the term of the agreement, the effective
interest rate on $350 million of the Term Loan Facilities is fixed at a rate of 3.0865 3.028 percent, plus the incremental borrowing margin
of 2.25 percent.

As of December 31, 2022, we were in compliance with the financial covenants under the Credit Agreement that were in effect
on such date.
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In March 2023, in connection with the planned phase-out of LIBOR, we amended our Credit Facilities to replace LIBOR with
SOFR as the benchmark rate under the Credit Agreement. This change was effective in March 2023 for the Term Loan A and the
Revolving Credit Facility and in June 2023 for the Term Loan B.

As of December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with the covenants under the Credit Agreement.
Scheduled Debt Payments

As of December 31, 2022, The following table presents future scheduled debt payments are $17 million for each as of the years
ending December 31, 2023 through 2025, $205 million for the year ending December 31, 2026 and $4 million for the year ending
December 31, 2027.:

(In millions)

2024 17
2025 17
2026 205
2027 4
2028 355

Total future scheduled debt payments 598
Less unamortized debt issuance costs 3)
Less unamortized discount (1)

Total debt $ 593

Note 12. Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Supplemental information relating to the our accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows is presented in the following
table: as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
(In millions) 2022 2021 2020 2023 2022 2021
Cash paid for (received from):
Interest expense $ 29 % 46 $ 55 $ 38 $29 $46
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Interest income ae6) 3) @
Income tax payments, net of refunds 26 40 37 72 26 40
Interest income 3) Q) 3)

Note 13. Cash and Marketable Securities

Cash, money market funds and certificates of deposit with maturities of three months or less when purchased are included in
Cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position.

Gains and losses on sales of investments, as determined on a specific identification basis, are included in investment income in
the period they are realized. For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, there were no gross realized gains, gross
realized losses or proceeds resulting from sales of available-for-sale securities. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2020,
maturities of available-for-sale securities were less than $1 million and $9 million, respectively. There were no maturities of available-for-
sale securities for the year ended December 31, 2021.

We periodically review our portfolio of investments to determine whether an allowance for credit losses is necessary. There was
a $3 million loss on an investment recognized during the year ended December 31, 2020, which is included in Interest and net
investment (income) loss in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. There were no credit
losses due to declines in the value of our investments recognized for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Note 14. Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss), which includes consists of net income (loss) and netthe unrealized gaingains (losses) on our
derivative instrument. We disclose comprehensive income (loss) on derivative instruments is disclosed in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income and consolidated statements of changes in equity.

The following tables summarize A summary of the activity changes in AOCI net of the related tax effects. is as follows:

(In millions)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ (33)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications: -
Pre-tax amount 9
Tax provision (benefit) 2
After-tax amount 7
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)(®) 8
Net current period other comprehensive income (loss) 15
Balance as of December 31, 2021 (18)$(18)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications:
Pre-tax amount 29 29
Tax provision (benefit) 7 7
After-tax amount 23 23
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)®) 4 4
Net current period other comprehensive income (loss) 27 27
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 8 8

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications:
Pre-tax amount 4

Tax provision (benefit)

After-tax amount 3
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)(®) (5)
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—
(°Y)
~

Net current period other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance as of December 31, 2023

©“
(o]

(1) Amounts are net of tax.income taxes. See the table below on reclassifications out of AOCI below for further details. additional
information.
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Reclassifications A summary of reclassifications out of AOCI included the following components. is as follows:

Year Ended
Year Ended December 31, Consolidated Statements of December 31,
Operations
and Comprehensive Income
(In millions) 2022 2021 2020 Location 20232022 2021
Loss on interest rate swap agreement $ ®B) $ (10) $ (9) Interest expense
Gain (loss) on interest rate swap contract® $ 7 $(5)$(10)
Provision for income
Impact of income taxes (2) 1 2 2 taxes 2 1 2
Total reclassifications during the period $ 4 3 (8) $ (7) $58(4)% (8)

(1) Included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

(2) Included in provision for income taxes in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Note 15. 14. Derivative Financial Instruments

We currently use a derivative financial instrument to manage risks associated with changes in interest rates. rates by hedging
the interest payments on a portion of our variable rate debt through the use of an interest rate swap contract. We do not hold or issue
derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. In designating derivative financial instruments as hedging
instruments under accounting standards for derivative instruments, we formally document the relationship between the hedging
instrument and the hedged item, as well as the risk management objective and strategy for the use of the hedging instrument. This
documentation includes linking the derivatives to forecasted transactions. We assess at the time a derivative contract is entered into,
and at least quarterly thereafter, whether the derivative item is effective in offsetting the projected cash flows of the associated
forecasted transaction.

We hedge the interest payments on a portion of our variable rate debt through the use of an interest rate swap agreement. Our
interest rate swap agreement contract is classified as a cash flow hedge, and, as such, it is recorded in the accompanying consolidated
statements of financial position as either an asset or liability at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded in AOCI. Cash flows
related to the interest rate swap agreement contract are classified as operating activities in the accompanying consolidated statements
of cash flows.

The effective portion of the gain or loss on our interest rate swap agreement contract is recorded in AOCI. These amounts are

reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecasted debt interest settlement affects earnings.
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See Note 1415 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the effective portion of the gain or loss on derivative
instruments recorded in AOCI and for the amounts reclassified out of AOCI and into earnings. earnings during the periods presented. As
the underlying forecasted transactions occur during the next 12 months, we estimate the unrealized hedging gain in AOCI expected to
be recognized in earnings is $5 million $4 million, net of tax, as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. The amounts that are
ultimately reclassified into earnings during the next 12 months will be determined based on the actual interest rates in effect at the time
the positions are settled, and may as a result, they could differ materially from the amount our estimate noted above.
Note 16. 15. Fair Value Measurements

We estimate fair value at a price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants in the principal market for the asset or liability. The valuation techniques require inputs that the business
categorizes usingwe categorize into a three-level hierarchy, from highest to lowest level of observable inputs, as follows: unadjusted
guoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets ("Level 1"); direct or indirect observable inputs, including quoted prices
or other market data, for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or identical assets or liabilities in less active markets ("Level 2");
and unobservable inputs that require significant judgment for which there is little or no market data ("Level 3"). When multiple input
levels are required for a valuation, we categorize the entire fair value measurement according to the lowest level of input that is
significant to the measurement, even though we may have also utilized significant inputs that are more readily observable.
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The period-end carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities
approximate their fair value because of values due to the short short-term maturities of these financial instruments. The As of December
31, 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of our total debt were $593 million and $609 million, respectively, and the estimated fair
values reflect the amounts that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date (exit price). were $598 million and $613 million, respectively. The fair value of our debt iswas
estimated based on available market prices for the same or similar instruments that are considered significant other observable inputs
(Level 2) within the fair value hierarchy. The carrying amount of our total debt hierarchy and was $609 million and $625 million, and the
estimated fair value was $613 million and $630 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The fair value estimates
presented in these consolidated financial statements are based on information available to us as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. the
respective period end dates.

We determine the fair value of our interest rate swap agreementcontract using a forward interest rate curve obtained from a
third-party market data provider. The fair value of the contract is the sum of the expected future settlements between the contract
counterparties, discounted to present value as determined on the valuation date. value. The expected future settlements are determined
by comparing the contract interest rate to the expected forward interest rate as of each settlement date and applying the difference
between the these two rates to the notional amount of debt in the interest rate swap agreement. contract.
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We did not change our valuation techniques for measuring the fair value of any financial assets and liabilities during the
year.year ended December 31, 2023. Transfers between fair value hierarchy levels, if any, are recognized at the end of the reporting
period. There were no transfers between hierarchy levels during the yearsyear ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. December 31,
2023.

The carrying amount and estimated fair value of Our interest rate swap contract is currently our only financial instruments that

are recorded instrument remeasured at fair value on a recurring basis are basis. A summary of the carrying value and fair value of this
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financial instrument is as follows:

Estimated Fair Value Measurements

Quoted Significant
Prices Other Significant
in Active Observable Unobservable
Statement of Carrying Markets Inputs Inputs
(In millions) Financial Position Location Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
As of December 31, 2022:
Financial Assets:
Interest rate swap agreement  Prepaid expenses and other assets $ 6 $ = $ =
Other assets 4 — —
Total financial assets $ 10 $ — 10 $ —
As of December 31, 2021:
Financial Liabilities:
Interest rate swap agreement  Other accrued liabilities $ 9 % = 9 % =
Other long-term obligations 15 — 15 —
Total financial liabilities $ 24 $ — 24 $ =
Estimated Fair Value Measurements
Quoted Significant
Prices Other Significant
in Active Observable Unobservable
Statement of Carrying Markets Inputs Inputs
(In millions) Financial Position Location Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
As of December 31, 2023:
Interest rate swap contract Prepaid expenses and other
current assets $ 5 % 5 3 =
Other assets —
Total assets $ 7 % 7% =
As of December 31, 2022:
Interest rate swap contract Prepaid expenses and other
current assets $ 6 $ 6 $ =
Other assets 4 4 —
Total assets $ 10 $ 10 $ —

Note 17.16. Capital Stock

We are authorized to issue 2,000,000,000 shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2023, there were 86,553,387 shares of

common stock issued and 78,378,511 shares of common stock outstanding. As of December 31, 2022, there were 86,079,773 shares

of common stock issued and 81,517,243 shares of common stock outstanding. As of December 31, 2021, there were 85,798,765

shares of common stock issued and 83,232,481 shares of common stock outstanding. We have no other classes of equity securities

issued or outstanding.
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Note 18.17. Share Repurchase Program
On September 7, 2021, we announced a three-year repurchase authorization of up to $400 million of outstanding shares of our
common stock over the three-year period from September 3, 2021 through September 3, 2024.
Purchases As of December 31, 2023, we have repurchased a total of 8,082,819 outstanding shares are as follows:
Year Ended

December 31,

(In millions, except per share data) 2022 2021

Number of shares purchased 1.9 2.6

Average price paid per share(®) $ 3051 $ 4022
Cost of shares purchased $ 59 $ 103

(2)at
a

cost
of

$281

milliThe average price paid per sharewhich is calculated included in treasury stock on a trade date basis the accompanying consolidated
statements of financial position, and excludes commissions.we had $119 million remaining available for future repurchases under
this program.
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A summary of repurchases of outstanding shares is as follows:
Year Ended

December 31,

(In millions, except per share data) 2023 2022

Number of shares purchased 3,604,625 1,917,350
Average price paid per share(®) $ 3329 $ 3051
Cost of shares purchased® $ 120 $ 59

(1) The average price paid per share and the cost of shares purchased are calculated on a trade date basis and exclude associated

commissions and taxes of $1 million and less than $1 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Note 19.18. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of
shares of common stock outstanding during the period, increased to include the number of shares of common stock that would have
been outstanding had potentially dilutive shares of common stock been issued. The dilutive effect if any, of stock options, performance

options, RSUs, performance shares and RSAs are reflected in diluted earnings per share by applying the treasury stock method.
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Basic A summary of the calculations of our basic and diluted earnings per share are calculatedis as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
(In millions, except per share data) 2022 2021 2020 2023 2022 2021
Net Income $ 71 $ 128 $ 112$171$ 71 % 128
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 81.8 85.1 85.2 80.5 81.8 85.1
Effect of dilutive securities:
RSUs) 0.1 0.2 02 03 01 02
Stock options(?) = 0.2 01 — — 02
Weighted-average common shares outstanding - assuming
dilution: 82.0 85.5 85.5 80.9 82.0 855
Basic earnings per share $ 0.87 $ 1.51 $ 1.32 $2.13 $O.87 $1.51
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.87 $ 1.50 $ 1.31 $212 $087 $150

(1) RSUs of 507,005 shares, 769,704 shares 204,339 shares and 51,537204,339 shares for the years ended December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, respectively, were not included in the diluted earnings per share calculation

because their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

(2) Options Stock options to purchase 1,276,776 shares, 1,357,963 shares 659,347 shares and 746,807 659,347 shares for the years
ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 20212022 and 2020, 2021, respectively, were not included in the diluted earnings
per share calculation because their effect would have been anti-dilutive. Performance options to purchase 646,230 shares and
159,769 shares for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, were not included in the diluted earnings per share
calculation because their effect would have been anti-dilutive. There were no performance options for the year ended December 31,
2021.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Frontdoor, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Frontdoor, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)

(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, of the Company
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and our report dated March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.
Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company'’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Memphis, Tennessee
March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain a set of disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in SEC rules and forms. The design of any disclosure controls and procedures is based in part upon certain assumptions

about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
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potential future conditions. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In accordance with Rule 13a-15(b) of the Exchange Act, as of the end
of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, an evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, were effective to provide reasonable
assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated
to our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financials reporting. Our
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well
designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance
with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. Management
based its assessment on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). Based on this assessment, management has
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has audited the effectiveness of our internal controls
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and has expressed an unqualified opinion in their report which is
included herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No There were no changes into our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act, occurred during our most recently completed fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None
ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.
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PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this Item for the company will be set forth in the company’s Proxy Statement for the 20232024

Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which information is hereby incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item for the company will be set forth in the company’s Proxy Statement for the 2023 2024
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which information is hereby incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by this Item for the company will be set forth in the company’s Proxy Statement for the 2023 2024
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which information is hereby incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item for the company will be set forth in the company’s Proxy Statement for the 2023 2024
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which information is hereby incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item for the company will be set forth in the company’s Proxy Statement for the 2023 2024

Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which information is hereby incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a). Financial Statements, Schedules and Exhibits.

1. Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID No. 34) contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form

10-K. 45
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023,

20212022 and 20202021 contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 47
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 contained in Item 8 of

this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 48
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and

20202021 contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 49
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020 2021

contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 50
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 51
2. Exhibits 72

The exhibits filed with this report are listed on the Exhibit Index. Entries marked by the symbol # next to the exhibit's number
identify management compensatory plans, contracts or arrangements.
3. Financial Statements Schedules

The following information is filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and should be read in conjunction with the financial

statements contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Schedule |—Frontdoor, Inc. (Parent Company Only) Condensed Financial Information 7576
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying_Accounts 7980
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.

Exhibit Exhibit

Number

71

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

21

3.1

3.2

4.1
10.1#

10.2#

10.3#

10.4#10.3#

10.6

10.7

10.910.4

10.10#10.5

10.11#10.6#

Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of September 28, 2018, by and between ServiceMaster Global

Holdings,_Inc. and Frontdoor, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Frontdoor’s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed on October 1, 2018).

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Frontdoor, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Frontdoor’s

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Frontdoor, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Frontdoor’s
Current Quarterly Report on Form 8-K filed on July 1, 2021 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2023).

Description of Securities.

Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement under the Frontdoor, Inc. 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Omnibus

Plan™)_(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Amendment No. 1 to Frontdoor’s Registration Statement on
Form 10 filed on August 30, 2018).

10.7 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on August 30, 2018).

Form of Director Deferred Share Equivalent Agreement under the Omnibus Plan (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.9 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on August 30, 2018).

Form of AHS Holding_ Company,_Inc. Indemnification Agreement by and between Frontdoor,_Inc. and individual

directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Frontdoor’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on
August 1, 2018).

ServiceMaster Global Holdings,_Inc.)_and Frontdoor,_Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Frontdoor’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2018).
Employee Matters Agreement, dated as of September 28, 2018, by and between Terminix Global Holdings,_Inc.

Frontdoor’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2018).

Amendment and Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to

Amendment No. 1 to Frontdoor’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 21, 2021).

and Restated Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.310.10 to Frontdoor’s Registration
Statement Quarterly Report on Form 10 filed on August 1, 2018 10-Q for the year ended March 31, 2023).
Offer Letter dated July 5, 2018, from Frontdoor, Inc. to Jeffrey Fiarman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to

Amendment No. 1 to Frontdoor’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on August 30, 2018).
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10.12#

10.13#10.7#

10.14#

10.15#10.8#

10.16# 10.9#

10.17#10.10#

10.18#10.11#

10.19#10.12#

10.20#10.13#

10.21#10.14#

10.22#10.15#

10.23#10.16#

10.24#10.17#

10.25#10.18#

10.26#*10.19#

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2018, between Rexford J. Tibbens and American Home Shield

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Frontdoor’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on August 1,
2018).

Frontdoor,_Inc. 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Amendment No. 1 to

Frontdoor’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on August 30, 2018).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice under the Frontdoor, Inc. 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by

Form of Stock Option Grant Notice under the Frontdoor, Inc. 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Frontdoor’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019).

Form of Performance Share Grant Notice under the Frontdoor, Inc. 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by

Frontdoor, Inc. 2019 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Frontdoor’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 2, 2019).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the Frontdoor, Inc. Omnibus Plan, effective March 2021

March 31, 2021).
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Frontdoor, Inc. Omnibus Plan, effective March 2021

March 31, 2021).

Form of Performance Shares Agreement under the Frontdoor, Inc. Omnibus Plan,_effective March 2021

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Frontdoor’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2021).
Employment Agreement, dated May 19, 2022, between William C. Cobb and Frontdoor, Inc. (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Frontdoor’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022).
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Form of Performance Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement under the Frontdoor, Inc. Omnibus Plan,

effective June 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Frontdoor’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2022).

Form of Performance Shares Agreement under the Frontdoor, Inc. Omnibus Plan, effective March 2021

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Frontdoor’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30, 2022).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Frontdoor, Inc. Omnibus Plan,_effective March 2021

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Frontdoor’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30,.2022).

Form of Sign-On Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Frontdoor, Inc. Omnibus Plan,_effective June 2022

30, 2022).
Offer Letter dated December 1, 2022, from Frontdoor, Inc. to Jessica Ross. Ross (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.26 to Frontdoor’s Annual Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2023).
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001727263/000119312521193466/d191532dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1727263/000172726319000009/ftdr-20190331xex10_2.htm
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1727263/000156276221000203/ftdr-20210331xex10_2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001727263/000156276221000203/ftdr-20210331xex10_3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1727263/000156276222000335/ftdr-20220630xex10_1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1727263/000156276222000335/ftdr-20220630xex10_2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1727263/000156276222000335/ftdr-20220630xex10_3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1727263/000156276222000335/ftdr-20220630xex10_4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1727263/000156276222000335/ftdr-20220630xex10_5.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1727263/000156276223000206/ftdr-20230331xex10_26.htm

10.27#*

10.28#*10.20# Frontdoor, Inc. Executive Severance Policy. Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Frontdoor’s Annual

21*
23*
31.1*

31.2*

32.1*

32.2*

97.1#*
101.INS*

101.SCH*
101.CAL*
101.DEF*
101.LAB*
101.PRE*
104*

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022).
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List of Subsidiaries.
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a - 14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a - 14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Cetrtification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Frontdoor,_Inc. Executive Clawback Policy.

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL
tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase.

Inline XBRL Extension Presentation Linkbase.

Cover page formatted as Inline XBRL and included in Exhibit 101.

# Denotes management compensatory plans, contracts or arrangements.
*  Filed herewith.

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual information or other

disclosure other than the terms of the agreements or other documents themselves, and you should not rely on them for that purpose. In

particular, any representations and warranties made by Frontdoor in these agreements or other documents were made solely within the

specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made

or at any other time.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Frontdoor, Inc. the Registrant has

duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date:

March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024

FRONTDOOR, INC.

By: /s/ William C. Cobb

William C. Cobb

Chief Executive Officer

Name:
Title:

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date:

Date:

Date:

Date:

Date:

Date:

Date:

Date:
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February 28, 2024 By:

March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024 By:
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March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024 By:
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/s/ William C. Cobb

Name: William C. Cobb
Title:  Chairman of the Board, Director and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)

/sl Jessica P. Ross

Name: Jessica P. Ross
Title:  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer)

/s/ Chastitie S. Brim

Name: Chastitie S. Brim
Title:  Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Controller
(principal accounting officer)

/s/ Lara H. Balazs

Name: Lara H. Balazs
Title:
/s/ D. Steve Boland

Director

Name: D. Steve Boland

Title:  Director

/s/ Anna C. Catalano

Name: Anna C. Catalano

Title:  Director

/sl Peter L. Cella

Name: Peter L. Cella
Title:  Director

/sl Christopher L. Clipper

Name: Christopher L. Clipper
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Date: March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024 By:

Date: March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024 By:

Date: March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024 By:

Title:  Director

/s/ Richard P. Fox Balakrishnan A. Ganesh

Name: Richard P. Fox Balakrishnan A. Ganesh

Title:  Director

/s/ Brian P. McAndrews

Name: Brian P. McAndrews

Title:  Director

s/ Liane J. Pelletier

Name: Liane J. Pelletier

Title:  Director

[Signature Page to the Annual Report on Form 10-K]
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SCHEDULE |

Frontdoor, Inc. (Parent Company Only)

Condensed Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income

(In millions)
Year Ended

December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Revenue $ — % — 3 =

Interest expense 31 39 57

Interest and net investment (income) loss — — 2

Loss on extinguishment of debt — 31 —

Loss before Income Taxes (31) (70) (59)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 1 1 Q)

Net Loss from Operations (32) (71) (58)

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries (net of tax) 104 199 170

Net Income $ 71 $ 128 $ 112

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Income Taxes:

Net unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instruments 27 15 (12)

Total Comprehensive Income $ 98 $ 143 $ 100

See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements.
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Assets:

Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Total Current Assets

Other Assets:

Investments in subsidiaries
Deferred tax assets, net

Other assets

Total Assets

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity:
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Other accrued liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt
Total Current Liabilities

Long-Term Debt

Due to Subsidiaries

Other Long-Term Liabilities:
Deferred tax liabilities, net

Other long-term obligations

Total Other Long-Term Liabilities
Shareholders' Equity

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Revenue

Interest expense

Interest and net investment income
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Loss before Income Taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net Loss from Operations

Frontdoor, Inc. (Parent Company Only)

Condensed Statements of Financial Position

(In millions)

As of

December 31,

2022 2021
$ 18
6
7 3
1,268 1,165
= 5
6 2
$ 1281 $ 1,176
$ $ 9
13
17 17
34 39
592 608
592 505
2 —
== 21
2 21
61 2
$ 1281 $ 1,176
Year Ended
December 31,
2023 2022 2021
$ — — —
40 31 39
(4) - -
= = 31
(35) (31) (70)
2 1 1
(38) (32 (71)
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Equity in earnings of subsidiaries, net of tax 209 104 199
Net Income $ 171 $ 71 128
Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income, Net of Income Taxes:

Unrealized (loss) gain on derivative instruments, net of income taxes 3) 27 15
Total Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income, Net of Income Taxes 3) 27 15
Comprehensive Income $ 169 $ 98 $ 143

See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements.
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Frontdoor, Inc. (Parent Company Only)
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows Financial Position
(In millions)

Year Ended

December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period $ 2 % 72 $ 132
Net Cash Used for Operating Activities (25) (32) (36)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Borrowings of debt, net of discount — 638 —
Payments of debt and finance lease obligations a7) (994) 7)
Debt issuance cost paid — (8) —
Call premium paid on retired debt — (22) —
Net transfers to (from) Parent Company 102 450 (18)
Repurchase of common stock (59) (203) —
Other financing activities 2) (2) —
Net Cash Provided from (Used for) Financing Activities 24 (38) (24)
Cash Decrease During the Period Q) (70) (60)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 13 2 % 72
As of

December 31,

2023 2022
Assets:
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 39 %
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5 6
Total Current Assets 44 7
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Other Assets:

Investments in subsidiaries

Other assets

Total Assets

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity:
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Other accrued liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt

Total Current Liabilities

Long-Term Debt

Due to Subsidiaries

Other Long-Term Liabilities:
Deferred tax liabilities, net

Other long-term liabilities

Total Other Long-Term Liabilities
Shareholders' Equity

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements.

Frontdoor, Inc. (Parent Company Only)

874 1,268

3 6

$ 921 $ 1,281

$ — 3 8
11

17 17

28 34

577 592

178 592

2

3 2

136 61

$ 921 $ 1,281
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Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period
Net Cash Provided Used for Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Borrowings of debt, net of discount

Repayments of debt

Debt issuance cost paid

Call premium paid on retired debt

Net transfers to Parent Company

Repurchase of common stock

Other financing activities

Net Cash Provided from (Used for) Financing Activities

(In millions)

Year Ended

December 31,

2023 2022 2021
$ 13 2 $ 72
(42) (25) (32)
— — 638
17) 17) (994)
= = (8)
= = (21)
216 102 450
(121) (59) (103)
i ) (1)
80 24 (38)
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Cash Increase (Decrease) During the Period 38 (2) (70)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 39 $ 1 9% 2

See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements.
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Frontdoor, Inc. (Parent Company Only)
Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements
Note 1. Basis of Presentation

The condensed financial statements of Frontdoor, Inc. (“Parent Company”) are required as a result of the restricted net assets
of the Parent Company’s consolidated subsidiaries exceeding 25 percent of the Parent Company’s consolidated net assets as of
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. All consolidated subsidiaries of the Parent Company are wholly owned. The primary source of
income for the Parent Company is equity in its subsidiaries’ earnings.

Pursuant to rules and regulations of the SEC, the unconsolidated condensed financial statements of the Parent Company do
not reflect all of the information and notes normally included with financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. Therefore,
these condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related
notes thereto included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Parent Company has accounted for its subsidiaries using the equity method of accounting in these condensed financial
statements.

Note 2. Long-Term Debt

On February 17, 2021, we repaid $100 million of the outstanding principal amount of the Prior Term Loan Facility. In connection
with the repayment, we recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of $1 million, which included the write-off of debt issuance costs and
original issue discount.

On June 17, 2021, we entered into the Credit Agreement, providing for the Term Loan A maturing June 17, 2026, the Term Loan
B maturing June 17, 2028 and the Revolving Credit Facility, which terminates June 17, 2026. The net proceeds of the transaction,
together with cash on hand, were used to redeem the remaining outstanding principal amounts of $534 million of the Prior Term Loan
Facility and $350 million of the 2026 Notes at a price of 106.1%. In addition, the Revolving Credit Facility replaced the Prior Revolving
Credit Facility. In connection with the repayments, we recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of $30 million in the second quarter of
2021, which included a “make-whole” redemption premium of $21 million on the 2026 Notes and the write-off of $9 million of debt
issuance costs and original issue discount.

For the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 20212022 and 2020,2021, Parent Company’'s debt and
corresponding interest expense were not allocated to its subsidiaries. American Home Shield is a co-obligor and/or guarantor of the
debt, and interest expense has been pushed down to American Home Shield for income tax purposes. For further information on the
Parent Company'’s financing transactions, see Note 11 to the audited consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Note 3. Supplemental Non-Cash Information

The Parent Company entered into certain non-cash transactions with subsidiaries as follows, which have been excluded from
the condensed statements of cash flows:

Year Ended

December 31,
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(In millions) 2023 2022 2021

Settlement of amounts due to subsidiaries $ (605) $ — $ =
Dividend from subsidiaries 605 — —
Note 4. Share Repurchase Program

On September 7, 2021, we announced a three-year repurchase authorization of up to $400 million of outstanding shares of our
common stock over the three-year period from September 3, 2021 through September 3, 2024. As of December 31, 2022December 31,
2023, we have purchased repurchased a total of 4,478,194 8,082,819 outstanding shares at an aggregate a cost of $162 million $281
million, and we had $238 million $119 million remaining available for future repurchases under the this program. For further information
on the Parent Company'’s share repurchases, see Note 18 17 to the audited consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this

Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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SCHEDULE II
Frontdoor, Inc.
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(In millions)

Additions Additions
Charged Balance
Balance at Charged to Balance at Balance at to at

Beginning Costs
Beginning of Costs and End of of and End of

Period Expenses Deductions(® Period Period ExpensesDeductions() Period

As of and for the year ended December
31, 2023
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Accounts receivable $ 4% 22% 21$ 5

Income tax valuation allowance — 1 —

As of and for the year ended December
31, 2022
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Accounts receivable $ 4 % 19 $ 18 $ 4 $ 4% 19% 18% 4
Income tax valuation allowance 1 — 1 — 1 — 1 —
As of and for the year ended December
31, 2021
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Accounts receivable $ 2 $ 18 $ 17 $ 4% 2% 18% 17%¢ 4

Income tax valuation allowance 2 — 1 1 2 — 1
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As of and for the year ended December

31, 2020
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Accounts receivable $ 2 $ 17 $ 16 $
Income tax valuation allowance 2 — —

(1) Deductions to the allowance for doubtful accounts for accounts receivable reflect write-offs of uncollectible accounts. Deductions to
the income tax valuation allowance are primarily attributable to the reduction in net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred

tax assets related to the uncertainty of future taxable income in certain jurisdictions.
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Exhibit 4.1
DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIESREGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12
OF THESECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023,
Frontdoor, Inc. had one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act"): its common stock, par value $0.01 per share (our “common

stock”). References herein to “we,” “us,” “our” and the “Company” refer to Frontdoor, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, and not to any of its subsidiaries.The following description of the terms of our common
stock is only a summary. This description is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to,

our restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws, each of which is
incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K, of which this Exhibit is a
part. We encourage you to read our restated certificate of incorporation, our amended and restated
bylaws and the applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL") for
additional information. GeneralOur authorized capital stock consists of 2 billion shares of common
stock, par value $0.01 per share, and 200 million shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share,
all of which shares of preferred stock are undesignated. Our board of directors may establish the rights
and preferences of the preferred stock from time to time.Common StockEach holder of shares of our
common stock is entitled to one vote for each share on all matters to be voted upon by the common
stockholders, and there are no cumulative voting rights. Subject to any preferential rights of any
outstanding preferred stock, holders of shares of our common stock are entitled to receive ratably the
dividends, if any, as may be declared from time to time by our board of directors out of funds legally
available for that purpose. If there is a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our Company, holders of
our common stock would be entitled to a ratable distribution of its assets remaining after the payment in
full of debts, liabilities and any preferential rights of any then-outstanding preferred stock.Holders of our
common stock have no preemptive or conversion rights or other subscription rights, and there are no
redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the common stock. All outstanding shares of our
common stock are fully paid and non-assessable. The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders
of our common stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of
shares of any series of preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future.Preferred
StockUnder the terms of our restated certificate of incorporation, our board of directors is authorized,
subject to limitations prescribed by the DGCL, and by our restated certificate of incorporation, to issue

up to 200 million shares of preferred stock in one or more series without further action by the holders of
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our common stock. Our board of directors has the discretion, subject to the limitations proscribed by the
DGCL and by our restated certificate of incorporation, to determine the rights, preferences, privileges
and restrictions, including voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and
liquidation preferences, of each series of preferred stock.Corporate GovernanceSingle Class Capital
Structure.\We have a single class share capital structure with all stockholders entitled to vote for
director nominees and each holder of common stock entitled to one vote per share.Director
Elections.As of the 2022 annual meeting of stockholders, our board of directors is no longer classified
under Section 141(d) of the DGCL and all of our directors will stand for election each year for one year
terms, and our board will therefore no longer be divided into three classes.At any meeting of
stockholders for the election of directors at which a quorum is present, the election will be determined
by a majority of the votes cast by the stockholders entitled to vote in the election, with directors not
receiving a majority of the votes cast required to tender their resignations for consideration by the

board, except that

Exhibit 4.1

in the case of a contested election, the election will be determined by a plurality of the votes cast by the
stockholders entitled to vote in the election.Special Stockholder Meetings.Our restated certificate of
incorporation provides that the chairman of the board of directors or the board of directors pursuant to a
resolution adopted by a majority of the entire board of directors may call special meetings of our

stockholders. Stockholders may not call special meetings of stockholders.

Majority Vote for Mergers and Other Business Combinations.Mergers and other business
combinations involving our Company will generally be required to be approved by a majority vote where
such stockholder approval is required.Anti-Takeover Effects of Various Provisions of Delaware Law
and Our Certificate of Incorporation and BylawsProvisions of the DGCL and our restated certificate
of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could make it more difficult to acquire our Company
by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise, or to remove incumbent officers and directors.
These provisions, summarized below, may discourage certain types of coercive takeover practices and
takeover bids that our board of directors may consider inadequate and to encourage persons seeking
to acquire control of our Company to first negotiate with our board of directors. We believe that the
benefits of increased protection of its ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or
unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure it outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging takeover or
acquisition proposals because, among other things, negotiation of these proposals could result in an
improvement of their terms.Delaware Anti-Takeover StatuteAs a Delaware corporation, we are
subject to Section 203 of the DGCL, an anti-takeover statute. In general, Section 203 of the DGCL
prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an
“interested stockholder” for a period of three years following the time the person became an interested
stockholder, unless the business combination or the acquisition of shares that resulted in a stockholder
becoming an interested stockholder is approved in a prescribed manner. Generally, a “business

combination” includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit
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to the interested stockholder. Generally, an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with
affiliates and associates, owns (or within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder
status did own) 15 percent or more of a corporation’s voting stock. The existence of this provision
would be expected to have an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions not approved in advance
by our board of directors, including discouraging attempts that might result in a premium over the
market price for the shares of common stock held by our stockholders.Size of Board and
VacanciesOur restated certificate of incorporation provides that the number of directors on our board of
directors will be fixed exclusively by our board of directors. Any vacancies created in our board of
directors resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors or the death, resignation,
retirement, disqualification, removal from office or other cause will be filled by a majority of the board of
directors then in office, even if less than a quorum is present, or by a sole remaining director. Any
director appointed to fill a vacancy on our board of directors will be appointed for a term expiring at the
next annual meeting of stockholders, and until his or her successor has been elected and
gualified.Director RemovalOur restated certificate of incorporation provides that stockholders may
remove our Company'’s directors with or without cause. Removal will require the affirmative vote of at
least two thirds of our Company’s voting stock.Stockholder Action by Written ConsentOur restated
certificate of incorporation expressly eliminates the right of stockholders to act by written consent.

Stockholder action may only take place at an annual or a special meeting of our stockholders.

2

Exhibit 4.1

Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Nominations and ProposalsOur amended
and restated bylaws establish advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and
nomination of candidates for election as directors other than nominations made by or at the direction of
our board of directors or a committee of our board of directors.No Cumulative VotingThe DGCL
provides that stockholders are denied the right to cumulate votes in the election of directors, unless the
Company’s certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our restated certificate of incorporation does
not provide for cumulative voting.Undesignated Preferred StockThe authority that our board of
directors possesses to issue preferred stock could potentially be used to discourage attempts by third
parties to obtain control of our Company through a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise by
making such attempts more difficult or more costly. Our board of directors may be able to issue
preferred stock with voting rights or conversion rights that, if exercised, could adversely affect the

voting power of the holders of common stock.

Dissenters’ Rights of Appraisal and PaymentUnder the DGCL, with certain exceptions, our
stockholders will have appraisal rights in connection with a merger or consolidation of our Company.
Pursuant to the DGCL, stockholders who properly request and perfect appraisal rights in connection
with such merger or consolidation will have the right to receive payment of the fair value of their shares
as determined by the Delaware Court of Chancery.Stockholders’ Derivative ActionsUnder the

DGCL, any of our stockholders may bring an action in our name to procure a judgment in our favor,
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also known as a derivative action, provided that the stockholder bringing the action is a holder of our
shares at the time of the transaction to which the action relates or such stockholder’s stock thereafter
devolved by operation of law.Exclusive ForumOur restated certificate of incorporation provides that,
unless our board of directors otherwise determines, the state courts of the State of Delaware, or, if no
state court located in the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal court for the District of
Delaware, will be the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on
behalf of our Company, any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our
directors or officers to our Company or our stockholders, creditors or other constituents, any action
asserting a claim against our Company or any of our directors or officers arising pursuant to any
provision of the DGCL or our restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated bylaws, or
any action asserting a claim against our Company or any of our directors or officers governed by the
internal affairs doctrine.We have included this exclusive forum provision in restated certificate of
incorporation because such provision, in our view, is in the best interests of our Company and our
stockholders for the following reasons: (1) the exclusive forum provision provides that certain intra-
corporate disputes will be litigated in Delaware, the state in which our Company is incorporated and
whose law governs such disputes; (2) the Delaware Chancery Court has developed extensive expertise
in dealing with corporate law issues, as well as a substantial and influential body of case law
interpreting Delaware’s corporate law; (3) the exclusive forum provision will help us avoid multiple
lawsuits in numerous jurisdictions relating to the same dispute, thus preventing corporate resources
from being unnecessarily diverted to address duplicative, costly and wasteful multi-forum litigation; (4)
the exclusive forum provision will provide value to our Company and our stockholders by facilitating
consistency and predictability in litigation outcomes and reducing the risk that the outcome of cases in
multiple jurisdictions could be inconsistent, even though each jurisdiction purports to follow Delaware
law; (5) the exclusive forum provision does not materially change the substantive legal claims or
remedies available to our stockholders, but rather only regulates the forum in which stockholders may
file claims relating to certain specified intra-corporate disputes; and (6) our board of directors has the
ability to consent to an alternative forum in appropriate circumstances where the board determines that
the interests of our Company and our stockholders are best served by permitting a particular dispute to

proceed in a forum other than Delaware.

Exhibit 4.1

Limitations on Liability, Indemnification of Officers and Directors and InsuranceThe DGCL
authorizes corporations to limit or eliminate the personal liability of directors to corporations and their
stockholders for monetary damages for breaches of directors’ fiduciary duties as directors, and our
restated certificate of incorporation includes such an exculpation provision. Our restated certificate of
incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws include provisions that indemnify, to the fullest
extent allowable under the DGCL, the personal liability of directors or officers for monetary damages for
actions taken as a director or officer of our Company, or for serving at our request as a director or
officer or another position at another corporation or enterprise, as the case may be. Our restated
certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws also provide that we must indemnify

and advance reasonable expenses to our directors and officers, subject to our receipt of an undertaking
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from the indemnified party as may be required under the DGCL. Our restated certificate of
incorporation expressly authorizes us to carry directors’ and officers’ insurance to protect our Company
and our directors, officers and certain employees against some liabilities. The limitation of liability and
indemnification provisions that are in our restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and
restated bylaws may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against directors for breach of
their fiduciary duty. These provisions may also have the effect of reducing the likelihood of derivative
litigation against our directors and officers, even though such an action, if successful, might otherwise
benefit our Company and its stockholders. However, these provisions do not limit or eliminate our
rights, or those of any stockholder, to seek non-monetary relief such as an injunction or rescission in
the event of a breach of a director’s duty of care. The provisions do not alter the liability of directors
under the federal securities laws. In addition, your investment may be adversely affected to the extent
that, in a class action or direct suit, we pay the costs of settlement and damage awards against
directors and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions. There is currently no pending
material litigation or proceeding against any of our directors, officers or employees for which
indemnification is sought.Authorized but Unissued SharesOur authorized but unissued shares of
common stock and preferred stock will be available for future issuance without your approval. We may
use additional shares for a variety of purposes, including future public offerings to raise additional
capital, to fund acquisitions and as employee compensation. The existence of authorized but unissued
shares of common stock and preferred stock could

render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of our Company by means of a proxy
contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise.Transfer Agent and RegistrarThe transfer agent and
registrar for shares of our common stock is Computershare Trust Company, N.A.ListingOur common
stock is listed on the NASDAQ under the symbol “FTDR.”

4

Exhibit 10.26

l=.Picture 1

December 1, 2022Jessica Ross1107 Alvarado RoadBerkeley, California 94705Dear Jessica:l
am delighted and enthusiastic to confirm Frontdoor’s offer of employment to you for the position
of Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, with a start date of December 30, 2022.
We have been impressed with your abilities and the range of your potential contributions, and
we are looking forward to a fun and meaningful collaboration with you.The details of your initial
employment compensation and benefits package are attached. To indicate your acceptance of
this offer, please sign and date the enclosed acceptance letter and forward it to me by
December 4, 2022. You are joining Frontdoor at a very exciting stage of our company’s

growth. Our success hinges upon the people who make up our organization. We anticipate that
your unique skills and capabilities will play an important role in our efforts as we strive to
continue to achieve and exceed our goals going forward.
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On behalf of the entire team at Frontdoor, welcome aboard!
Kind regards,/s/ William C. Cobb

William Cobb

Chairman and Chief Executive OfficerFrontdoor, Inc.

EXHIBIT “A”JESSICA ROSSSENIOR VICE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF

FINANCIAL OFFICER

eI Position to report to the Chief Executive Officer
of Frontdoor, Inc. (the “Corporation”)

Base Salary: US$600,000 per annum

Employment Start Date: December 30, 2022

Annual Incentive Plan 90% of base salary target bonus under the AIP

(AIP): in accordance with the terms of the plan for
similarly situated senior management team
members. If employment start date is before
October 31 of the current plan year, any bonus
payable will be pro-rated and paid in
accordance with plan guidelines.
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Annual Equity Incentive
Compensation:

Sign-On Bonus:

Commencing in calendar year 2023 and each
subsequent calendar year thereafter, you shall
be eligible to be considered for annual
participation in the Corporation’s stock incentive
plan, with any awards to be made at the same
time as similarly situated senior management
team members and with the form and amount of
the awards to be determined by the
Compensation Committee.

For calendar year 2023, the aggregate annual
equity award grant value for you will equal
US$1,700,000, consisting of (i) US$850,000 in
grant value in the form of restricted stock units
(2023 RSUs") subject to vesting annually over
three (3) years in equal installments
commencing on the grant date, and (ii)
US$850,000 in grant value in the form of
performance equity award (“2023 Performance
Award") to be determined by the Compensation
Committee in the same manner as similarly
situated senior management team members.
The 2023 RSUs and the 2023 Performance
Award are expected to be granted in March
2023 at the same time annual awards are
generally made to associates.

All awards are subject to vesting over time
and/or Corporation performance, as well as
continued employment, and shall be governed
by the Corporation’s stock incentive plan
documents and relevant agreements.

US$775,000 sign-on bonus, payable within thirty
(30) days of employment and subject to a sign-
on bonus repayment agreement if you depart
prior to the first anniversary of your employment
start date.
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Sign-On Equity Grant:

Paid Time Off:

Health, Medical and
Other Benefits:

Frontdoor Profit
Sharing and Retirement
Plan:

Temporary Housing:

Relocation:

Grant value of US$100,000 under the
Corporation’s stock incentive plan, consisting of
US$100,000 in restricted stock units (“Sign-on
RSUs"). All Sign-on RSUs are subject to an
annual vesting schedule over two years in equal
installments commencing on your employment
start date. Awards are subject to continued
employment and shall be governed by the
Corporation’s stock incentive plan documents
and relevant agreements.

In addition to the Corporation’s recognized
holidays, you will be eligible to participate in the
Corporation’s flexible time off program, as may
be amended from time to time.

Eligible to receive healthcare, medical benefits
and other benefits customarily provided to U.S.
employees of the Corporation, effective on the
first day of the month following start date.
Eligible to participate in the Corporation’s 401 (k)
plan. The 401(k) includes a company match
equal to 100% of first 1% of employee
contributions and 50 cents on the dollar for next
5% of employee contributions. Automatic
employee enroliment in the 401(k) plan at 3%
contribution rate after thirty 30 days of

service. The company match vests after two
years of employment; employees are always
100% vested in their own contributions. Ability to
increase, decrease or stop contributions are
permitted at any time, subject to plan
documents.

If so desired, the Corporation shall provide you
with corporate housing in the Memphis area and
reasonable local transportation for the first six
(6) months of your employment.

If you decide to relocate to the Memphis area
within the first twenty-four (24) months of your
employment, you will be eligible to receive an
executive relocation package offered pursuant
to the Corporation’s relocation policy in effect at
such time for similarly situated executives.
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Travel to Memphis or
Other Business
Locations:

Severance Benefits:
(General)

Regular travel to Memphis or other business
locations is expected as business needs
require. When traveling for company business
the Corporation’s travel and expense policies

will apply.

Unless an executive severance plan or policy of
the Corporation is in effect and otherwise applies
to you, in the event that your employment with
the Corporation is terminated at any time by the
Corporation without “Cause” or by you for “Good
Reason” (each as defined below), you will be
entitled to receive the following (collectively, the
“Severance Bengefits”):

a)

An amount equal to your annual base salary in effect at
the time of your termination date;

b)

An amount equal to your then current year’s annual
incentive at target, pursuant to the terms of the then
AlP;

c)

An amount equal to your annual bonus earned with
respect to the calendar year immediately prior to the
year in which your termination occurs, to the extent not
previously paid; plus if your termination date occurs on
or after June 30 of the current calendar year, an
amount equal to a pro rata portion of your then current
year's annual incentive based on actual Corporation
performance pursuant to the terms of the then AIP and
payable at the same time annual incentives are
generally made to associates; and

d)

Provided you make the necessary elections,
reimbursement for your continued health coverage
under the Corporation-sponsored health plans pursuant
to the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act
("COBRA"), for up to twelve (12) months following the
termination date;

The Severance Benefits described in (a) and (b)

above shall be aggregated as a single sum and
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the sum shall be paid in 12 equal monthly
installments over a 12-month period starting on
the first practicable payroll date after the
severance agreement has become irrevocable.
The Corporation’s severance agreement
including customary releases and other
customary provisions will be required to be
executed by you prior to your receipt of any
Severance Benefits.

“Cause” shall mean (i) your willful and
continued failure to perform substantially your
duties with the Corporation or any of its
subsidiaries (other than any such failure
resulting from your incapacity as a result of
physical or mental illness) after a written
demand for substantial performance specifying
the manner in which you have not performed
such duties is delivered to you by the person or
entity that supervises or manages you, (ii) your
engaging in willful and serious misconduct that
is injurious to the Corporation or any of its
subsidiaries, (iii) your commission of one or
more acts of fraud or personal dishonesty
resulting in or intended to result in personal
enrichment at the expense of the Corporation or
any of its subsidiaries, (iv) your substantial
abusive use of alcohol, drugs or similar
substances that, in the reasonable judgment of
the Corporation, impairs your job performance,
(v) your material violation of any Corporation
policy that results in harm to the Corporation or
any of its subsidiaries, or (vi) your indictment for
or conviction of (or plea of guilty or nolo
contendere to) a felony or of any crime (whether
or not a felony) involving moral turpitude.

“Good Reason” shall mean, without your
consent, (i) the reduction in any material respect
in your position, authorities or responsibilities
that you had with the Corporation, (ii) a material
reduction in your annual rate of base salary,
annual target cash bonus opportunity or annual
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target long-term incentive opportunity (other
than pursuant to an across-the-board reduction
applicable to all similarly situated senior
management team members), (iii) the relocation
of your principal place of employment by more
than 50 miles from your then current place of
employment, or (iv) the material breach of an
existing agreement between the Corporation (or
its subsidiaries or affiliates) and you; provided,
thatany of the events described in clauses (i) —
(iv) above shall constitute Good Reason only if
the Corporation fails to cure such event within
30 days after receipt from you of written notice
of the event that constitutes Good Reason; and
provided, further, that you shall cease to have a
right to terminate due to any Good Reason

event on the 90" day following the later of the
occurrence of the event or your knowledge
thereof, unless you have given the Corporation
written notice thereof prior to such date.

Unless an executive severance plan or policy of
the Corporation is in effect and otherwise
applies to you, in the event that your
employment with the Corporation is terminated
by the Corporation without “Cause” or by you for
“Good Reason” (each as defined above), and
such termination occurs in connection with or
within the two-year period following a Change in
Control (as defined in the Corporation’s 2018
Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended from time
to time), the Severance Benefits described in (a)
and (b) above shall be doubled.

Severance Benefits:
(Change in Control -
Double Trigger)

William CobbChairman and Chief Executive OfficerFrontdoor, Inc.3400
Players Club Parkway, Suite 300Memphis, TN 38103Dear Bill:This is to confirm
my acceptance of the offer of conditional employment presented to me by
Frontdoor, Inc. for the position of Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
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Officer (per the attached offer letter dated December 1, 2022).I1 understand the
offer of employment is contingent upon my successfully passing a criminal
background check, as well as education verification, if applicable. | further
understand this offer is contingent upon the completion of a verification of the
facts | have provided to you on Frontdoor’s application for employment, if
applicable, and for I-9 purposes.

| also understand this employment as Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer is contingent on my execution of the Frontdoor
Noncompetition, Assignment of Work Product and Confidentiality Agreement
and my agreement to utilize Frontdoor’s alternative dispute resolution program
We Listen to resolve my work-related disputes/concerns and to arbitrate such
disputes if they are not resolved.

My signature below confirms that | understand and agree to the contents of my
offer letter (a copy of which | have attached). | understand all employment
compensation, including bonus and incentive payments, if applicable, will be
subject to applicable withholding tax and payroll deductions. | further
understand Frontdoor reserves the right, in its sole discretion and at any

time, to revise, modify, suspend or withdraw any compensation, annual bonus
or other incentive plans, as to participation level, payout metrics, eligibility,
timing or other features of the plans.l understand this letter does not constitute
an employment contract. | understand that my employment with Frontdoor is
“at will” and that Frontdoor may terminate my employment at any time, with or
without notice. | understand that | am also free to terminate my employment at
any time, for any reason, with or without notice.l am pleased to accept the offer
with Frontdoor, and | look forward to working with you.

/s/ Jessica Ross 12/1/2022

Jessica RossDate

7

Exhibit 10.27
L. Picture 3

December 1, 2022Mr. Brian Turcotte3196 Wetherby DriveGermantown, TN 38139
Re:Separation and Transition Arrangement

Dear Brian:

The purpose of this letter agreement is to confirm our mutual understanding regarding

the transition of your employment with Frontdoor, Inc. (collectively with its

subsidiaries, the “Company”) through the Departure Date (as defined below).

In consideration of, among other things, your agreement to forego stepping down from

the Company immediately and continuing in the employ of the Company until March
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31, 2023 (the “Departure Date”) and provided that you continue to perform all the
duties associated with your position in a professional manner and cooperate fully in
the transition of your responsibilities as may be reasonably requested by the
Company and as set forth below, we have agreed to the following:

1. Transition Period: You shall continue to serve as the Company’s Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer until December 30, 2022 (the “CEO
Resignation Date”). Beginning on the CFO Resignation Date and continuing
through the Departure Date, you shall continue to serve as an employee of
the Company and hold the title of Vice President and Advisor to the CEO of
the Company. During the period from the CFO Resignation Date until the
Departure Date, you shall report to me and perform such duties as
reasonably requested by the Company including providing assistance to your
successor and others as may be requested from time to time. As of the
Departure Date, you shall terminate your employment with the Company
and, by executing this letter agreement, you hereby confirm (i) your
resignation as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, and as an officer and director of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries as may be applicable, each effective as of the CFO Resignation
Date, and (ii) your resignation as Vice President and Advisor to the CEO of
the Company effective as of the Departure Date. You agree to execute any
additional notices, letters or agreements as may be reasonably requested by
the Company to effectuate any such director, officer or employee
resignation(s).

l=.Picture 4
Mr. Brian Turcotte
December 1, 2022
Page 2
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2. Transition Base Salary, 2022 Annual Bonus and Other Benefits: You shall
continue to receive your base salary at its current rate and the benefits and
perquisites to which you are currently entitled through the CFO Resignation
Date except as modified below. Beginning on the CFO Resignation Date
and continuing through the Departure Date, you shall receive a base salary
at a rate of $200,000 per annum and shall receive the benefits and
perquisites to which associates holding the title of Vice President are
otherwise entitled under the Company’s policies, except you shall not be
eligible for any bonus payments for the calendar year 2023. With respect to
your annual performance cash bonus payable under Company’s Annual
Incentive Plan (“AlIP”) for calendar year 2022 (the “2022 Annual Bonus”), you
will remain eligible to receive such bonus in the ordinary course at the same
time such bonus is otherwise payable to Company associates (typically in
March 2023) in accordance with the terms of the 2022 AIP. The Company
confirms it will pay any standard paid time off (“PTQO”) days accrued but
unused by you prior to the Departure Date in accordance with the
Company’s customary policy for payout of accrued but unused PTO days, as
applicable, following an associate’s cessation of employment.

3. Separation Payments and Benefits:  Subject to (i) your continued
employment through the CFO Resignation Date pursuant to the terms and
conditions of this letter agreement, and (iij) your execution and non-
revocation of the general release attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and any
other agreement incorporated herein by reference, you shall receive the
following payments and benefits:

a. Separation Payment: An amount (the “Separation Payment”) equal
to the sum of (a) twelve (12) months’ base salary at your current rate
as of the date hereof, and (b) an amount equal to your annual
performance cash bonus payable under Company’s AIP at your target
payout amount as of the date hereof (i.e., 90% of your current base
salary) assuming Company performance at target. The Separation
Payment shall be paid in twelve (12) equal monthly installments
beginning within thirty (30) days of the Departure Date, subject to
lawful deductions and withholdings.

b. COBRA Allowance: Provided you make the necessary elections, the
Company will reimburse you for your continued health coverage under
the Company-sponsored health plans pursuant to the Consolidated
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act ("COBRA") for up to twelve (12)
months following the Departure Date or such shorter period of time if
you obtain alternative health coverage from another employer.
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c. Outplacement Services: You shall be eligible to receive outplacement
services as provided by a third party selected by the Company in
accordance with the Company’s outplacement program provided such
outplacement services are initiated within sixty (60) days of the
Departure Date.

Mr. Brian Turcotte

December 1, 2022

Page 3

4. 2022 Annual Bonus: To the extent not paid in the ordinary course prior to the

Departure Date, you will remain eligible to receive the 2022 Annual Bonus at
the same time such bonus is otherwise payable to Company associates (and
notwithstanding your termination on the Departure Date) at your target
payout amount as of the date hereof and based on actual Company
performance in accordance with the terms of the 2022 AIP.

5. No Duplication of Benefits: To the extent you become eligible for any
payment or benefit under the terms of any Company plan, program or
arrangement following the date you sign this letter agreement, you agree that
any such payment or benefit shall be offset, dollar-for-dollar if applicable, by
any payment or corresponding benefit provided under this letter agreement.

6. General Releases. You agree to execute our general release substantially in
the form attached hereto as Exhibit “A” simultaneously with your execution of
this letter agreement, and you agree to sign the bring-down release
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit “B” (the “Bring-Down
Release”) upon or within 7 days following your Departure Date. If you do not
execute the Bring-Down Release as provided herein, your entitlement of
payments under Section 3 of this letter agreement shall cease and the
Company will have no further obligation hereunder.

If the foregoing accurately sets forth our mutual understanding, please so confirm at
your earliest convenience by countersigning this letter agreement as set forth below

and returning it to me. Very truly
yours, /s/
William C.
Cobb William
Cobb Chairman and Chief Executive
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Officer Frontdoor, Inc.AttachmentsSO
AGREED AND CONFIRMED:

[s/ Brian Turcotte

Brian Turcotte

Date:_ 12/1/2022

3
Mr. Brian Turcotte
December 1, 2022
Page 4
EXHIBIT “A”Form of General Release
4

GENERAL RELEASE

This GENERAL RELEASE (“Release”) is made by and between Frontdoor, Inc
and its subsidiaries including American Home Shield Corporation (collectively, the
“Company”), andBrian Turcotte (for himself and his present or former heirs, executors,
creditors, dependents, spouse(s), administrators, successors, and assigns, collectively
referred to throughout this Release, except as the recipient of the Consideration, as set
forth in Section 2 below and provider of services, as set forth in Section 1 below, as
“Employee”). The Company and the Employee are sometimes collectively referred to as
the “Parties” or individually as a “Party.”

As outlined below, in the event that the Employee has not revoked this Release
within seven (7) days after the Employee’s execution and delivery hereof, this Release
shall become effective on the eighth (8") day after the Employee’s execution and delivery
hereof (the “Effective Date”).

In consideration of the mutual promises and releases contained herein and for other
good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the
Parties agree as follows:

1. Resignation and Last Day of Employment.
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a. The Employee has entered into a letter agreement with the Company dated
December 1, 2022 (the “Letter Agreement”) regarding his resignation as Senior
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, and as an officer,
and director of the Company and each of its subsidiaries, as applicable, on
December 30, 2022 and the Employee’s subsequent termination of
employment. Pursuant to the terms of the Letter Agreement, the Employee’s
last day of employment with the Company shall be on March 31, 2023 (the
“Departure Date”) (and the Employee’s signature herein upon execution of this
Release constitutes the Employee’s signed notice of such resignation).

The Company may relieve the Employee of all duties and place the Employee

on administrative leave prior to the Departure Date by providing the Employee

with notice. The Employee no longer will be authorized to transact business or
incur any expenses, obligations, and liabilities on behalf of the Company after

the earlier of being placed on administrative leave or the Departure Date.

2. Consideration.

In consideration for signing this Release and the consideration set forth in the
Letter Agreement (the terms and conditions of which are incorporated as if fully
set out herein), and only so long as the Employee remains fully in compliance
with the promises, terms and conditions made in this Release and the Letter
Agreement, the Parties have agreed to the terms and conditions as set forth
herein.

b. The Employee shall not be entitled to any equity grants, including but not limited
to, grants of non-qualified stock options, performance stock options,
performance shares or restricted stock units (collectively “Equity Awards”),
following the date the Employee signs this Release. All Equity Awards
outstanding as of the date the Employee signs this Release (i) shall continue to
vest in accordance with their terms through the Departure Date, and (ii) shall
continue to be governed by the terms of the Frontdoor, Inc. 2018 Omnibus
Incentive Plan (the “2018 Plan”) and such agreements executed thereunder
including without limitation, any restrictive covenants contained therein and
applicable to such Equity Awards. For purposes

of clarity, with respect to his Equity Awards, the Employee shall be treated as if
the Employee was terminated without Cause (as so defined under the 2018 Plan and
the agreements thereunder) as of the Departure Date. Except as otherwise provided in
the 2018 Plan or any Equity Award agreement with the Company executed thereunder,
any unvested portion of the Equity Awards as of the Departure Date shall be cancelled
without payment therefor upon the Departure Date.
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c. Regardless of whether the Employee chooses to enter into this Release,
subject to the Company’s standard reimbursement policy and manager’s
approval, the Company agrees to reimburse Employee for all outstanding
expenses that the Employee incurred in the normal course of performing the
Employee’sduties for the Company prior to the Employee’s termination of
employment with the Company. The Company will also pay, in accordance with
the Company’s standard paid time off (“PTQ”) policy, the Employee’s accrued-
but-unused PTO regardless of whether the Employee signs this Release.

d. Except as provided in the Letter Agreement, all benefits shall cease upon the
Departure Date except that, in respect to the health insurance plan, the
Employee will be allowed to continue participation in the Company’s health
insurance plan in accordance with the provisions of the Consolidated Omnibus
Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”) regardless of whether the Employee
enters into this Release. Information regarding the Employee’s COBRA rights
will be sent under separate cover. Except as specified herein, the Employee’s
benefits will be governed by the applicable plan and grant or award terms.

No Consideration Absent Execution of this Release; Benefits. The Employee
acknowledges and agrees that the consideration set forth in Section 2 above and in
the Letter Agreement are in excess of that which the Company is obligated to
provide to the Employee and, except as specified above, the Employee
understands and agrees that the monies and benefits specified in Section 2 above
and in the Letter Agreement would neither be paid nor provided, except for the
execution of this Release and the complete fulfillment of the promises contained in
the Letter Agreement and in this Release. In the event Employee does not sign or
signs but revokes this Release or the separate bring-down release referenced as
Exhibit “B” to the Letter Agreement, the Company shall not be required to make any
other payment to Employee other than wages and vacation pay due as of the date
of Employee’s departure from the Company.

General Release of Claims. In consideration of the consideration set forth in
Section 2 above and in the Letter Agreement, the Employee hereby agrees as
follows:
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a. Release of Claims. The Employee, for himself and his heirs, beneficiaries,
devisees, privies, executors, administrators, attorneys, representatives, and
agents, and his and their assigns, successors-in-interest and predecessors-in-
interest, hereby irrevocably and unconditionally releases, acquits and forever
discharges the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliated companies (including but
not limited to American Home Shield Corporation) and the Releasees (as
defined below) from any and all charges, complaints, claims, liabilities,
obligations, promises, agreements, controversies, damages, actions, causes of
action, suits, rights, demands, remedies, costs, losses, debts, expenses and
attorneys’ fees, known or unknown, by reason of any matter, action or omission
occurring up to the date on which the Employee executes this Release,
including those arising out of or in connection with the Employee’s employment
with the Company and/or the termination thereof. (All such charges,

2

complaints, etc. are collectively referred to herein as “Claims.”) The Claims
irrevocably and unconditionally released, acquitted and forever discharged
include, for example and without limitation, any claims alleging breach of express
or implied contract, wrongful discharge, constructive discharge, breach of an
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, negligent or intentional infliction of
emotional distress, negligent supervision or retention, violation of the Civil Rights
Act of 1866, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act of 1967, as amended by the Older Workers’ Benefit Protection
Act of 1990 (“ADEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act, the WARN Act, the
Family and Medical Leave Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, the Tennessee Human Rights Act (THRA) — Tenn. Code Ann. § 4-21-101et
seq., the Tennessee Disability Act (TDA) — Tenn. Code Ann. § 8-50-103 to 8-50-
104, the Tennessee Public Protection Act (TPPA) — Tenn. Code Ann. § 50-1-304,
those provisions of the Tennessee Code Annotated that lawfully may be
released, and any other claims pursuant to any other federal, state or local law
regarding discrimination, harassment or retaliation based on age, race, color,
sex, religion, national origin, ancestry, marital status, familial status, disability,
medical condition, pregnancy status, childbirth or medical condition related to
pregnancy or childbirth, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression,
protected veteran or military status, genetic information or any other unlawful
basis or protected status or activity, and claims for alleged violation of any other
local, state or federal law, regulation, ordinance, public policy or common-law
duty having any bearing whatsoever upon the terms and conditions of, and/or the
cessation of, the Employee’s employment with and by the Company.
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b. The Claims irrevocably and unconditionally released, acquitted and forever
discharged by the Employee extend to all such Claims by the Employee against
any and all of the current and former owners, stockholders, predecessors,
successors, assigns, agents, directors, officers, employees, representatives,
attorneys, divisions, parents, subsidiaries, affiliates (and the directors, officers,
employees, representatives and attorneys of such divisions, parents,
subsidiaries and affiliates) of the Company and all other persons acting by,
through, under or in concert with any of them. All such persons and entities, as
well as the Company, are collectively referred to herein as the “Releasees.” The
Claims irrevocably and unconditionally released, acquitted and forever
discharged herein by the Employee also extend to all Claims that the Employee
now has, owns or holds, or contends to have, own or hold or that the Employee
at any time heretofore had, owned or held or contended to hold against any of
the Releasees. The Employee represents that the Employee has not heretofore
assigned or transferred or purported to have assigned or transferred to any
person or entity any Claims released, acquitted and forever discharged herein.

The Employee agrees not only to release and discharge the Releasees from
any and all claims against the Releasees that the Employee could make on his
own behalf, but also those which may have been or may be made by any other
person or organization on his behalf. The Employee specifically waives any
right to become, and promises not to become, a member of any class in a case
in which any claim or claims are asserted against the Releasees involving any
event which has occurred as of the date of this Release. If the Employee is
asserted to be a member of a class in a case against the Releasees involving
any events occurring as of the date of this Release, he shall immediately
withdraw with prejudice in writing from said class, if permitted by law to do so.

3

d. The Employee hereby affirms that there are no outstanding administrative or
judicial charges, complaints, claims, proceedings or actions against the
Releasees to which the Employee is a party or which involve or relate to the
Employee. In the event that there is outstanding any such proceeding, action,
charge, complaint or claim filed against the Releasees by or on behalf of the
Employee, the Employee agrees to cause the immediate withdrawal and
dismissal with prejudice of each such charge, complaint, claim, action or
proceeding to the extent permitted by law.

This release (i) shall not affect any Claims that the Employee may have that

€. arise after the date the Employee signs this Release, (ii) shall not apply to any
of the Employee’s rights to vested benefits, if any, under the Company’s
employee benefits plans, and (iii) shall not serve as a release of any claims that
cannot be released as a matter of law.
REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 130/156

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

5. Older Workers’ Benefit Protection Act Waiver.

The Employee specifically intends that the disputes the Employee is releasing
herein include any claims the Employee may have under the Age Discrimination
in Employment Act of 1967, as amended by the Older Workers’ Benefit
Protection Act of 1990. THE EMPLOYEE, FREELY AND KNOWINGLY, AND
AFTER DUE CONSIDERATION, ENTERS INTO THIS RELEASE INTENDING
TO WAIVE, SETTLE AND RELEASE ALL CLAIMS THE EMPLOYEE HAS OR
MIGHT HAVE AGAINST EACH AND EVERY RELEASEE AS OF THE DATE
OF THE EMPLOYEE'S EXECUTION OF THIS RELEASE.

The Employee acknowledges that the Employee does not waive rights or claims
that may arise after the date of the Employee’s signing of this Agreement.

The Employee acknowledges that, by waiving any rights or claims the
Employee may have under the ADEA, the Employee is waiving rights or claims
only in exchange for consideration in addition to anything of value to which the
Employee already is entitled.

The Employee is advised to consult with an attorney before signing this Release
because the Employee is permanently giving up legal rights. The Employee
acknowledges that Employee has been so advised to consult fully with an
attorney prior to signing this Release.

The Employee acknowledges that the Employee was given twenty-one (21)
calendar days to consider this Release prior to signing this Release. The
Employee may take all or as much of that 21-day period as the Employee
wishes to consider this Release and, if the Employee signs this Release before
the expiration of the 21-day period, the Employee knowingly and voluntarily
waives the remainder of the period.

The Employee will have seven (7) days after the date the Employee signs this
Release within which to revoke it, and the Release will not become effective or
enforceable as to any Party until the day after the time to revoke has

expired. Such revocation must be in writing and delivered by email, courier, or
mail so that it is received by Jeffrey Fiarman, Senior Vice President and General
Counsel (ffiarman@frontdoorhome.com), 3400 Players Club, Suite 300,
Memphis, TN 38125 on or before the expiration of the seven-day revocation
period.

0. Nothing in this Release prevents or precludes the Employee from challenging or
seeking a determination in good faith of the validity of the release of claims
under the ADEA, nor does it impose any condition precedent, penalties or costs
for doing so.
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Employee will return to the Company on or before the Departure Date any and all
equipment and documents (whether in hard copy or electronic form) belonging to
the Company, including, without limitation, equipment, books, notebooks,
documents, reports, files, memoranda, data, records, laptops, computer equipment,
computer software, “thumb drives” and other data storage devices,
correspondence, work papers, financial data, business plans, business records,
mailing lists, customer or contact lists, calendars, employee manuals, cellular
phones, keys and access cards, credit or fuel cards, and any documents containing
information concerning the Company, its business, or its business relationships,
except that the Employee may retain documents pertaining exclusively to the
Employee’s employment, such as payroll stubs and personal benefits
information. The Employee also represents and warrants that the Employee will
delete on or before the Departure Date any duplicates of files or documents that
may contain Company information from any personal computer or other personal
device, except as expressly provided under this Section 6. Return of the
Company’s property by the Employee under this Section 6 is a condition precedent
to the payment of the consideration set forth in Section 2 above and in the Letter
Agreement.

7. Confidentiality; Prior Agreements; Protected Disclosures.

The Employee agrees not to use, disclose to others, or permit anyone access to
any of the Company’s trade secrets or confidential or proprietary information
without the Company’s express written consent except as required or protected
by law. The Employee also agrees to comply fully with any non-compete, non-
solicit, confidentiality, intellectual property or other post-employment obligations
to the Company set forth in any prior agreement, which shall remain in full force
and effect in accordance with their terms.

b. Nothing in this Release, the Letter Agreement or any other agreement prohibits
or impedes the Employee from communicating or cooperating with, or reporting
possible violations of any law or regulation to, any governmental agency or
entity, or making other disclosures that are protected under the whistleblower
provisions of any law or regulation, provided that in each case such
communications and disclosures are consistent with applicable law (such
communications and disclosures referred to herein as “Protected
Disclosures”). The Employee does not need to give prior notice to (or obtain
the prior authorization of) the Company to make any such Protected
Disclosures and is not required to notify the Company that the Employee has
made such Protected Disclosures.
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10.

Pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 (“DTSA"), 18 U.S.C. §
1833(b), the Employee is hereby notified that an individual shall not be held
criminally liable or civilly liable under any Federal or State trade secret law for
the disclosure of a trade secret that is made under circumstances described
therein, including: (1) in confidence to a government official or an attorney for
the sole purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (2)
in a complaint or other document filed in a legal proceeding, so long as such
document is filed under seal; or (3) in a court or arbitration filing under seal.

5

No Admission of Liability. Neither this Release, the Letter Agreement nor
anything contained herein or therein, shall be construed as an admission by the
Releasees of any liability or unlawful conduct whatsoever. The Parties hereto
agree and understand that the consideration set forth in Section 2 and the Letter
Agreement is provided in consideration of the Employee's execution of this
Release.

Non-Interference with Protected Rights. This Release is not intended to
interfere with the Employee’s exercise of any protected, non-waivable right,
including the Employee’s right to make Protected Disclosures or to file a charge
with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or other government
agency. By entering into this Release, however, the Employee acknowledges that
the consideration set forth herein is in full satisfaction and is inclusive of any and all
amounts, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, to which the Employee might
be entitled or that may be claimed by the Employee or on the Employee’s behalf
from the Company, and the Employee is forever discharging the Releasees from
any liability to the Employee for any acts or omissions occurring on or before the
date of the Employee’s signing of this Release to the maximum extent permitted by
law. For the avoidance of doubt, the Employee does not waive the right to recover
any whistleblower reward.

Confidential Agreement. The Employee agrees and promises not to disclose,
either directly or indirectly, in any manner whatsoever, any information regarding the
existence or terms of this Release (including the Letter Agreement), to any person
or entity, including, but not limited to, members of the press or media, present and
former officers, employees and agents of the Company and other members of the
public except to members of the Employee’s immediate family, and the Employee’s
attorney and accountant and/or financial advisor, provided that such persons agree
to keep this information confidential, and except to government authorities and as
may be required by law.
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11.

12.

13.

References; Non-Disparagement. The Employee and the Company agree that,
in response to any employment and reference inquiries by a third party regarding
the Employee’s employment with the Company, the Company will only provide a
neutral reference; that is, the Company’s response to such third party will only
reflect (i) that the Employee was employed by the Company from March 25, 2013
until the Departure Date, (ii) that it is the Company’s policy not to discuss or
disclose information regarding current or former employees’ performance to third
parties and that no inference should be made from this policy, and (iii) with the
Employee’s express written permission, what his salary was during his employment
with the Company. The Employee agrees to direct all requests for references to the
Company’s Human Resources Department. The Employee agrees to refrain from
making or publishing statements that disparage, are inimical to, damage the
reputation of, or may reasonably be construed as negative or in any manner
disparaging of the Company or any of the other Releasees. Nothing herein shall be
construed to prevent either Party from providing truthful information to
governmental authorities or in response to legal process or discovery or from
making Protected Disclosures.

AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE CLAIMS. The Employee acknowledges and
agrees that the Employee remains bound by the We Listen Dispute Resolution
Program, a copy of which is attached hereto.

Cooperation. The Employee agrees to provide information to the Company as

reasonably requested to help transition the Employee’s job duties. The Employee
agrees to cooperate with

the Company regarding any pending or subsequently filed litigation, claims,

investigations, disputes, or other legal proceedings involving the Releasees that relate
to matters within the knowledge or responsibility of the Employee. Without limiting the
foregoing, the Employee agrees (i) to meet with the Company’s representatives, its
counsel or other designees at mutually convenient times and places with respect to any
items within the scope of this provision; (ii) to provide truthful testimony regarding same
to any court, agency, or other adjudicatory body; and (iii) to provide the Company’s
General Counsel with immediate notice of contact by any adverse party or such adverse

party’s representative, except as may be prohibited by law and except for Protected
Disclosures. The Employee further agrees to cooperate with the Releasees on any
other matter related to the Company’s business during the period of the Employee’s
employment with the Company. The Company will reimburse the Employee for
reasonable expenses in connection with the cooperation described in this Section 13.
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14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

No Representations. No representation, promise, or other agreement not
expressly contained herein has been made to induce the execution of this Release,
and the terms thereof are contractual and not merely recitals.

Counterparts. This Release may be executed in any number of counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which together will
constitute one and the same instrument. This Release may be executed and
delivered by email of PDF or other electronic attachments and any PDF or
electronic signatures shall be deemed to be original signatures for all purposes.

Entire Agreement. Except as expressly noted herein, this Release together with
the Letter Agreement constitute and contain the entire agreement and
understanding concerning the Employee’s employment, separation from
employment, and the other subject matters addressed herein between the Parties,
and supersedes and replaces all prior negotiations and all prior agreements
proposed or otherwise, whether written or oral, concerning the subject matter
hereof.

Choice of Law and Venue. This Release (including the Letter Agreement) is to be
construed pursuant to the substantive laws of the State of Tennessee, without
regard to principles of conflicts of laws. In the event a dispute, claim or controversy
arising out of or related to this Release (including the Letter Agreement) is not
subject to arbitration as set forth in Section 12 above, then any such dispute must
be brought in state or federal court in Memphis, Tennessee, and the Parties hereby
consent to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of such forum.

Waiver. The waiver of any provision of this Release shall not operate or be
construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Release or any other
agreements or legal rights. No waiver shall be valid unless in writing and executed
by the Party to be charged therewith. The waiver by any Party of a breach of any
provision herein shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent
breach by any Party.

Benefits of Agreement; Assignment. This Release and all rights hereunder shall
be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their
personal representatives, successors and permitted assigns.

Legal Fees. Except as otherwise provided hereinabove, each party will be
responsible for its own legal fees or costs, if any, incurred in connection with the
negotiation of this Release and any act with respect thereto.

7
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21. Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisions of this Release shall
for any reason be held to be illegal or unenforceable, such illegality or
unenforceability shall not have any impact on any other provision of this Release,
and the Parties agree that the arbitrator or court shall modify and/or reform the
illegal or unenforceable provision(s) to the extent necessary to make such
provision(s) legal and enforceable consistent with carrying out the Parties’ intent
when entering into this Release to the fullest extent possible.

22. Section Headings. Section headings are used herein for convenience of
reference only and shall not affect the meaning of any provision of this Release.

The Parties acknowledge that they have read the foregoing Release, understand its
contents, and accept and agree to the provisions it contains and hereby execute it
voluntarily and knowingly and with full understanding of its consequences.PLEASE
READ CAREFULLY. THIS RELEASE INCLUDES A RELEASE OF KNOWN AND
UNKNOWN CLAIMS INCLUDING CLAIMS UNDER THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN
EMPLOYMENT ACT AND AN ARBITRATION AGREEMENT.EMPLOYEE

Sign: /s/ Brian Turcotte

Name:  Brian Turcotte

Date: 12/1/2022
FRONTDOOR, INC.

Sign: /s/ William C. Cobb

Name:  William Cobb

Title: Chairman and Chief Executive

Officer
Date: 12/1/2022

ATTACHMENT
We Listen Dispute Resolution Program

9
EXHIBIT “B”Form of General Release (“Bring-Down Release”

BRING-DOWN RELEASE

Reference is made to that certain letter agreement (the “Letter Agreement”) dated
as of December 1, 2022, to which this GENERAL RELEASE (the “Bring-Down Release”)
is attached

as Exhibit “B,” and the General Release that | executed in accordance with the terms of
the
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Letter Agreement and simultaneously with my execution of the Letter Agreement (the
“Initial Release”). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning
set forth in the Initial Release.

In exchange for the compensation and benefits described in the Letter Agreement, |
hereby agree to and reaffirm, as of the date hereof, the general release of claims as
provided Sections 4 and 5 of the Release (the provisions of which are incorporated by
reference and made a part hereof) in favor of the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliated
companies (including but not limited to American Home Shield Corporation) and the
Releasees, and acknowledge that such general release will apply to any and all charges,
complaints, claims, liabilities, obligations, promises, agreements, controversies,
damages, actions, causes of action, suits, rights, demands, remedies, costs, losses,
debts, expenses and attorneys’ fees, known or unknown, by reason of any matter, action
or omission occurring up to the date on which | have executed this Bring-Down

Release. | further acknowledge | have not executed this Bring-Down Release prior to the
effectiveness of my termination of employment on the Departure Date (as defined in the
Letter Agreement), and the Bring-Down Release is intended to cover, and in fact covers,
my termination of employment and all facts and circumstances relating to or arising from
such termination.

| have read this Bring-Down Release carefully, acknowledge that | have been given at
least 21 days to consider all of its terms, and have been advised to consult with an
attorney and any other advisors of my choice prior to executing this Bring-Down
Release. | understand that by signing below | am voluntarily giving up any right which |
may have to sue or bring any other claims against the Company and the Releasees. |
also understand that | have a period of seven (7) days after signing this Bring-Down
Release within which to revoke this Bring-Down Release and that this Bring-Down
Release will not become effective or enforceable until the eighth day after the date on
which | signed this Bring-Down Release .

This Bring-Down Release is to be construed pursuant to the substantive laws of the
State of Tennessee, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws. In the event a
dispute, claim or controversy arising out of or related to this Release (including the Letter
Agreement and Initial Release) is not subject to arbitration as set forth in Section 12 of
the Initial Release, then any such dispute must be brought in state or federal court in
Memphis, Tennessee, and | hereby consent to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of
such forum.READ, ACCEPTED AND AGREED BY:

Brian TurcotteDate

Exhibit 10.28
FRONTDOOR, INC.EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE POLICY
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1. Overview and Purpose. The Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors (the “Committee”) of Frontdoor, Inc. (the “Company”) has determined that (i) each
executive level employee of the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates with a title of Senior
Vice President or higher and (ii) any other individual or role identified by the Committee
(individuals specified in clause (i) or (i), each a “Covered Person” and collectively the
“Covered Persons”) should be eligible to receive severance benefits in connection with

certain employment termination events. Accordingly, the Committee has adopted this
Executive Severance Policy (the “Policy”), effective as of the date set forth below.

2. Scope and Duration. Each Covered Person is subject to this Policy upon
becoming a Covered Person and shall remain subject to this Policy for so long as he or she
continues to be a Covered Person (and following any Qualifying Termination or Change in
Control Qualifying Termination, until the severance benefits have been fully provided).

3. Certain Defined Terms. For purposes of this Policy, the following terms
have the following meanings:

@ “Base Salary” means, as to any Covered Person, such Covered Person’s
then current annual base salary immediately prior to his or her Qualifying Termination or
Change in Control Qualifying Termination, as applicable (or, if higher, the annual base salary
immediately prior to an event that constitutes Good Reason hereunder), and determined
without regard to any salary deferrals under any deferred compensation or cafeteria plans or
programs of the Company in which the Covered Person participates.

(b) “Cause” has the meaning set forth in the Omnibus Plan.
(c) “Change in Control” has the meaning set forth in the Omnibus Plan.
(d) “Change in Control Qualifying_Termination” means a Qualifying Termination

occurring in connection with or within the 2-year period following a Change in Control.

(e) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
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® “Good Reason” means, without a Covered Person’s consent, (i) a reduction in
any material respects in the Covered Person’s position(s), authorities or responsibilities, (ii) a
material reduction in Base Salary or Target Annual Bonus opportunity or annual target long-
term incentive opportunity (other than pursuant to an across-the-board reduction applicable
to all similarly situated Covered Persons), (iii) a material change in the Covered Person’s
location of work resulting in a new location that is more than 50 miles from the Covered
Person’s principal place of employment, or (iv) the material breach of an existing agreement
between the Company (or its subsidiaries or affiliates) and the Covered Person; provided,
thatany of the events described in clauses (i) — (iv) above shall constitute Good Reason only
if the Company fails to cure such event within 30 days after receipt from the Covered Person
of written notice of the event that constitutes Good Reason (the “Cure Period”); and
provided, further, that the Covered Person shall cease to have a right to terminate due to
any Good Reason event on the 90" day following the occurrence of the event, unless the
Covered Person has given the Company written notice thereof prior to such date, and if the
Company does not timely remedy such event, the Covered Person must terminate his or her
employment 90 days following the end of the Cure Period.

(9) “Qualifying__Termination” means a Covered Person’'s termination of

employment by the Company without Cause or by the Covered Person for Good
Reason. However, no termination will be considered a Qualifying Termination if such
termination results from a Covered Person'’s (i) transfer of employment to a subsidiary of the
Company, (ii) failure to return to work following expiration of a leave of absence unless, at
such time, there is not an available position for which such Covered Person is qualified, or
(i) termination without Cause or resignation for Good Reason, in either case, that was
triggered solely due to a failure to accept a comparable position with a buyer or its affiliates
in connection with any Change in Control.

(h) “Omnibus Plan” means the Company’s 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as
amended from time to time (or any successor plan thereto adopted by the Company for the
purpose of providing equity and other incentive compensation to the employees and other
service providers of the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates).

0] “Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability
company, business trust, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated association, joint

venture, governmental authority or any other entity of whatever nature.

0) “Target Annual Bonus” means, as to any Covered Person, such Covered

Person’s target annual bonus under the annual cash incentive bonus program in which such
Covered Person participates as of the date of such Covered Person’s Qualifying
Termination.
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4.

@)

Severance Benefits.

Each Covered Person shall be eligible to receive the following severance

benefits in connection with a Qualifying Termination, or a Change in Control Qualifying

Termination, as applicable, subject to satisfaction of the requirements of this Section 4:

Qualifying Termination

Change in Control Qualifying

Termination

Cash
Severance

Amount

The sum of the payments described in
clauses (i) and (ii) below, payable in
substantially equal installments over the
12-month period following the Covered
Person’s Qualifying Termination, in
accordance with regular payroll practices
(unless the Company elects in its sole
discretion to pay such sum in a lump sum
within 30 days following the Covered
Person’s Qualifying Termination):

(i) An amount equal to the sum of the
Covered Person’s Base Salary and Target
Annual Bonus; and

(i) An amount equal to the Covered
Person’s annual bonus earned with respect
to the calendar year immediately prior to
which  the Qualifying
Termination occurs, to the extent not

the year in

previously paid; plus, if the date of the
Covered Person’s Qualifying Termination
occurs on or after June 30 of the current
calendar year, an amount equal to a pro
rata portion of the Covered Person’s Target
Annual Bonus, based on the number of

days employed during the calendar year.

The sum of the payments described in
clauses (i) and (ii) below, which will be
payable in a lump sum within 30 days
following the date of the Covered
Person’s Change in Control Qualifying
Termination:

(i) An amount equal to two (2) times the
sum of the Covered Person’s Base
Salary and Target Annual Bonus; and
(i) An amount equal to the Covered
Person’s annual bonus earned with

respect to the calendar year

immediately prior to the year in which
Qualifying

Termination occurs, to the extent not

the Change in Control
previously paid; plus, if the date of the
Covered Person’s Change in Control
Qualifying Termination occurs on or
after June 30 of the current calendar
year, an amount equal to a pro rata
portion of the Covered Person’s Target
Annual Bonus, based on the number of
days employed during the calendar

year.

2
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employer.

Continuation Provided the Covered Person makes the | Provided the Covered Person makes
of Health Care | necessary elections, reimbursement for | the necessary elections, reimbursement
Coverage monthly premiums payable for elected | for monthly premiums payable for
continued health coverage under the | elected continued health coverage
Company-sponsored health plans | under the Company-sponsored health
pursuant to the Consolidated Omnibus | plans pursuant to COBRA for eighteen
Budget Reconciliation Act ("COBRA™) for | (18) months following the date of the
twelve (12) months following the date of | Covered Person’s Change in Control
the  Covered Person’s  Qualifying | Qualifying Termination; provided
Termination; provided, however, the | however, the reimbursement of such
reimbursement of such premiums shall | monthly premiums shall cease upon the
cease upon the date the Covered Person | date the Covered Person obtains health

obtains health care coverage from another | care coverage from another employer.

Outplacement | Outplacement services as provided by a | Outplacement services as provided by
Benefits third party selected by the Company in | a third party selected by the Company
accordance with the Company’s | in accordance with the Company’s
outplacement program, provided, such | outplacement program, provided, such
outplacement services are initiated within | outplacement services are initiated
sixty (60) days of the date of the Covered | within sixty (60) days of the date of the

Person’s Qualifying Termination. Covered Person’s Change in Control

Qualifying Termination.

(b) Payment of any severance benefits described in Section 4(a) above will be
conditioned on the execution (and non-revocation) of a separation agreement in a form
provided by the Company (“Separation Agreement”) at the time of any Qualifying
Termination or Change in Control Qualifying Termination, as applicable. The Separation

Agreement will contain a customary general release of claims in favor of the Company, its
current and former subsidiaries and affiliates and its current and former employees, officers,
directors and agents and, to the extent the Covered Person is not otherwise subject to the
Company’s standard restrictive covenant agreement (as amended by the Company from
time to time), restrictive covenants that are substantially the same as contained in such
standard restrictive covenant agreement (with time periods being the same as other
executives having the same title). No payments under Section 4(a) shall be made prior to the
time such condition is satisfied and, if such condition is not satisfied within the period
specified in the Separation Agreement, the Covered Person shall have no right to receive
and, the Company shall have no obligation to make, any payments under Section 4(a) or the
Policy. To the extent that any of the payments hereunder constitute “nonqualified deferred
compensation” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code, if the date upon which the
separation agreement is delivered and the last date upon which it may be executed pursuant
to its terms spans more than one calendar year, in no event will the payment of any such
deferred compensation commence prior to January 1 of the second taxable year.
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(c) Any outstanding awards granted to a Covered Person under the Omnibus
Plan shall vest in accordance with the terms of the Omnibus Plan and applicable award
agreement governing the terms and conditions of such award.

(d) If, at the time of any Qualifying Termination or Change in Control Qualifying
Termination, as applicable, a Covered Person is subject to any existing agreement with the
Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates providing for severance benefits in connection with
any Qualifying Termination or Change in Control Qualifying Termination, such Covered
Person shall be entitled to the better of amounts payable under this Policy or amounts
otherwise payable under such Covered Person’s existing agreement.

5. Taxes.

(a) Severance and other payments and benefits under this Policy will be subject
to all required federal, state and local taxes and may be affected by any legally required
withholdings. Payments under this Policy will not be treated as “compensation” for purposes
of the retirement plans, savings plans, and incentive plans of the Company or its
subsidiaries.

(b) If any benefit provided under this Policy is subject to the provisions of Section
409A of the Code, the provisions of this Policy will be administered, interpreted and
construed in a manner necessary to comply with Section 409A of the Code or an exception
thereto.

(c) If at the time of a Covered Person incurs a “separation from service” (within
the meaning of Treas. Reg. 1.409A-1(h)) such Covered Person is a “specified employee” as
defined in Section 409A of the Code, commencement of any payments or benefits otherwise
payable hereunder as a result of such separation from service will be delayed to the extent
necessary in order to prevent the imposition of any accelerated or additional tax under
Section 409A of the Code (“Delayed Payments”) and Delayed Payments shall be paid or
provided to the Covered Person in a cash lump-sum on the first business day of the seventh

calendar month following the month in which the Covered Person incurred such separation
from service.
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(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Policy, any payment or benefit
under Section 4 or otherwise that is exempt from Section 409A pursuant to Treas. Reg.
1.409A-1 (b)(9)(V)(A) or (C) shall be paid or provided to the Covered Person only to the
extent that the expenses are not incurred, or the benefits are not provided, beyond the last
day of the second taxable year of the Covered Person following the taxable year of the
Covered Person in which the separation from service occurs; and provided further that such
expenses are reimbursed no later than the last day of the third taxable year following the
taxable year of the Covered Person in which the separation from service occurs. Except as
otherwise expressly provided herein, to the extent any expense reimbursement or the
provision of any in-kind benefit under this Agreement is determined to be subject to Section
409A of the Code, the amount of any such expenses eligible for reimbursement, or the
provision of any in-kind benefit, in one calendar year shall not affect the expenses eligible for
reimbursement in any other taxable year (except for any life-time or other aggregate
limitation applicable to medical expenses), in no event shall any expenses be reimbursed
after the last day of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the Covered
Person incurred such expenses, and in no event shall any right to reimbursement or the
provision of any in-kind benefit be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

(e) For the purposes of this Policy, each payment made pursuant to Section 4
shall be deemed to be separate payments, amounts payable under Section 4 of this
Agreement shall be deemed not to be a “deferral of compensation” subject to Section 409A
of the Code to the extent provided in the exceptions in Treas. Reg. Sections 1.409A-1(b)(4)
(“short-term deferrals”) and (b)(9) (“separation pay plans,” including the exception under
subparagraph (iii)) and other applicable provisions of Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-1 through
A-6.

® Notwithstanding any provision of this Policy to the contrary, in no event shall
the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates (or any of their respective employees, officers or
directors) have any liability to any Covered Person (or any other Person) due to the failure of
this Policy to satisfy the requirements of Section 409A of the Code or any other applicable
law.

6. At-Will Employment. Nothing in this Policy shall confer upon the Participant
any right to continue as an employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates or
shall interfere with or restrict in any way the rights of the Company and any of its subsidiaries
or affiliates, which are hereby expressly reserved, to discharge any employee at any time for
any reason whatsoever, with or without Cause.
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7. Administration. This Policy shall be administered by the Committee. The
Committee has all power and authority necessary or convenient to administer this Policy,
including, but not limited to, the exclusive authority and discretion to: (a) construe and
interpret the Policy; (b) decide all questions of eligibility for and the amount of benefits under
the Policy; (c) prescribe procedures to be followed and the forms to be used by Covered
Persons pursuant to the Policy; and (d) request and receive from all Covered

4

Persons such information as the Committee determines is necessary for the proper
administration of the Policy. The Committee may delegate all or any part of its responsibilities
and powers to any independent member of the Committee selected by it.

8. Amendment or Termination. The Company, by formal action of the
Committee may, in its sole discretion, amend, modify, suspend, withdraw or terminate this
Policy in whole or in part at any time; provided, further, that any amendment or termination of
the Policy that occurs (i) within two years from the date of a Change in Control shall not take
effect for at least 2 years after such date, and (ii) on or after the date a Covered Person
incurs a Qualifying Termination or a Change in Control Qualifying Termination, as applicable,
shall not diminish in any way the value or amount of such Covered Person’s benefits under
Section 4 without the express written consent of the Covered Person.

9. Governing Law. To the extent not preempted by federal law, this Policy shall
be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Delaware
regardless of the application of rules of conflict of laws that would apply the laws of any other
jurisdiction.

10. Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted to be
given under this Policy shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given if
delivered personally, sent by email or any other form of electronic transfer approved by the
Committee, or sent by certified or express mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid or
by any recognized international equivalent of such delivery, (i) in the case of notices and
communications to the Company, to 3400 Players Club Pkwy, Ste. 300, Memphis,
Tennessee 38125 to the attention of the Corporate Secretary of the Company or (ii) in the
case of a Covered Person, to the last known address, or email address or, where the
individual is employed by the Company or its subsidiaries, to the individual's workplace
address or email address or by other means of electronic transfer approved by the
Committee. All such notices and communications shall be deemed to have been received
on the date of delivery, if sent by email or any other form of electronic transfer, at the time of
delivery, if delivered personally, or on the third business day after the mailing thereof, if sent
by mail.
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11. Successors. This Policy shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the
Company and its successors, including any buyer in connection with any Change in Control
resulting from prong (v) of the definition thereof.

Adopted December 6, 2022, effective January 1, 2023.
5
Exhibit 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF FRONTDOOR, INC. As of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023, Frontdoor, Inc. had the following subsidiaries:

Entity Name Entity Type Domestic Jurisdiction Country
American Home Shield Corporation Corporation Delaware United States
American Home Shield of Arizona, Inc. Corporation Arizona United States
American Home Shield of California, Inc. Corporation California United States
American Home Shield of Florida, Inc. Corporation Florida United States
American Home Shield of lowa, Inc. Corporation lowa United States
American Home Shield of Maine, Inc. Corporation Maine United States
American Home Shield of Oklahoma, Inc. Corporation Oklahoma United States
American Home Shield of Texas, Inc. Corporation Texas United States
American Home Shield of Virginia, Inc. Corporation Virginia United States
American Home Shield of Washington, Inc. Corporation Washington United States
Frontdoor Cayman Holdings Ltd. Exempt Company - Cayman Islands
Frontdoor Global Holding Company I, Inc. Corporation Delaware United States
Frontdoor India Private Limited Private Limited Company - India
Frontdoor Marketplace, Home Services, Inc. Corporation Delaware United States
Frontdoor Premium, Inc. Corporation Delaware United States
Frontdoor Pro, Inc. Corporation Delaware United States
Home Security Association, Inc. Corporation Wisconsin United States
Home Security Association of Florida, Inc. Corporation Florida United States
Home Security Association of Virginia, Inc. Corporation Virginia United States
Home Security of America, Inc. Corporation Wisconsin United States
Landmark Home Warranty, LLC Limited Liability Company Utah United States
OneGuard Arizona, LLC Limited Liability Company Arizona United States
OneGuard Nevada, LLC Limited Liability Company Nevada United States
One Guard Texas, LLC Limited Liability Company Texas United States
ProConnect Frontdoor Pro Home Solutions, Inc. Corporation Delaware United States
ProConnect Frontdoor Pro Home Solutions Corporation Delaware United States

Services, Inc.

Steward of Texas, LLC Limited Liability Company Texas United States
Streem, LLC Limited Liability Company Delaware United States
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Streem Europe Ltd Private Limited Company - United Kingdom

US Hazard Disclosure, Inc. Corporation Delaware United States

Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRMWe consent to the
incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-227602 and 333-231377 on Form S-8 of our
reports dated March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024, relating to the financial statements of Frontdoor, Inc. and the
effectiveness of Frontdoor, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K of Frontdoor, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023./s/ Deloitte &
Touche LLPMemphis, TennesseeMarch 1, 2023February 28, 2024

Exhibit 31.1CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATIONI, William C. Cobb, certify that: 1. Ilhave
reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Frontdoor, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 December
31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof; 2. Based onmy
knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial
statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this

report; 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those

entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of

the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
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d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): a) All significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a

significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024

/s/ William C. Cobb
Name: William C. Cobb
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATIONI, Jessica P. Ross, certify that: 1. 1have reviewed
this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Frontdoor, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof; 2. Based on my knowledge, this
report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial
information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant’s other
certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those

entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
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b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of

the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): a) All significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a

significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024

/sl Jessica P. Ross

Name: Jessica P. Ross

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1Certification of the Chief Executive OfficerPursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,As Adopted Pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002I, William C. Cobb, Chief Executive Officer of Frontdoor, Inc.,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

that:
Q) the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31,
2023, (the “Annual Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
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) information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of Frontdoor, Inc.
Date: March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024

/s/ William C. Cobb
Name: William C. Cobb
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2Certification of the Chief Financial OfficerPursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,As Adopted Pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002I, Jessica P. Ross, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Frontdoor, Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31,
2023, (the “Annual Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2) information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the

financial condition and results of operations of Frontdoor, Inc.
Date: March 1, 2023 February 28, 2024

/sl Jessica P. Ross

Name: Jessica P. Ross

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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EXECUTIVE CLAWBACK POLICY
l. POLICY STATEMENT

The Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the
“Board”) of Frontdoor, Inc. (including its subsidiaries, the “Company”) has adopted this
Executive Compensation Clawback Policy (the “Policy”), which requires the
recoupment of certain incentive-based compensation in accordance with the terms
herein and is intended to comply with the Listing Rules (as defined below).

il DEFINED TERMS
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Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to
such terms in this Section Il.

A. “Covered Executives” shall have the meaning set forth in Section Il of
this Policy.
B. “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” shall mean the amount of

Incentive Compensation actually Received that exceeds the amount of Incentive
Compensation that otherwise would have been Received had it been determined
based on the restated amounts, and computed without regard to any taxes paid. For
Incentive Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the
amount of erroneously awarded Incentive Compensation is not subject to
mathematical recalculation directly from the information in a Restatement:

(i) The calculation of Erroneously Awarded Compensation shall be based
on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Restatement on the stock
price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive
Compensation was Received; and

(i) The Company shall maintain documentation of the determination of
that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to the

Exchange.
C. “Exchange” shall mean The Nasdaqg Stock Market.
D. “Executive” shall mean an Executive Officer of the Company and any

other person covered by the Company’s Executive Severance Policy, as in effect
from time to time.

E. “Executive Officer” shall mean the Company’s president, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there is no such accounting officer,
the controller), any vice-president of the Company in charge of a principal business
unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or finance), any other officer
who performs a policy-making function, or any other person who performs similar
policymaking functions for the Company. Executive officers of the Company’s
parent(s) or subsidiaries shall be deemed executive officers of the Company if they
perform such policy making functions for the Company.
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F “Financial Reporting_ Measures” shall mean measures that are
determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in
preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived
wholly or in part from such measures, including, without limitation, stock price and
total shareholder return (in each case, regardless of whether such measures are
presented within the Company’s financial statements or included in a filing with the
Securities and Exchange Commission).

G. “Eiscal Year” shall mean the Company'’s fiscal year; provided that a
Transition Period between the last day of the Company’s previous fiscal year end
and the first day of its new fiscal year that comprises a period of nine to 12 months
will be deemed a completed fiscal year.

H. “Incentive Compensation” shall mean any compensation (whether cash
or equity-based) that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part upon the
attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure, and may include, but shall not be
limited to, performance bonuses and long-term incentive awards such as stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units,
performance share units or other equity-based awards. For the avoidance of doubt,
Incentive Compensation does not include (a) awards that are granted, earned and
vested exclusively upon completion of a specified employment period, without any
performance condition, and (b) bonus awards that are discretionary or based on
subjective goals or goals unrelated to Financial Reporting Measures.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section Il (H), compensation
amounts shall not be considered “Incentive Compensation” for purposes of the
Policy unless such compensation is Received (1) while the Company has a class of
securities listed on a national securities exchange or a national securities association
and (2) on or after October 2, 2023.

l. “Independent Director” shall mean a director who is determined by the
Board to be “independent” for Board and Committee membership, as applicable,
under the rules of the Exchange, as of any determination date.

J. “Listing_Rules” shall mean Listing Rule 5608, as promulgated by The
Nasdag Stock Market LLC, as such rule may be amended from time to time.

K. “Received” shall mean, with respect to the receipt of Incentive
Compensation, the Company’s fiscal period during which the Financial Reporting
Measure specified in the Incentive Compensation award is attained, even if the
payment or grant of the Incentive Compensation occurs after the end of that period.
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L. “Restatement” shall mean an accounting restatement due to the
material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement
under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct
an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the Company’s
previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material
misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in
the current period.

M. “Transition Period” shall mean any transition period that results from a
change in the Company’s Fiscal Year within or immediately following the three
completed Fiscal Years immediately preceding the Company’s requirement to
prepare a Restatement.

Il COVERED EXECUTIVE

This Policy applies to each current and former Executive of the Company who
serves or served as an Executive at any time during a performance period in respect
of which Incentive Compensation is Received, to the extent that any portion of such
Incentive Compensation is (a) Received by the Executive during the last three
completed Fiscal Years or any applicable Transition Period preceding the date that the
Company is required to prepare a Restatement (regardless of whether any such
Restatement is actually filed), and (b) determined to have included Erroneously
Awarded Compensation. For purposes of determining the relevant recovery period
referenced in the preceding clause (a), the date that the Company is required to
prepare a Restatement under the Policy is the earlier to occur of (i) the date that the
Board, a committee of the Board, or the officer or officers of the Company authorized
to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should
have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare a Restatement or (ii) the
date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to
prepare a Restatement. Executives subject to this Policy pursuant to this Section llI
are referred to herein as “Covered Executives.”

Iv. RECOVERY OF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED COMPENSATION

If any Erroneously Awarded Compensation is Received by a Covered Executive, the
Company shall reasonably promptly take steps to recover such Erroneously Awarded
Compensation in a manner described under Section V hereof.

V. FORMS OF RECOVERY

The Committee shall determine, in its sole discretion and in a manner that effectuates
the purpose of the Listing Rules, one or more methods for recovering any Erroneously
Awarded Compensation hereunder in accordance with Section IV above, which may
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include, without limitation: (a) requiring cash reimbursement; (b) seeking recovery or
forfeiture of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale, transfer or
other disposition of any equity-based awards; (c) offsetting the amount to be recouped
from any compensation otherwise owed by the Company to the Covered Executive;
(d) cancelling outstanding vested or unvested equity awards; or (e) taking any other
remedial and recovery action permitted by law, as determined by the Committee. To
the extent the Covered Executive refuses to pay to the Company an amount equal to
the Erroneously Awarded Compensation, the Company shall have the right to sue for
repayment and/or enforce the Covered Executive’s obligation to make payment
through the reduction or cancellation of outstanding and future compensation. Any
reduction, cancellation or forfeiture of any compensation shall be done in compliance
with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the
regulations promulgated thereunder.

VI. NO INDEMNIFICATION

The Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executive against the loss of any
Erroneously Awarded Compensation for which the Committee has determined to seek
recoupment pursuant to this Policy.

3

VII. EXCEPTIONS TO THE RECOVERY REQUIREMENT

Notwithstanding anything in this Policy to the contrary, Erroneously Awarded
Compensation need not be recovered pursuant to this Policy if the Committee (or, if
the Committee is not composed solely of Independent Directors, a majority of the
Independent Directors serving on the Board) determines that recovery would be
impracticable as a result of any of the following:

(@) the direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the Policy
would exceed the amount to be recovered; provided that, before
concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of
Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on expense of
enforcement, the Company must make a reasonable attempt to
recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, document such
reasonable attempt(s) to recover, and provide that documentation to
the Exchange; or

(b) recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan,
under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the
Company, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or
26 U.S.C. 411(a) and the regulations thereunder.

VIII. NON-EXCLUSIVITY
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Nothing in the Policy shall be viewed as limiting the right of the Company or the
Committee to pursue additional remedies or recoupment under or as required by any
similar policy adopted by the Company or under the Company’s compensation plans,
award agreements, employment agreements or similar agreements or the applicable
provisions of any law, rule or regulation that may require or permit recoupment to a
greater degree or with respect to additional compensation as compared to this Policy
(but without duplication as to any recoupment already made with respect to
Erroneously Awarded Compensation pursuant to this Policy). This Policy shall be
interpreted in all respects to comply with the Listing Rules.

IX. SUCCESSORS

The Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their
beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives.

X. INTERPRETATION AND ADMINISTRATION

The Committee shall have full authority to interpret and enforce the Policy; provided,
however, that the Policy shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with its intent to
meet the requirements of the Listing Rules. As further set forth in Section VIII above,
this Policy is intended to supplement any other clawback policies and procedures that
the Company may have in place from time to time pursuant to other applicable law,
plans, policies or agreements. Any determination by the Committee with respect to
the Policy shall be final, conclusive and binding on all interested parties. The Policy
may be amended by the Committee from time to time, to the extent permitted under
the Listing Rules.Adopted as of October 23, 2023. Effective as of December 1, 2023
Pursuant to Nasdaq Rule 5608)

4

Acknowledgment of Executive Clawback Policy

Reference is made to the Frontdoor, Inc. Executive Clawback Policy (as
adopted on October 23, 2023 pursuant to Nasdag Rule 5608) (the
“Palicy”). Capitalized terms used herein without definition have the meanings
assigned to such terms under the Policy.
By signing below, the undersigned acknowledges, confirms and agrees that:

the undersigned has received and reviewed a copy of the Policy;

the undersigned is, and will continue to be, subject to the Policy to the
extent provided therein;

the Policy may apply both during and after termination of the
undersigned’s employment with the Company and its affiliates; and
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the undersigned agrees to abide by the terms of the Policy, including,
without limitation, by returning any Erroneously Awarded
Compensation to the Company pursuant to the Policy.

Signature
Print
Name
Date
5
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™
IS A COMPARISON OF TWO FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL
ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING THE TEXT AND THE
COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY
ASSUME ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED
UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO REVIEW THE
APPLICABLE COMPANY’S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER
DECISIONS.

©2024, Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Patents Pending.
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